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1. The Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of 

Persons Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian 

Law Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens responsible for genocide and 

other such violations committed in the territory of neighbouring States between 1 January and 

31 December 1994 (“the Appeals Chamber” and “ the Tribunal” respectively) is seized of appeals 

filed by Clément Kayishema (“Kayishema”), Obed Ruzindana (“Ruzindana”) and the Prosecution 

against the Judgement and Sentence rendered by Trial Chamber II of the International Tribunal 

(“Trial Chamber”) on 21 May 1999 in the case of The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and 

Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-T (“the Judgement” and “the Sentence” respectively).1 

2. During the Hearing on appeal held in Arusha on 1 June 2001, the Appeals Chamber 

specified that the reasons for the Judgement on appeal would be made available to the parties as 

soon as possible. Accordingly, the paragraphs that follow set out the reasons for the Judgement 

that was rendered orally by this Chamber on 1 June 2001. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the 

only authoritative version of the reasoning and findings of the Appeals Chamber is the one 

contained herein. 

3. The Appeals Chamber 

Sets forth herein the reasons for the Judgement. 

                                                 
1 Trial Judgement, The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-I-T, 
21 May 1999. The list of titles and abbreviations used in the Judgement are attached hereto as Annex B. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 
 

A. Trial proceedings 
 

4. The amended indictment of 11 April 1997,2 on the basis of which the trial against 

Kayishema and Ruzindana proceeded, charged both Accused with involvement in the massacres 

which took place in the préfecture of Kibuye, Republic of Rwanda. The trial commenced on 11 

April 1997 and concluded on 17 November 1998. 

5. Clément Kayishema was charged as préfet of Kibuye, under both Article 6 (1) and Article 

6 (3) of the Statute, with involvement as a superior in four sets of massacres which occurred at the 

following sites: the Catholic Church and Home St. Jean complex (17 April 1994); the Stadium 

(18 and 19 April 1994); the church in Mubuga (14 to 17 April 1994); and in the area of Bisesero 

(9 April to 30 June 1994). He was charged in total with 24 counts falling within the jurisdiction of 

the Tribunal as follows: 

- Genocide, pursuant to Article 2 (3) (a) of the Statute (counts 1, 7,13 and 19); 

- Crimes against humanity, pursuant to Articles 3 (a), 3 (b) and 3 (i) of the Statute 

(counts 2, 3, 4, 8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 20, 21 and 22); 

- Violations of Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions of 1949, pursuant to 

Article 4 (a) of the Statute (counts 5, 11, 17 and 23); and 

- Violations of Additional Protocol II, pursuant to Article 4 (a) of the Statute 

(counts 6, 12, 18 and 24). 

 

6. Ruzindana was charged with five counts (counts 19 to 24) of individual criminal 

responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute with respect to crimes committed during the 

massacres in the area of Bisesero between 9 April and 30 June 1994. He was charged with: 

                                                 
2 Ruzindana was initially charged in the first indictment filed by the Prosecutor on 22 November 1995 and confirmed 
by Judge Pillay on 28 November 1995.  Following a motion filed by the Prosecutor, on 6 May 1996, Judge Pillay 
ordered that the indictment be amended.  On 26 March 1997, the Prosecutor filed a motion for the submission of the 
amended indictment against Ruzindana, Kayishema and Gérard Ntakirutimana. By decision of 10 April 1997, 
(Decision on the motion filed by the Prosecutor for Confirmation of the Trial date and submission of Superseding 
indictment, The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-T), the Trial Chamber 
dismissed the Prosecutor’s motion but granted leave to the Prosecutor to redact the names of the six Accused not in 
custody from the first amended indictment and also to delete Count 1 (“conspiracy” to commit genocide) and to 
rearrange the remaining counts accordingly. 
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- Genocide, pursuant to Article 2 (3) (a) of the Statute (count 19); 

- Crimes against humanity, pursuant to Articles 3 (a), 3 (b) and 3 (i) of the Statute 

(counts 20, 21 and 22); 

- Violations of Article 3 Common to the Geneva Conventions of 1949, pursuant to 

Article 4 (a) of the Statute (count 23); and 

- Violations of Additional Protocol II, pursuant to Article 4 (a) of the Statute 

(count 24). 

 

7. Both accused were found not guilty of the charges brought under Articles 3 (a) and (b) of 

the Statute, for the Trial Chamber found that these charges were fully subsumed by the charges 

brought under Article 2 of the Statute (that is, with respect to Kayishema, counts 2, 3, 8, 9, 14 and 

15, and with respect to both accused, counts 20 and 21). Kayishema was convicted on four counts 

of genocide with respect to each of the aforementioned massacre charges (counts 1, 7, 13 and 19) 

and found not guilty of the remaining charges (counts 4, 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, 16, 17, 18, 22, 23 and 

24). Ruzindana was convicted of one count of genocide in relation to the massacres in the area of 

Bisesero (count 19) and found not guilty of the remaining charges (counts 22, 23 and 24). 

8. The Trial Chamber sentenced Kayishema to imprisonment for the remainder of his life, 

while Ruzindana was sentenced to twenty-five years imprisonment. The Trial Chamber ordered 

that all sentences should be served concurrently. 

B. The Appeal3 
 
9. The Appeals Chamber recalls that both Kayishema and Ruzindana appealed against the 

Judgement and Sentence pronounced by Trial Chamber II on 21 May 1999, while the Prosecution 

appealed against the Judgement and Sentence pronounced against Ruzindana. 

10. During the hearing on appeal, the Appeals Chamber noted the fact that both Kayishema 

and Ruzindana had failed to strictly follow the presentation of the grounds of appeal as set out in 

their respective notices of appeal. The Appeals Chamber considered that in the interests of clarity 

and coherence, it would be appropriate that the grounds of appeal of each party be clearly 

identified. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber set out, at the start of the hearing on appeal, the 

                                                 
3 Cf. annex A, for more information on the appeals proceedings.  
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grounds of appeal of Kayishema, Ruzindana and the Prosecution.4 As all the parties have 

accepted these grounds as correctly enunciated, the Appeals Chamber now sets them out below, 

separating the grounds of appeal alleging errors in respect of the decision on the merits from those 

alleging errors in the Sentence. 

1.  Kayishema’s Appeal5 
 
(a) Appeal on the merits 
 
11. Kayishema put forward the following grounds of appeal: 

(i) The Trial was unfair in all aspects; 

(ii) The Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the status of the préfet and his 

effective means of action in the Rwandan context at the time of the facts under 

consideration; 

(iii) The Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the individual responsibility of a 

préfet and command responsibility or responsibility for acts committed by others, 

in light of the context and definition of subordinate, supervisory authority and, 

more amply, all corollary responsibility connected therewith (bourgmestre, 

communal police, gendarmerie, etc.) and of the Appellant’s participation in the 

facts alleged; 

(iv) The Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of civil defence: its meaning, its 

application and its connection with the Rwandan tragedy, such concepts as they 

ought to be understood; 

(v) The Trial Chamber erred in its rejection of the defence of alibi; 

(vi) The Trial Chamber erred in its findings of the crime of genocide: its legal and 

factual aspects and the way it has been applied to the events in Rwanda through 

Kayishema, préfet and citizen; 

                                                 
4 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 8 to 15. 
5 Cf. Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal 
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(b) Appeal against sentence 
 

12. Kayishema’s appeal is with respect to: 

(vii) Alleged errors in the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the aggravating and mitigating 

circumstances: their definition and application; 

(viii) The sentence imposed. 

 

2.  Ruzindana’s Appeal6 
 

(a) Appeal on the merits 
 

13. Ruzindana claims that the Trial Chamber has erred in law and in fact with respect to: 

(i) Its determination of intent; 

(ii) Its findings regarding the individual responsibility of the Accused; 

(iii) Its findings on the role of the Accused with respect to the essential ingredients of 

the crime of genocide; 

(iv) Its findings on the concept of common criminal intent; 

(v) Its findings on the personal status of the Accused; 

(vi) Its findings regarding the defence of alibi; 

(vii) Its appraisal of the testimony of Prosecution witnesses and reliability of eye 

witnesses; 

(viii) Lack of specificity of the Indictment, with the result that the Accused was denied a 

fair trial, as he was not promptly informed of the nature of the charges against him 

nor allowed adequate time and facilities to prepare his defence. 

                                                 
6 Cf. Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal 
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(b) Appeal against sentence 
 

Ruzindana claims that: 

 

(ix) The Trial Chamber erred in its analysis of aggravating and mitigating 

circumstances. 

 

14. Having identified these grounds of appeal, the Appeals Chamber notes that several issues 

and grounds of appeal filed separately by each of the Accused overlap. For this reason, the 

Appeals Chamber has decided to structure this Judgement by addressing individual grounds of 

appeal separately and grouping together, where appropriate, the different issues raised in the 

grounds of appeal which overlap. 
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II. ADMISSIBILITY OF THE PROSECUTION’S APPEAL AND 
RESPONDENT’S BRIEFS 

 
1.  Arguments of the Parties 

 
15. In their briefs in response to the Prosecution’s Appellant’s brief, Kayishema and 

Ruzindana argue that the Appeals Chamber should rule the Prosecution’s Appellant’s brief out of 

time and its appeal inadmissible.7 They have repeated these requests, which had already been 

made in motions and to which, they contend the Chamber has not responded directly or explicitly. 

At the hearing, Kayishema revisited the issue of time-bar and requested the Appeals Chamber to 

rule definitively on his preliminary motion. 

16. Appellants Kayishema and Ruzindana had indeed lodged motions to bar the Prosecution’s 

appeal as out of time and, accordingly, for the Appeals Chambre to rule it inadmissible.8 The 

Appellants pointed out that the Prosecution had not observed the time limits set by the Appeals 

Chamber Decision of 14 December 1999,9 which ordered the parties to file their Appellant’s 

briefs by the end of ninety days following the day on which the Addendum to the Registry 

Certificate on the Record of the instant case was communicated to them.10 

17. Kayishema avers that the Prosecution was served on 25 October 1999 with the Addendum 

to the Registry Certificate ordered by the Appeals Chamber.11 On 24 January 2000, the 

Prosecution had not yet filed its Appellant’s brief and had not sought an extension of time to that 

effet.12 Thus, according to Kayishema, the Prosecution was time-barred from filing the 

Appellant’s brief provided for under Rule 111.13 

18. Kayishema notes that under Rule 108, a party seeking to appeal a Judgement shall file and 

serve upon the other parties a written notice of appeal, setting forth the grounds — “that is, 

                                                 
7 Kayishema’s Provisional Response; Ruzindana’s Response; Ruzindana’s Response (Sentence). 
8 Kayishema’s Motion Seeking Time-Bar; “Motion Filed by the Appellant Obed Ruzindana for Inadmissibility of the 
Prosecutor’s Appeal”, 28 March 2000. 
9 “Decision (Appellants’ Motions for Extension of Time-Limits and for a Visit with Another Prisoner),” 
14 December 1999. 
10 See Ruzindana’s Response, para. 6; Ruzindana’s Response (Sentence), para. 19; Kayishema’s Provisional 
Response, paras. 8 and 9. 
11 Kayishema’s Provisional Response, para. 9. 
12 Ibid.  
13 Ibid. at paras. 14, 40. 
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explain[ing] the basis of its arguments in accordance with Article 24 of the Statute.”14 Kayishema 

further submits that “because the Prosecutor failed to provide the slightest justification for her 

appeal … by not filing a brief containing the arguments and authorities justifying her appeal”15, 

“such appeal has no effect on the provisions of the Judgement acquitting Kayishema.”16 What is 

more, Kayishema contends, the Appeals Chamber cannot consider the Prosecution’s Notice of 

Appeal or rule on its merits, that is, consider the grounds put forward by the Prosecution. 17 

Kayishema also submits that the Prosecutor’s Respondent’s brief is time-barred and inadmissible, 

and that its being filed out of time, constitutes a tacit abandonment of its prosecution of 

Kayishema.18 He maintains that as a result, he cannot be convicted of genocide.19 

19. For the same reasons concerning the expiration of the time-limit set by the aforementioned 

Decision and the Prosecution’s failure to file its briefs, Ruzindana submits that the Prosecutor’s 

appeal is time-barred. Moreover, he emphasizes that the time-limit set for the Prosecution to file 

its Respondent’s brief had also expired because it had not responded to his Appellant’s brief 

within thirty days, in accordance with Rule 112.20 The penalty for exceeding these two time-limits 

is, he argues, that the Prosecution appeal is inadmissible, including its initial Notice of Appeal, 

which, in violation of Rule 108, was not served on the Defence.21 The Appellant asserts that 

Rules 108, 111, and 112 form an indissociable whole, a set of procedures dependent on the 

existence of all of the following items — notice of appeal, Appellant’s brief, and Respondent’s 

brief — each contributing to the validity of such whole.22 Thus, the Prosecution has completely 

waived the right, by reason of the time-bar, to proceed before the Appeals Chamber seeking the 

setting aside of the Judgement and Sentence of 21 May 1999.23 

20. Ruzindana also argues that, given that the Prosecution’s appeal is deemed inadmissible, 

the Appeals Chamber ought not to take into account the Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal, and 

consequently should have made the finding that the parts of the Judgement which have not been 

                                                 
14 Kayishema’s Motion Seeking Time-Bar, para. 16. See also Kayishema’s Provisional Response, para. 31. 
15 Ibid., para. 19.   
16 Ibid., para. 20. 
17 Kayishema’s Provisional Response, para. 36.  
18 Kayishema’s Definitive Reply, paras. 21, 36. 
19 Ibid. at para. 36. 
20 Ruzindana’s Reply, para. 28. 
21 Ibid., para. 33. 
22 Ibid., para. 35. 
23 Ibid., para. 35. 
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appealed against by the parties are final.24 He further avers that the Chamber may rule only within 

the limits of the Notice of Appeal, and that the Notice of Appeal sets forth no grounds as no brief 

has been filed in support thereof.25 He adds that the Appeals Chamber judges cannot consider 

breaches of the Geneva Conventions and crimes against humanity in respect of which the 

Appellant has been found not guilty.26 

21. Ruzindana further maintains that by failing to file a response to his Appellant’s Brief, the 

Prosecutor must be taken as having tacitly accepted the brief and as having abandoned 

prosecution of the Appellant.27 He argues that the Appeals Chamber has only Ruzindana’s appeal 

before it and may not therefore make the outcome for him any worse by imposing a heavier 

sentence or amending, in the direction of greater severity, the characterization of his offences 

adopted by the Trial Chamber judges.28 

22. In their responses to the Prosecution’s Appellant’s Brief, Kayishema and Ruzindana 

repeat their requests to the Appeals Chamber to time-bar the Prosecution appeal and rule it 

inadmissible.29 Moreover, Ruzindana points out that the pre-hearing judge, by his Decision of 

11 April 2000,30 granted the Prosecution, at its request,31 a new deadline of 28 April 2000, 

although the Prosecution was already out of time. Despite this order, the Prosecution’s brief was 

filed on 2 May 2000, in other words, out of time, as evidenced by the Registry seal and the 

handwritten acknowledgement of receipt. 

23. The Prosecution stresses in its written submission32 that the Appeals Chamber has 

delivered several decisions concerning time-limits for the parties to file their briefs. The Decision 

of 14 December 1999 did indeed order the parties to file their briefs within ninety days from the 

date of service of the Addendum to the parts of the Record certified by the Registry. The 

Prosecution argues that it had previously filed, on 25 November 1999, a Motion to correct and 

                                                 
24 “Motion filed by the Appellant Obed Ruzindana for Inadmissibility of the Prosecutor’s Appeal”, 28 March 2000, 
para. 12. 
25 Ibid. 
26 Ibid. at paras 12, 15. 
27 Ruzindana’s Reply, para. 37. 
28 Ibid., para. 35.  
29 Kayishema’s Provisional Response; Ruzindana’s Response (Sentence). 
30 “Decision (Prosecutor’s Motions for Correction and Clarification of Trial Record; for Clarification of Briefing 
Time-Limits, and to Extend the Time-Limit),” 11 April 2000. 
31 “Prosecution’s Response to the Defence Motion Aimed at Denying the Prosecution the Right to File its Appeal 
Brief and the Prosecution’s Motion to Extend the Time-Limit for Filing its Appeal Brief”, 4 April 2000. 
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clarify the trial record33 and that the Decision of 14 December 1999 did not address that Motion.  

By its Order of 29 December 1999,34 the Appeals Chamber ordered the Prosecution to submit a 

draft order of the precise relief it had sought in its 25 November 1999 Motion. The Prosecution 

maintains that it filed the required draft Order,35 in which it requested that the Registry rectify all 

errors and omissions in the record.  On 2 March 2000, the Registry submitted a memorandum36 to 

the Appeals Chamber with regard to the relief requested by the Prosecution in its 

25 November 1999 Motion. The Prosecution avers that it did not receive it.37 On 

24 February 2000, the Prosecution filed a Motion38 for it to be advised of the start date of the 

ninety-day time-limit. 

24. In its briefs in reply39 to the Respondent’s briefs by Kayishema and Ruzindana, the 

Prosecution notes that by his Decision of 11 April 2000, 40 the pre-hearing judge granted its 

motion to extend the time-limit: it had been allowed up to 28 April 2000 to file its Appellant’s 

Brief. The said Prosecution Appellant’s Brief was dated 28 April 2000 and faxed to the Registry 

that same day. The pre-hearing judge ruled on the issue by stating in the Order of 26 May 200041 

that the Prosecution Appellant’s brief was filed on 2 May 2000, although the fax markings on the 

pages of the document show transmission on 28 April 2000.42 

25. At the hearing,43 Kayishema formally raised the issue of the Prosecution’s briefs being 

time-barred. He recalled the various stages in the proceedings and submitted that procedural time-

limits are mandatory. The Appellant contends that a request for an extension of time does not 

suspend the Prosecution’s obligation to file its briefs within the prescribed time-limit. The issue of 

                                                                                                                                                               
32 Ibid. 
33 “Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal,” 25 November 1999. 
34 “Order (Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record and Record on Appeal)”, 
29 December 1999. 
35 “Response by the Prosecution to the 29 December 1999 Order of the Appeals Chamber”, 5 January 2000. 
36 “Memorandum to the Appeals Chamber from the Registrar, Pursuant to Rule 33 (B), with Regard to the 
Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal of 25 November 2000”, 
2 March 2000. 
37 “Prosecution’s Response to the Defence Motion Aimed at Denying the Prosecution the Right to File its Appeal 
Brief and the Prosecution’s Motion to Extend the Time-Limit for Filing its Appeal Brief”, 4 April 2000, para. 19. 
38 “Prosecutor’s Motion to Seek Clarification on the Time-Limits to File the Legal Brief”, 24 February 2000. 
39 Prosecution’s Definitive Reply to Kayishema; Prosecution’s Reply to Ruzindana. 
40 “Decision (Prosecutor’s Motions for Correction and Clarification of Trial Record; for Clarification of Briefing 
Time-Limits, and to Extend the Time-Limit),” 11 April 2000. 
41 “Order (Appellant’s Motions to Extend Time-Limits),” 26 May 2000. 
42 Prosecution’s Reply (Ruzindana’s Sentence), 7 July 2000, para. 2.47.  
43 Hearing on Appeal, 31 October 2000. 
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time-bar is not a scheduling, pre-hearing problem; it is a substantive issue which falls within the 

jurisdiction of the Appeals Chamber, and not of the pre-hearing judge who may not adjudicate on 

it. The pre-hearing judge’s decisions granting the Prosecution extension of time do not have the 

effect of “saving” it from being out of time; the time-bar is therefore in effect. The Prosecution’s 

Notice of Appeal of 18 June 1999, which sets forth no grounds, cannot suffice for the Chamber to 

consider it in the absence of a brief in support, in accordance with “Article 24 of the Statute.” The 

Appeals Chamber, he argues, cannot make up for the Prosecution’s failings by deciding the merits 

of the case solely on the basis of the Notice of Appeal. 

26. In its response at the hearing,44 the Prosecution revisited the main stages in the 

proceedings with respect to the filing of the parties’ written submissions. It recalled all the 

motions filed by the Prosecution, either requesting extension of time limits or seeking 

clarification thereof. It submitted that in his 11 April 2000 Decision, the pre-hearing judge had 

indeed ordered the Prosecution to file its brief by 28 April 2000, which the Prosecution had done.  

For any other matters, the Prosecution requested the Chamber to refer to its written submissions. 

2.  Discussion 
 
27. The primary issues raised by the Appellants concern the admissibility of the Prosecution 

appeal and its Appellant’s briefs, as well as its responses to the Appellant’s briefs by Kayishema 

and Ruzindana. The Appeals Chamber  notes that two Prosecution Appellant’s briefs are at issue, 

and that while each was filed separately, both constitute part of the Prosecution’s appeal. They are 

the Prosecution’s Brief Against Judgement (entitled “Prosecution’s Appeal Brief” filed on 

2 May 2000) and the Prosecution’s Brief Against Sentence (entitled “Prosecution’s Appeal Brief 

Against Sentence Imposed on Obed Ruzindana”, filed on 2 May 2000). The Appeals Chamber 

considers that in order to resolve this issue of admissibility, it is necessary to examine the various 

relevant decisions, orders, and motions. 

28. On 3 September 1999, the Appeals Chamber issued a Scheduling Order which established 

28 October 1999 as the deadline for the Appellants to file their respective briefs. However, the 

following month, on 21 October 1999, the Appeals Chamber suspended the 28 October 1999 

deadline, because of Kayishema’s and Ruzindana’s pending motions, filed on 7 October 1999, 

                                                 
44 Ibid. 
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requesting an extension of time to file their briefs on grounds of incompleteness of the Trial 

Record. 

29. On 25 November 1999, the Prosecution filed a Motion for correction and clarification of 

the trial record on appeal.  The Prosecution alleged numerous defects in the trial record as 

certified by the Registrar.45 The Prosecution also raised other problems relating to Prosecution 

and Defence exhibits—namely, witness protection and confidentiality issues, uncertified 

translations of documentary exhibits, and inaccuracies and other issues relating to Prosecution and 

Defence exhibits. However, the Prosecution did not raise the issue of the time-limit within which 

to file its Appellant’s brief. 

30. On 14 December 1999, the Appeals Chamber granted Appellants’ Motions for extension 

of time, and ordered the Appellants and the Prosecution to file their briefs by the end of ninety 

days following the day on which the Addendum to the Registry Certificate on the Record was 

communicated to each of them.  The Prosecution had received this Addendum on 25 October 

1999.46 Time-limits for the filing of briefs in response, as well as briefs in reply, were also set in 

the 14 December 1999 decision. However, the 25 November 1999 Prosecution Motion for 

correction and clarification was not addressed by the Appeals Chamber in this  decision. 

31. Fifteen days later on 29 December 1999, the Appeals Chamber ordered the Prosecution to 

submit within seven days a draft order of the relief it was seeking in its 25 November 1999 

motion.  On 6 January 2000, the Prosecution’s draft order was stamped as received by ICTR 

Registry. 

                                                 
45 In particular, the Prosecutor claimed that: 

a. the Registry […] included in the transferred material, internal and confidential Office of the Prosecution 
documents which constituted privileged material in some instances [3 indexed documents];  
b. the transmitted volumes contained an abundance of pre-trial documents that the Prosecution [submitted] 
were not part of the trial record on appeal; 
c. the seven-case volumes contain[ed] correspondence between the parties and/or the Registry [which] 
documents were not filed before the Trial Chamber, cannot be considered part of the trial record, and were not 
designated by the parties as constituting part of the appeals record; and 

 d. transcripts: the Prosecution did not receive a complete or accurate electronic record of the trial 
proceedings. 
See also “Prosecution Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal”, 25 November 1999.  
46 In its Notice of Receipt of Exhibits, filed on 27 October 1999, the Prosecution notified the Appeals Chamber that 
on 25 October 1999, it “received a copy of an ‘Addendum to the Registry Certificate on the record in Case No. ICTR-
95-1-A; The Prosecutor v. C. Kayishema and O. Ruzindana,’ dated 14 October 1999 and signed on behalf of the 
Registrar along with a box of exhibits which purport[ed] to contain copies of all the exhibits filed before the Trial 
Chamber in that case.”  Prosecution Notice of Receipt of Exhibits, 27 October 1999, para. 1.4. 
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32. On 24 February 2000, the Prosecution submitted a motion to seek clarification of the time-

limits to file its Appellant’s brief.47  However, it merely set out a chronology of some of the 

orders of the Appeals Chamber, and did not specify the exact nature and source of its confusion 

regarding the time-limits.  Hence, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Prosecution failed to 

substantiate the basis upon which it was seeking relief. 

33. On 2 March 2000, the Registrar submitted a Memorandum to the Appeals Chamber, 

pursuant to Rule 33(B),48 with regard to the Prosecutor’s Motion for correction and clarification 

of the trial record on appeal of 25 November 1999.  The Registrar specified the ways in which it 

would cure the errors or omissions regarding the Prosecution and Defence exhibits, mentioned in 

paragraphs 2.27 to 2.53 of the Prosecution motion.  The Registrar also responded to other 

contentions raised by the Prosecution in its motion.49 

34. On 4 April 2000, in its “Response to the Defence Motion Aimed at Denying the 

Prosecution the Right to File its Appeal brief” the Prosecution submitted as follows: 

[d]ue to the fact that the Appeals Chamber has not yet ruled on the Response the 
Prosecution filed on 5 January 2000 in relation to correction and clarification of the trial 
record and the record on appeal, the fact that the Prosecution has not received the 
documents which the Registry promised to send in its Memorandum on 2 March 2000, 
and the fact that there has as yet been no decision on the Prosecution motion of 
24 February 2000, seeking clarification of the time-limit for filing the appeal briefs, the 
Prosecution submits with all due respect that the issue of the applicable time-limit is still 
pending before the Appeals Chamber.  

Alternatively, the Prosecution moved for an order of the Appeals Chamber to extend the time-

limit for filing its Appellant’s Brief in case the Appeals Chamber regarded the date set in its 

Decision of 14 December 1999 as still valid. The Appeals Chamber notes that in its 

14 December 1999 decision, it had made no reference to the pending 25 November 1999 Motion 

of the Prosecution for clarification and correction.  Instead, it addressed this motion separately in 

a subsequent decision (order) dated 29 December 1999.  Thus, consideration of the motion was 

not warranted in the motion on the setting of time-limits for the filing of briefs. 

                                                 
47 “Prosecutor’s Motion to Seek Clarification on the Time-Limits to File the Legal Brief required under Rule 111 of 
the Rules”, 24 February 2000. 
48 “Memorandum to the Appeals Chamber from the Registrar, Pursuant to Rule 33 (B), with Regard to the 
Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal of 25 November 2000,” 
2 March 2000. 
49 These concerned, for instance, materials communicated by the Registry to the Parties in case files, as well as 
electronic transcripts. Ibid. 
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35. On 11 April 2000, the pre-hearing judge assigned to this case rendered a Decision on the 

Prosecutor’s Motions for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record; for Clarification of 

Briefing Time-Limits; and to Extend the Time-Limit.  The decision dismissed the Motion for 

clarification of briefing time-limits, stating that 

the Prosecutor’s Motion for Clarification of Briefing Time-Limits is without object, 
since (a) the Appeals Chamber’s decision of 14 December 1999 did clearly settle such 
time-limits, (b) the Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction which did not have a prayer for 
suspension of time-limits could not have affected the time-limits established in the 
decision of 14 December 1999, and [c] the Appellants had already filed their briefs 
before the Prosecutor’s Motion for Clarification of Briefing Time-Limits. 

Nevertheless, the pre-hearing judge concluded that a limited extension of time might be granted to 

the Prosecution for the filing of its brief, without prejudice being caused to the Appellants, and set 

28 April 2000 as the deadline. 

36. In addressing this issue of admissibility, the Appeals Chamber notes that the decision of 

14 December 1999, fixing a deadline for the filing of briefs, was unambiguous.  Further, it was 

issued approximately three weeks following the filing of the Prosecutor’s 25 November 1999 

motion, and the Appeals Chamber did not deem it necessary to take into account this motion, 

which did not raise the issue of time-limits, when determining the applicable deadline. 

37. In addition, about four months after the Addendum to the Registry Certificate on the 

Record was communicated to the Prosecution,50 the Prosecution filed a motion seeking 

clarification of the time-limits to file its Appellant’s brief. Such lapse of time indicates a lack of 

diligence on the part of the Prosecutor in pursuing the matter, and furthermore, the motion did not 

substantiate the precise basis upon which the Prosecution was seeking relief.  Neither did it put 

forward a request for an extension of time to file its brief, even though the deadline set in the 14 

December 1999 decision had long expired. 

38. The Prosecution’s formal motion to extend the time-limits for the filing of its brief was 

finally submitted on 4 April 2000, that is two months after the deadline established in the 14 

December 1999 Decision had expired. In that motion, the Prosecution acknowledged that the 

Appeals Chamber, in its 14 December 1999 Decision, had ordered that the briefs be filed within 

ninety days from the date on which the Addendum to the Registry Certificate on the Record was 

communicated to the parties (that is, by 24 January 2000 for the Prosecution). At the same time, 
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however, the Prosecution maintained that it had not yet filed its brief because uncertainty existed 

as to the applicable deadline. 

39. The Prosecution also submitted, in said 4 April 2000 Motion, that the issue of the 

applicable time-limit was still pending before the Appeals Chamber because the Appeals 

Chamber had not yet ruled on its 6 January 2000 Response in relation to its 25 November 1999 

Motion for correction and clarification of the trial record and record on appeal, because it had not 

received the documents which the Registry stated it would send in its 2 March 2000 memorandum 

(pertaining to the 25 November 1999 Motion), and because there had not been a decision on its 24 

February 2000 Motion. 

40. The Appeals Chamber disagrees with this contention. The 25 November 1999 Motion did 

not raise the issue of time-limits and did not indicate the material significance of the alleged 

defects in the trial record. Hence it is irrelevant to the issue of time-limits, as held by the pre-

hearing judge in his Decision of 11 April 2000. The 24 February 2000 Motion for clarification of 

time-limits was unfounded, as found by the pre-hearing judge, because the 14 December 1999 

decision was unambiguous, and furthermore, the Prosecution did not substantiate its claim in the 

motion. 

41. However, the 11 April 2000 Decision of the pre-hearing judge granted the Prosecution an 

extension of time for the filing of its Prosecution’s Brief (the Prosecutor’s Motion for clarification 

on the time-limits to file the legal brief was dismissed). The said decision set 28 April 2000 as the 

deadline. 

42. Nevertheless, the Prosecution did not comply with this deadline. As a result, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that it does not need to rule on the issue of whether the granting of the extension of 

time was justified; in any case, the Prosecution’s briefs were filed outside the time-limit 

established in the 11 April 2000 Decision by the pre-hearing judge, a final example of its lack of 

diligence and untimeliness, unaccompanied by any showing of good cause or a request for 

permission to file out of time.  It appears from the fax markings on the Prosecution’s Brief 

Against Sentence that it was faxed to Arusha well after business hours on 28 April 2000.51 It was 

                                                                                                                                                               
50 See “Prosecution Notice of Receipt of Exhibits,” 27 October 1999, para. 1.4, supra.   
51 According to Article 29 of the Directive for the Registry of ICTR (21 February 2000), after-hours filing refers to 
the filing of documents outside of the following hours: 9 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. Monday through Thursday and 9 a.m. to 
2.30 p.m. on Friday, or on weekends or public holidays.  The Directive further states that a party anticipating a late 
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filed on 2 May 2000. Similarly, the Prosecution’s Brief Against Sentence was filed on 2 May 

2000. It should be noted that Kayishema filed his Appellant’s brief on 19 January 2000, and 

Ruzindana filed his brief on 20 October 1999. 

43. For all of the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber holds that the Prosecution’s 

Appellant’s briefs are time-barred and inadmissible, and will not be considered in this Judgement. 

44. Ruzindana has also submitted that the Prosecutor’s Respondent’s briefs should be found 

inadmissible, having been filed outside the applicable time-limits. According to Rule 112, “a 

Respondent’s brief shall […] be filed […] within thirty days of the filing of the Appellant’s 

brief.” The Appeals Chamber notes that Ruzindana’s Appellant’s brief was filed on 20 October 

1999 and communicated to the Prosecution on the same day. However, by 19 November 1999, 

the Prosecution had not filed its response to this brief; nor had it requested an extension of time to 

file same. Its Respondent’s brief was eventually filed on 14 June 2000. In light of these 

circumstances, the Appeals Chamber holds that the Prosecution’s Response to Ruzindana’s brief 

is inadmissible.  

45. The Appeals Chamber further notes that Kayishema’s Appellant’s brief was filed on 

19 January 2000, and communicated to the Prosecution on 20 January 2000. In its decision of 

14 December 1999, the Appeals Chamber had ordered the Prosecution to file its Respondent’s 

brief by the end of thirty days following the day on which the Appellant’s briefs were 

communicated to it. Yet, by 20 February 2000, the Prosecution had not filed its Respondent’s 

brief; nor had it sought additional time to file same. In its 24 February 2000 Motion for 

clarification on the time-limits to file the legal brief, the Prosecution did not raise the issue of the 

time-limits pertaining to its Respondent’s briefs; neither did it do so in its 4 April 2000 “Motion 

to extend the time-limit for filing its Appeal Brief”.52 Its response to Kayishema’s Appellant’s 

brief was eventually filed on 24 July 2000. In light of these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber 

holds that the Prosecution’s response to Kayishema’s Appellant’s brief is inadmissible. 

                                                                                                                                                               
filing must notify the Court Management Section during business hours to request permission and instructions for 
after-hours filing.  This was not done in this case.  The transmission of the Prosecution’s Brief Against Sentence 
appears to have taken place on Friday, 28 April 2000, late in the afternoon, at approximately 17.00 hours (or 18.00 
hours in Arusha), well past the working hours of the Registry in Arusha. 
52 In this motion, the Prosecution in fact pointed out that under Rule 112, a Respondent’s Brief “‘shall be served on 
the other party and filed with the Registrar within thirty days of the Appellant’s brief’ [and that] accordingly, the 
Appellant will always have 30 days to respond to the brief filed [by] the Prosecutor.”  Para. 28.  Despite its awareness 
of the applicable time-limits for the filing of respondent’s briefs, it did not adhere to these limits. 



Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
Page 22 
 
 
46. The Appeals Chamber further finds that the failure to file an Appellant’s brief in support 

of a notice of appeal carries serious consequences as to the admissibility of the entire appeal. Rule 

111 states that an Appellant’s brief shall contain all the argument and authorities. An appeal, 

which consists of a Notice of Appeal that lists the grounds of Appeal but is not supported by an 

Appellant’s brief, is rendered devoid of all of the arguments and authorities; the right to appeal 

may therefore be considered as having been waived if the Notice of Appeal is not followed by the 

timely filing of an Appellant’s brief. The Appeals Chamber notes that procedural time-limits are 

to be respected, and that they are indispensable to the proper functioning of the Tribunal and to 

the fulfilment of its mission to do justice.53 Violations of these time-limits, unaccompanied by any 

showing of good cause, will not be tolerated.54 

47. In this case, the Prosecution failed to file its Appellant’s brief on time, on two occasions. It 

failed to file its motion for an extension of time, in a timely manner.  It failed to request 

permission for late filing prior to its eventual filing.  It did not demonstrate good cause for any of 

these failures. Its Respondent’s briefs were also filed out of time. As a result, the Prosecution’s 

Appeal, its Appellant’s briefs, and its Respondent’s briefs, are inadmissible. 

                                                 
53 See Istituto di Vigilanza v. Italy, 265 Eur. Ct. H.R. (ser. A) at 35 (1993) (“…the finding is inescapable that the 
(European Commission of Human Rights) exceeded—albeit by only one day—the time allowed it.  Furthermore, no 
special circumstance of a nature to suspend the running of time or justify its starting to run afresh is apparent from the 
file.  The request bringing the case before the Court is consequently inadmissible as it was made out of time.”); 
Morganti v. France, 320 Eur. Ct. HR (ser. A) at 48 (1995) (“(The Court) notes that the explanations put forward do 
not disclose any special circumstance of a nature to suspend the running of time or justify its starting to run afresh…. 
It follows that the application bringing the case before the Court is inadmissible as it is out of time.”); Kelly v. U.K., 
42 Eur. Comm’n H.R. Dec. & Rep. 207, 208 (1985)(“Delays in pursuing the case are only acceptable insofar as they 
are based on reasons connected with the case…. Notwithstanding the applicant’s initial submission of 10 October 
1980, the Commission considers in the present case 27 April 1983 to be the date of introduction of the application 
and it follows that the application, having thus been introduced out of time, must be rejected under Article 27, para. 3 
of the Convention.”); Nauru v. Australia, 97 I.L.R. 20 (I.C.J.) (1992)  (“The Court recognizes that, even in the 
absence of any applicable treaty provision, delay on the part of a claimant State may render an application 
inadmissible.”).  
54 In this regard, a brief discussion of Rule 127 of ICTY Rules of Procedure and Evidence is useful.  The Rule states: 

(A)  Save as provided by paragraph (C), a Trial Chamber may, on good cause being shown by motion,  
(i) enlarge or reduce any time prescribed by or under these Rules; 
(ii) recognize as validly done any act done after the expiration of a time so prescribed on such terms, 

if any, as is thought just and whether or not that time has already expired. 
(B) In relation to any step falling to be taken in connection with an appeal or application for leave to appeal, 

the Appeals Chamber or a bench of three Judges of that Chamber may exercise the like power as is 
conferred by paragraph (A) and in like manner and subject to the same conditions as are therein set out. 

… (emphasis added). 
The fact that an act performed after the expiration of a prescribed time may be recognized as validly done illustrates 
the following principle: timely filing is the rule, and filing after the expiration of a time-limit constitutes late filing, 
which is normally not permitted.  However, if good cause is shown, the Rule establishes that despite the expiration of 
time and tardy filing, an act may be recognized as validly done, as a permitted derogation from the usual rule.  Thus 
the Rule reinforces the principle that procedural time-limits are to be respected. 
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3.  Conclusion 
 
48. The Prosecution Appeal is inadmissible in its entirety.  The Prosecution’s Respondent’s 

briefs are also inadmissible. 

49. Judge Shahabuddeen appends a dissenting opinion in relation to the issues arising in this 

chapter. 
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III. ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL 
 

A. Fair Trial 
 
50. Kayishema puts forward five arguments to show the unfairness of his trial. The arguments 

are: independence of the Tribunal, inequality of arms, presumption of innocence, adversarial 

principle and the timing of disclosure of materials [Rule 66(A)(i) of the Rules]. 

51. Before examining Kayishema’s arguments, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the principle 

of the right to a fair trial is part of customary international law. It is embodied in several 

international instruments, including Article 3 common to the Geneva Conventions55 which, 

among other things, prohibits: 

“the passing of sentences (…) without previous Judgement pronounced by a regularly 
constituted court, affording all the judicial guarantees which are recognized as 
indispensable by civilized peoples”56. 

 
The Appeals Chamber notes that the Statute sets forth provisions guaranteeing the rights 

of the accused. According to Article 19(1) of the Statute, the Trial Chamber shall ensure that the 

trial is fair and that proceedings are conducted in accordance with the Rules of Procedure and 

Evidence, with full respect for the rights of the accused. Article 20 and various provisions of the 

Rules set forth the rights of the accused by echoing the guarantees contained in international and 

regional instruments57. 

1. Independence of the Tribunal 
 
(a) Kayishema’s arguments 
 
52. Kayishema refers to the events that occurred in Rwanda in 1994 and to the United Nations 

reaction in the face of those events58.  He holds the United Nations partially responsible for the 

                                                 
55 See Čelebeći Appeal Judgement, paras. 138 and 139. 
56 Article 3(d) of the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949. 
57 The instruments include: Article 10 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights adopted by the United Nations 
General Assembly on 10 December 1948, A/Res.217 A (III); Article 14 of the International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights, adopted and opened for signature, ratification and accession by the General Assembly resolution 
2200 A (XXI) of 16 December 1966; Article 6 of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and 
Fundamental Freedoms, (Rome, 4 November 1950;), Article 8 of the American Convention of Human Rights (San 
Jose, Costa Rica, 22 November 1969, Inter-American Specialized Conference on Human Rights). See also Tadić 
Appeal Judgement, para. 44 et seq. 
58 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 8 to 10. 
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genocide that occurred in Rwanda59 and questions the independence and legitimacy of the 

Tribunal60.  In Kayishema’s submission, the idea of the Tribunal administering justice to 

contribute “to the process of national reconciliation and to the restoration and maintenance of 

peace”,61 runs counter to the concept of Justice as understood by States under the rule of law62.  

Thus, he sees himself as a scapegoat since the Trial Chamber failed to address such observations, 

which, he also submits, amounts to a miscarriage of justice63. 

53. Kayishema questions the independence of the Tribunal64 by citing newspaper articles, 

magazines, a press release and by resorting to political rather than legal arguments, and submits 

that as a result of pressure from the Government of Rwanda, the Tribunal systematically delivers 

verdicts against one ethnic group65. 

54. Kayishema raises once again the issue of the United Nations involvement in the events 

that occurred in Rwanda in 199466, suggesting in this case that the Tribunal could not possibly be 

independent since it was established by the United Nations which, he also submits, was 

responsible for the genocide that occurred in Rwanda. 

(b) Discussion 

55. As a rule, a fair trial requires that a set of procedural rules be established to ensure 

equality between the parties to the case and guarantee the independence of the Tribunal and the 

impartiality of the judges. A judge is presumed to be impartial until proven otherwise67. This is a 

subjective test: impartiality relates to the judge’s personal qualities, his intellectual and moral 

integrity. A judge is bound only by his conscience and the law. That does not mean that he rules 

on cases subjectively, but rather according to what he deems to be the correct interpretation of the 

law, ensuring for an unbiased and knowledgeable observer that his objectivity does not give the 

impression that he his impartial, even though, in fact, he is. Moreover, before taking up his duties, 

                                                 
59 Ibid., paras. 8 to 10.  See also T(A) of 30 October 2000, pp 21 to 28 
60 Ibid., paras. 8 to 10, para. 9 and para 9 bis 
61 Preambular para. seven of Security Council resolution 955 S/RES/955(1994) of 8 November. 
62 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 10 
63 Ibid., para. 10 in fine. 
64 Ibid., paras. 18 to 21.  See also T(A),  pp. 35-36. 
65 Ibid., paras. 18 to 21.  See also T(A),  pp.35-36. 
66 Ibid., para. 21. 
67 See Furundžija Appeal Judgement, paras. 196 and 197. See also Akayesu Appeal Judgement, para. 90 et seq., 
Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 682 et seq., and para. 698 et seq. 
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each judge makes a solemn declaration obliging him to perform his duties and exercise his powers 

as a judge “honourably, faithfully, impartially and conscientiously.”68 The independence of the 

Tribunal is measured by an objective test: as a judicial organ with jurisdiction, as established by 

Security Council resolution 955, it is entirely independent of the organs of the United Nations. 

56. The Appeals Chamber wishes to recall that it is not its place to interpret the actions of the 

United Nations in general and that, as an ad hoc United Nations judicial organ, the Tribunal 

issues decisions within its jurisdiction, as established by Security Council resolution 955,69 and 

within the inherent jurisdiction of any tribunal70.  

57. Furthermore, still with respect to Kayishema’s Brief on the independence of the Tribunal, 

the Appeals Chamber notes that most of Kayishema’s arguments relating to certain elements of 

the United Nations policy are based on newspaper excerpts, press releases, articles, etc. 

Kayishema did not submit those elements in evidence before the Trial Chamber, and the Appeals 

Chamber notes that it has not been seized of a request to admit such elements as additional 

evidence under Rule 115 or 86 of the Rules. For those reasons, the Appeals Chamber will not 

consider this issue. 

58. The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the view expressed by the Security Council with 

regard to the process of national reconciliation and to the restoration and maintenance of peace71 

is not prejudicial to the Tribunal’s independence and impartiality, which the judges are required to 

exhibit in ruling on each case. 

59. With regard to United Nations involvement in the events which occurred in Rwanda in 

199472 − an issue raised by Kayishema, arguing that the Tribunal could not possibly be 

independent as it was established by the United Nations − the Appeals Chamber holds that the 

United Nations’s role in the events in Rwanda is irrelevant to the present case and, consequently, 

there is no need to consider this issue. 

60. By claiming to be a “sacrificial lamb”, Kayishema does not refer to material in the record 

to support his contention, besides mere unsubstantiated allegations. The Appeals Chamber is of 

                                                 
68 Article 14(A) of the Rules. 
69 S/RES/955 of 8 November 1994, Annex, Statute of the International Tribunal for Rwanda. 
70 Tadić Appeal Judgement (Lack of jurisdiction), paras. 12 to 22. 
71 See Kayishema’s Brief, para. 10. 
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the opinion that since Kayishema’s claims are unsubstantiated, the Trial Chamber properly 

ignored them, and that this does not constitute a miscarriage of justice. 

61. Regarding the alleged pressure brought to bear by the Government of Rwanda, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that besides making a general allegation, Kayishema does not refer to any 

particular pressure brought to bear on the Tribunal in the instant. The Appeals Chamber finds that 

even assuming that were true, mere exertion of pressure does not imply that the Tribunal would 

give in to such pressure. Here again, Kayishema is making unsubstantiated allegations. 

62. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the mere fact of the Tribunal maintaining 

good relations with the Government of Rwanda or enjoying good cooperation from it does not 

mean that it is not independent. The Tribunal is dependent on State cooperation in the discharge 

of its activities, as was recognized by ICTY Appeals Chamber in Blaškić: 

“[…] it is self-evident that the International Tribunal, in order to bring to trial persons 
living under the jurisdiction of sovereign States, not being endowed with enforcement 
agents of its own, must rely upon the cooperation of States.  The international Tribunal 
must turn to States if it is effectively to investigate crimes, collect evidence, summon 
witnesses and have indictees arrested and surrendered to the International Tribunal.  The 
drafters of the Statute realistically took account of this in imposing upon all States the 
obligation to lend cooperation and judicial assistance to the International Tribunal.”73 

2.  Inequality of arms 
 
(a) Kayishema’s arguments 
 
63. During proceedings before the Trial Chamber, Counsel for Kayishema filed a Motion 

calling for full equality of arms between the Prosecution and the Defence74 (that is, both parties 

must be afforded the same means and resources). The Trial Chamber rejected this argument and 

held that “the rights of the accused and equality between the parties should not be confused with 

                                                                                                                                                               
72 Ibid., para. 21. 
73 Decision on the Request of the Republic of Croatia for Review of the Decision of Trial Chamber II of 
18 July 1997, The Prosecutor v. Blaskić, Case No. IT-95-14-AR108bis, 29 October 1997, para. 26. 
74 As quoted by the Trial Chamber in its Judgement, para. 56: “Counsel for Kayishema filed a Motion, on 13 March 
1997, calling for the application of Rule 20(2) and 20 (4). The Defence submitted that in order to conduct a fair trial, 
full equality should exist between the Prosecution and the Defence in terms of the means and facilities placed at their 
disposal. To this end, the Defence requested the Chamber to order the disclosure of the number of lawyers, 
consultants, assistants and investigators that had been at the disposal of the Prosecution since the beginning of the 
case. The Motion also requested the Chamber to order the Prosecutor to indicate the amount of time spent on the case 
and the various expenditures made. Finally, the Motion called upon the Chamber to restrict the number of assistants 
utilised by the Prosecution during trial to the same number as those authorised for the Defence” 
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the equality of means and resources”75 and that “the rights of the accused should not be 

interpreted to mean that the Defence is entitled to same means and resources as the Prosecution”. 

76 Kayishema submits that this holding constitutes an error in law.77 

64. Furthermore, Kayishema submits that due to the lack of permission from Rwanda his 

Counsel could not visit before trial the sites referred to in the Indictment so as to verify the 

Prosecutor’s assertions in situ. The fact that the Prosecutor was able to visit the said sites while 

the Defence Counsel could not, is, in Kayishema’s submission, an error of fact under Article 24 of 

the Statute78. 

65. Kayishema also argues that Defence witnesses were very few since the Defence could 

only locate and contact a few79. Kayishema further contends that the fact that the Judgement 

failed to address this issue is an error of fact and of law under Article 24 of the Statute. 

66. It is Kayishema’s submission that the proceedings were also characterized by the 

inequality of arms between the parties since the Prosecution was afforded one month to prepare 

its submissions, while the Defence was allowed only eight days80. 

(b) Discussion 

67. The right of an accused to a fair trial implies the principle of equality of arms between the 

Prosecution and the Defence81. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber rightly held 

that: 

“The notion of equality of arms is laid down in Article 20 of the Statute. Specifically, 
Article 20(2) states, “… the accused shall be entitled to a fair and public hearing… 
Article 20(4) also provides, “…the accused shall be entitled to the following minimum 
guarantees, in full equality…,” then follows a series of rights that must be respected, 
including the right to a legal counsel and the right to have adequate time and facilities to 
prepare his or her defence.”82 

                                                 
75 Trial Judgement, para. 20. 
76 Ibid., para. 60. 
77 Kayishema’s Brief. In support of these submissions, Kayishema cites Dombo Beheer v. The Netherlands, Eur. 
Court H. R., 27 October 1993, Series A274 and John Campbell v. Jamaica, Report of Human Rights Committee, 
Communication No. 307/1988, 24 March 1993, UN Doc. A/48/40 (Part II, Annex G). 
78 Ibid., para. 14. 
79 Ibid., para. 15. 
80 Ibid., para. 16. 
81 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 48. 
82 Trial Judgement, para. 55. 
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68. The Trial Chamber dismissed Kayishema’s motion suggesting a duty to seek full equality 

between the Prosecutor and the Defence83. 

69. The Appeals Chamber observes in this regard that equality of arms between the Defence 

and the Prosecution does not necessarily amount to the material equality of possessing the same 

financial and/or personal resources84. In deciding on the scope of the principle of equality of arms, 

ICTY Appeals Chamber in Tadić held that “equality of arms obligates a judicial body to ensure 

that neither party is put at a disadvantage when presenting its case”85. 

70. The Appeals Chamber endorses the Trial Chamber’s ruling86. This is to ensure that the 

guarantees set forth in Article 20(2) and (4) of the Statute are respected87. 

71. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber holds that the Trial Chamber did not commit an error 

on a question of law under Article 24 of the Statute. 

72. Regarding the fact that Counsel for Kayishema were unable to travel to sites in Rwanda 

referred to in the Indictment, the Appeals Chamber wishes, firstly, to recall the Trial Chamber’s 

finding: 

“The question of equality of arms was verbally raised on other occasions. The Defence 
Counsel complained, for example, of the impossibility to verify the technical and 
material data about Kibuye préfecture submitted by the Prosecution. However, the Trial 
Chamber is aware that investigators, paid [for] by the Tribunal, [was] put at the disposal 
of the Defence. Furthermore, Article 17 (C) establishes that any expenses incurred in the 
preparation of the Defence case relating, inter alia, to investigative costs are to be met by 
the Tribunal. The Trial Chamber is satisfied that all the necessary provisions for the 
preparation of a comprehensive defence were available, and were afforded to all 
Defence Counsel in this case. The utilisation of those resources is not a matter for the 
Trial Chamber”88 

Kayishema alleges that there was an error in law within the meaning of Article 24 of the 

Statute as “the Prosecutor herself visited the sites and Defence Counsel did not.”89. In his Brief, 

                                                 
83 As quoted in para. 63 supra, the Trial Chamber held that “ the rights of the accused and equality between the 
parties must not be confused with the equality of means and resources” and that “the rights of the accused should not 
be interpreted to mean that the Defence is entitled to same means and resources as the Prosecution.” 
84 See, for example, Hentrich v. France, Eur. Court H. R., Judgement of 22 September 1994, para. 56. 
85 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 48, in which ICTY Appeals Chamber cites several cases brought before the 
European Commission on Human Rights.  
86 Trial Judgement, para. 20. 
87 See also Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 52. 
88 Trial Judgement, para. 61 (emphasis added). 
89 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 14, in fine. 
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Kayishema does not present any argument nor does he adduce evidence in support of this 

allegation. Similarly, he does not present any arguments to demonstrate that the fact that Defence 

Counsel were unable to visit Rwanda in person deprived him of a reasonable opportunity to plead 

his case. The Appeals Chamber agrees with the Trial Chamber’s position and finds that the mere 

fact of not being able to travel to Rwanda is not sufficient to establish inequality of arms between 

the Prosecution and the Defence. Investigators, paid by the Tribunal, were put at the disposal of 

the Defence and the Trial Chamber was satisfied that “all the necessary provisions for the 

preparation of a comprehensive defence were available, and were afforded to all Defence Counsel 

in this case.”90 

73. The Appeals Chamber concurs with ICTY Appeals Chamber's position expressed in 

Tadić, that the principle of equality of arms does not apply to “conditions, outside the control of a 

court”,91 that prevented a party from securing the attendance of certain witnesses.  Consequently, 

the Appeals Chamber dismisses Kayishema's claim that problems encountered in locating and 

contacting potential witnesses allegedly constitutes an error in fact and in law under Article 20 of 

the Statute. 

74. The Appeals Chamber notes that the question of equality of arms with respect to the 

procedure was examined by the Trial Chamber, which found that designated time-limits had been 

accorded to both parties.92 The Appeals Chamber holds that the Defence closing arguments do not 

constitute a response to the Prosecutor’s closing brief and that the Defence had no cause to wait 

for the Prosecutor’s closing remarks to prepare their closing arguments.  The Appeals Chamber 

endorses the opinion expressed by the Trial Chamber that: 

“(…) were any particular issues of dispute or dissatisfaction to have arisen, the Trial 
Chamber should have been seized of these concerns in the appropriate manner and at the 
appropriate time. A cursory reference in the closing brief, and a desultory allusion in 
Counsel’s closing remarks is not an appropriate mode of raising the issue before the 
Chamber.”93 

The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not commit any error in the 

exercise of its discretion and that there is nothing in Kayishema’s Brief to support his allegation. 

                                                 
90 Trial Judgement, para. 61. 
91 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 49. 
92 Trial Judgement, paras. 63 and 64. 
93 Ibid. para. 64. 
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3.  Presumption of innocence 
 

(a) Kayishema’s arguments 

75. Kayishema submits that Security Council resolution 955 runs counter to the principle of 

the presumption of innocence which is well-established in law94. He cites particularly the 

preamble of resolution 955 and contends that the expression “persons responsible for” runs 

counter to the principle of the presumption of innocence95. 

76. He further submits that the procedural improprieties are so serious that the Appeals 

Chamber cannot cure them adequately.  Consequently, he should be presumed innocent96. 

(b) Discussion 

77. The Appeals Chamber cannot accept the argument that the phrase “persons responsible 

for” used in resolution 955 implies that the Tribunal was unable to discharge its judicial functions. 

The Appeals Chamber recalls that the principle of the presumption of innocence is reiterated in 

Article 20(3) of the Statute: 

“The accused person shall be presumed innocent until proven guilty according to the 
provisions of the present Statute.” 

The Appeals Chamber reiterates with force its holding in Barayagwiza.97 

78. Kayishema provides no evidence to support the allegation that the irregularities of the 

proceedings before the Trial Chamber are so serious that the Appeals Chamber would be unable 

to cure them. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that such an allegation is meritless. In its 

view, it need not consider it. 

                                                 
94 In paragraph 10 of Kayishema’s  Brief, he cites particularly the preamble of resolution 955 and states that the 
expression persons responsible for runs counter to the principle of the presumption of innocence.  The passage in 
question reads:  The Security Council, “Convinced that in the particular circumstances of Rwanda, the prosecution of 
persons responsible for serious violations of international humanitarian law would enable this aim to be achieved and 
would contribute to the process of national reconciliation and to the restoration and maintenance of peace”, In: 
S/RES/955(1994) of 8 November.    
95 Ibid. 
96 Kayishema’s Brief, para.17. 
97 The Prosecutor v. Barayagwiza, Decision (Prosecutor’s Request for Review and Reconsideration), Case No. 
ICTR-97-19-AR72, 31 March 2000, para. 35. 
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4.  The adversarial principle 
 
(a) Kayishema’s arguments 
 

79. Citing several cases98 before the European Court of Human Rights, Kayishema argues that 

the Judgement did not adhere to the adversarial principle99. 

(b) Discussion 

80. Kayishema advances no arguments to support his allegation that the Judgement did not 

adhere to the adversarial principle. The Appeals Chamber, like Kayishema100, agrees with the 

opinion expressed by the European Court of Human Rights, that: 

“The principle of equality of arms is only one feature of the wider concept of a fair trial, 
which also includes the fundamental right that criminal proceedings should be 
adversarial.[…] The right to an adversarial trial means, in a criminal case, that both 
prosecution and defence must be given the opportunity to have knowledge of and 
comment on the observations filed and the evidence adduced by the other party. Various 
ways are conceivable in which national law may secure that this requirement is met. 
However, whatever method is chosen, it should ensure that the other party will be aware 
that observations have been filed and will get a real opportunity to comment thereon..”101  

The adversarial principle under the Statute and the Rules is to the same effect and there is 
no evidence in Kayishema’s Brief to show the contrary. 
 

5.  Timing of disclosure of materials [Rule 66(A)(I)] of the Rules 
 
(a) Kayishema’s arguments 

81. Kayishema submits that the Defence had no material enabling it “to know the charges 

brought”102 against him (Kayishema) by the Prosecutor.  He had made his initial appearance on 

                                                 
98 Those cases are:  Günter Struppat v. FRG, decision of the Commission of 16 July 1968, Year Book of the Eur. 
Convention H.R., Eur. Commission H.R., Eur. Court H.R., 1968, p. 381 et seq (French version), p. 380 et seq 
(English version);  Ruiz-Mateos v. Spain, 23 June 1993;  Dombo Beheer v. The Netherlands, 27 October 1993; 
Hentrich v. France, 22 September 1994; Ankerl v. Switzerland, 23 October 1996. 
99 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 12 
100 Ibid. 
101 Eur. Court H.R., Decision in Brandstetter v. Austria, 20 August 1991, Series A, No. 211, paras. 66 and 71. See 
also Eur. Court of HR, Decision in Ruiz-Mateos v. Spain, 23 June 1993, Series A No. 262, para. 63. 
102 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 13. 
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31 May 1996, but only on 26 June 1997103 did the Prosecutor disclose a substantial part of the 

materials, which, in his submission, is an error in law and in fact under Article 24 of the Statute. 

(b) Discussion 

82. Kayishema provides an erroneous account of the events in arguing that the Prosecution 

ignored the Defence requests for disclosure of evidence dated 11 June 1996, 26 June 1996 and 

27 November 1996 and that as at 20 February 1997, the Defence “was in no position to know the 

nature of the charges brought against Kayishema.”104 

83. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Prosecution began disclosing supporting materials 

which accompanied the Indictment on 15 July 1996, or 45 days following Kayishema’s initial 

appearance on 31 May 1996,105 and that on 26 March 1997, the Prosecutor disclosed to the 

Defence the particulars of 28 of the 36 Prosecution witnesses and disclosed five other witness 

statements on 24 September 1997.106 

84. However, the Appeals Chamber, notes that the Defence failed to seek appropriate relief 

from the Trial Chamber at trial. Therefore, it may not raise such issues on appeal.107 

6.  Conclusion 
 
85. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this ground of appeal. 

B. Specificity of the Indictment 
 

86. Ruzindana argues in Ground Eight that due to the lack of specificity in the indictment he 

was denied a fair trial because he was not promptly informed of the nature of the charges against 

                                                 
103Ibid., para. 13. 
104 Ibid. 
105 The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that under Rule 66 (A) (i) of the Rules, the Prosecutor is required to 
disclose to the Defence: “Within 30 days of the initial appearance of the accused copies of the supporting material 
which accompanied the indictment when confirmation was sought as well as all prior statements obtained by the 
Prosecutor from the accused” (emphasis added).  
106 Decision on the Prosecution Motion for Direction for the Scheduling of the Continuation of the Trial of Clément 
Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana on the Charges as Contained in the Indictment No. ICTR-95-I-T, 12 March 1998. 
107 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 25. “The fact that the Appellant made no objection before the Trial Chamber 
to the Registry’s decision means that, in the absence of special circumstances, he has waived his right to adduce the 
issue as a valid ground of appeal. See also Čelebići, paras. 640-649 (Obligation to Raise Issue at Trial). 
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him nor was he allowed adequate time and facilities to prepare his defence.108 In general, 

Ruzindana submits that because the Trial Chamber failed to recognize the imprecision in the 

indictment,109 it violated his right to a fair trial and in particular the guarantees contained in, inter 

alia, Article 20(4)(a) and (b) of the Statute.110 

87. Before deciding whether or not it should proceed to consider the substance of Ruzindana’s 

submissions on this point, the Appeals Chamber must first address what has been raised as the 

primary argument of the Prosecution. 

1. Whether Ruzindana has waived his right to raise the issue of imprecision 
 
88. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution submitted that Ruzindana had waived his 

right to raise the issue of specificity before the Appeals Chamber.111 The Prosecution contends 

that “when the indictment was filed on the first day of trial, the Appellant [Ruzindana] raised no 

objection to the indictment in terms of it being imprecise with respect to dates, locations and 

events”.112 Further, the next opportunity when Ruzindana could have raised a challenge to the 

indictment occurred on 14 October 1997, when Witness EE took the stand.113 However, the 

Prosecution submits that when Witness EE took the stand on 14 October 1997, no objection was 

made by the Defence.114 The Prosecution maintains that the following complaints115 were lodged 

by Defence Counsel only after Witness EE began to give evidence, to wit, (i) that the Prosecution 

had violated the provisions of Rule 67 on disclosure; (ii) that the substance of the witness’s 

testimony might well expose Ruzindana to charges involving sexual violence; and (iii) the 

discourtesy or uncouth manner in which the Prosecution apprised Defence Counsel that the 

Witness was going to testify the following day. 

                                                 
108 This ground of appeal is included in Ruzindana’s Brief when he discusses what he refers to as “Evidentiary 
Matters”(see, Ruzindana’s Brief, paras. 7-14).  
109 The relevant indictment on which the Prosecution relied and Ruzindana was tried is that as reproduced in the Trial 
Judgement, pp. 3 – 12 (as amended in The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-
95-1-T, Decision on the Motion filed by the Prosecutor for Confirmation of the Trial Date and submission of a 
Superseding Indictment, 10 April 1997).  
110 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 14.  
111 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 197. 
112 Ibid., p. 198. 
113 The Prosecution asserts that “on the evening preceding the witness’s testimony, the Prosecution communicated to 
Defence Counsel, by way of a letter, that the witness was going to testify to certain matters that the Prosecution 
previously had no knowledge of, nor had those matters been disclosed to the Defence before”, T(A), 30 October 
2000, p. 199. 
114 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 199. 
115 Ibid., p. 200. 
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The Prosecution also submitted that Counsel for Ruzindana had never: (i) sought an 

adjournment to prepare himself to cross-examine Witness EE; (ii) indicated to the Trial Chamber 

that Witness EE’s testimony violated Ruzindana’s right to be promptly informed of the nature of 

the charges against him; or (iii) indicated to the Trial Chamber that allowing Witness EE to 

proceed would affect Ruzindana’s right to have adequate opportunity, time and facilities to 

prepare his defence.116 

89. The Prosecution indicated to the Appeals Chamber that at no time during the proceedings 

below did Ruzindana seek to file an interlocutory appeal challenging defects in the form of the 

indictment.117 

90. The Appeals Chamber notes that Ruzindana does not make any attempt to explain his 

failure to raise this issue before the Trial Chamber or to suggest that he has indeed done so. 

Ruzindana’s Brief is silent on this point and, during the hearing on appeal, Counsel for Ruzindana 

made reference to his objections with regard to Witness EE and without being more specific, 

stated that “ I raised this in my closing remarks […] ”.118 

2.  Discussion 
 

91. The Appeals Chamber accepts that, as a general principle, a party should not be permitted 

to refrain from making an objection to a matter which was apparent during the course of the trial, 

and to raise it only in the event of an adverse finding against that party. Thus, if a party raises no 

objection to a particular issue before the Trial Chamber, in the absence of special circumstances, 

the Appeals Chamber will find that the party, “has waived his right to adduce the issue as a valid 

ground of appeal.”119 A party is under an obligation to formally raise with the Trial Chamber 

                                                 
116 Ibid., p. 200, the Appeals Chamber relies on the transcript of the hearing on appeal which reflects the language in 
which Counsel for the Prosecution spoke . 
117 Ibid., p. 202, However, the Prosecution recognized that “[…] a prerequisite for an interlocutory appeal would be 
an adverse decision by a Trial Chamber, and the fact that the record reveals no such adverse decision may very well 
explain the absence of an interlocutory appeal.” 
118 Ibid., p. 247. 
119 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 25. See also, Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 640; Akayesu Appeal 
Judgement, para. 361. 
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(either during the trial or pre-trial120), any issues that require resolution. It “cannot remain silent 

on [a] matter only to return on appeal to seek a trial de novo”121. 

92. The main contention of Ruzindana under this ground of appeal is the fact that the amended 

indictment of 11 April 1997122 suffers from imprecision with respect to dates, location and events 

involving the accused. Notwithstanding the absence of an explanation from Ruzindana, the 

Appeals Chamber will nevertheless briefly examine the trial record to ascertain whether this issue 

has been raised before the Trial Chamber. 

93. Ruzindana was arrested on 20 September 1996 and made his initial appearance on 29 

October 1996. On 11 April 1997, the trial of Kayishema and Ruzindana commenced before the 

Trial Chamber based on the amended indictment filed with the Registry on that day. The Defence 

teams commenced their case on 11 May 1998 and closed on 15 September 1998. Ruzindana’s 

Defence presented closing arguments from 28 October 1998 to 2 November 1998. 

94. At the pre-trial stage, Ruzindana filed a preliminary motion on 30 December 1996,123 

objecting to, inter alia, the form of the indictments. He advanced four specific challenges, namely 

(1) the indictments were not properly signed and dated, (2) the accompanying arrest warrant was 

not valid, (3) Ruzindana was not properly advised of his rights at the time of his arrest as the 

copies of the arrest warrants received did not include any enclosures referred to in Rule 55(A) of 

the Rules, and (4) the indictments did not bear an acknowledgement by Ruzindana. The motion 

                                                 
120 The Appeals Chamber has found that a party validly raises an issue, such that he or she rebuts an allegation of 
waiver, if it is raised either during the trial or pre-trial phase: Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para. 174: “[The 
Appellant] could have raised the matter, if he considered it relevant, before the Trial Chamber, either pre-trial or 
during trial. On that basis, the Appeals Chamber could find that the Appellant has waived his right to raise the matter 
now and could dismiss his ground of appeal”. 
121 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 55, cited in Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 25. 
122 Ruzindana was initially charged in the original indictment submitted by the Prosecutor on 22 November 1995. 
The indictment was confirmed by Judge Navanethem Pillay on 28 November 1995. Judge Pillay ordered that the 
indictment be amended on 6 May 1996. On 26 March 1997 the Prosecution brought a motion to file a superseding 
indictment against Ruzindana, Kayishema and Gérard Ntakirutimana which was denied by the Trial Chamber in, The 
Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-T, “Decision on the Motion filed by 
the Prosecutor for Confirmation of the Trial Date and submission of a Superseding Indictment”, 10 April 1997. In the 
decision of 10 April 1997, the Trial Chamber also granted leave to the Prosecution to redact the names of six other 
accused not in custody, from the first amended indictment and to delete Count 1 (conspiracy to commit genocide) of 
that indictment and to rearrange the remaining counts accordingly. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution 
submitted that “the two other indictments in this case: […] the indictment of 1995, as well as the proposed 
superseding indictment of 1997 […], are not relevant to the issue of waiver. Whatever challenges the Appellant 
brought to those respective indictments are irrelevant to the extent that they did not form the basis of his conviction”, 
T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 198. 
123 Preliminary Motions, Cases Nos. ICTR 95-1-I and ICTR 96-10-I, filed on 8 January 1997.  
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was rejected by the Trial Chamber.124 The Appeals Chamber notes that the preliminary motion 

raised an objection in relation to previous indictments other than the amended indictment of 11 

April 1997.125 Nevertheless, the Appeals Chamber considers that the challenges raised in the said 

preliminary motion are inconsistent with those Ruzindana now raises on appeal. 

95. No further written motion on the form or specificity of indictment was filed by Ruzindana 

during the proceedings. An examination of the trial transcripts from the beginning of the trial,126 

during presentation of evidence by the Defence127 and during closing arguments,128 further 

indicates that Ruzindana did not raise the question of imprecision of the indictment in respect of 

the dates, locations and events relating to the charged offence. In addition, the “Final Trial Brief 

Filed by the Defence”129 pursuant to Rule 86(B) of the Rules has similarly failed to raise this 

question. 

96. The Appeals Chamber also finds that the objection raised by Ruzindana in relation to the 

late disclosure of the deposition of Witness EE130 is, in substance, a challenge premised on an 

alleged violation of the procedure governing disclosure. Such an objection cannot amount to an 

objection based on defects in the form of an indictment in respect of the dates, locations and 

events pertaining to the charged crimes. In essence, Ruzindana challenged the late disclosure of 

evidence in light of Rule 67 (D) of the Rules and alleged that, as a result, new charges are being 

                                                 
124 Trial Judgement, para. 18.  
125 The issues raised in this motion pertained, inter alia, to the indictments in Case No. ICTR 95-1-I (Indictment of 
22 November 1995, amended by order of Judge Pillay dated 6 May 1996) and Case No. ICTR 96-10-I (Indictment of 
17 June 1996). 
126 T, 11 April 1997, pp. 14 - 15. When asked by the Presiding Judge if he had anything to say on the indictment 
Ruzindana replied that his date of birth as well as his place of occupation was incorrect. Subsequently when asked if 
there were any other comments by the Defence, the reply “Nothing” was recorded. 
127 T, 11 May 1998, pp. 6 – 20. The opening statement of Counsel for Ruzindana was given after the Prosecution has 
concluded presentation of evidence and before the presentation of evidence for the defence. It is noted that this 
opening statement was rendered one year later, after the beginning of the trial and Counsel for Ruzindana has not 
raised any objection about imprecision of indictment in respect of the dates, location and events surrounding the 
charged offence. 
128 T, 28 October 1998, pp. 61 – 63, pp. 79 – 81, Counsel for Ruzindana raised the issue of failure to specify charges 
under Article 2(2)(b) and 2(2)(c) of the Statute in relation to the 1995 indictment. At page 81 of the transcript, he 
confirms that the indictment was not precise with regard to Article 2(2)(b) and (c) of the Statute. No objection was 
raised concerning imprecision of indictment in respect of the dates, location and events surrounding the charged 
offence. 
129 Filed with the Registry on 16 October 1998. 
130 T, 14 October 1997, pp. 91 – 95. It is noted that the objection was only on the limited ground that the Prosecution 
had violated Rule 67 governing reciprocal disclosure. See also, T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 198 –202,   where the 
Prosecution submitted inter alia, stated stated that at no time did Ruzindana seek an adjournment to cross-examine 
Witness EE, nor indicate that the testimony was violating the right to be promptly informed, nor indicate that 
allowing him to proceed would affect his right to have adequate time to prepare his defence. 
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introduced in the indictment.131 It should be noted that Counsel for Ruzindana expressly 

acknowledged that the introduction of new charges would only be effective through “a proposal 

for an amendment of the indictment”.132 It appears to the Appeals Chamber that the substance of 

such an objection cannot be equated with an objection as to the form and specificity of the 

amended indictment of 11 April 1997 with respect to the charges therein contained. 

3.  Conclusion 
 

97. For these reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Ruzindana did not raise this matter 

before the Trial Chamber. Further, by failing to explain such omission in his Brief or during the 

hearing on appeal, Ruzindana has not demonstrated any special circumstances. As a result, the 

Appeals Chamber finds that he has waived his right to raise this matter now on appeal and 

accordingly dismisses Ground Eight. 

                                                 
131 T, 14 October 1997, p. 94. 
132 Ibid., p. 95. 
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C. Alibi 
 

98. Both Kayishema (Ground five) and Ruzindana (Ground six) alleged that the Trial 

Chamber had erred in fact and in law within the meaning of Article 24 of the Statute by holding 

that the defence of alibi raised by the Appellants was baseless. 

99. Both Kayishema and Ruzindana raised a defence of alibi in respect of the charges laid 

against them by the Prosecutor.  For his part, Kayishema submitted that he had gone into hiding 

for four days, from the morning of 16 April 1994 to the morning of 20 April 1994, thus 

contending that he was absent from the scene and at the time the crimes charged were committed.  

As for Ruzindana, he asserted that at the time of the events, he went on with his daily business in 

Mugonero village. 

i. Arguments by the parties 
 
(a) Kayishema’s defence of alibi 
 

100. Kayishema raised several arguments before the Appeals Chamber, which can be 

summarized as follows: 

 

- By holding that “Defence witnesses proffered very little evidence as to the accused's 

whereabouts during the execution of the massacres”,133 the Trial Chamber was imposing 

an impossible burden of proof on him. Kayishema argues that since he was in hiding for 

three days, he was indeed not in a position to produce evidence of his absence from the 

scene of the massacres. He asserts that requiring such evidence would amount to shifting 

the burden of proof, thereby rendering the trial unfair;134 

                                                 
133 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 45. 
134 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 77. 
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- By finding that Kayishema’s diary contained no mention of him being in hiding nor of the 

gendarme mutiny,135 the Trial Chamber erroneously relied on a trivial fact in arriving at its 

conclusion;136 

- By using such words as “amnésique” [amnesic] and “amnésie” [amnesia] in paragraphs 

253 and 256 (French version) of its Judgement, the Trial Chamber demonstrated that it 

lacked objectivity in its assessment of Kayishema’s alibi defence;137 

- By stating that it was not satisfied that the holding of a meeting on 13 May 1994 was 

entered in Kayishema’s diary at the time of the events (on the ground that said entry was 

in a language and ink which differed from that used for other entries in the diary), the 

Trial Chamber arrived at a hasty conclusion based on evidence that means nothing.138 

101. The Prosecutor submits that the Trial Chamber in no way shifted the burden of proof.139 

On the contrary, the Trial Chamber held that the burden of proof rested squarely upon the 

Prosecution.140 The Prosecutor recalls that the Trial Chamber was satisfied that Kayishema’s guilt 

had been established beyond reasonable doubt and that the evidence adduced in support of the 

alibi was found to be unlikely to raise any reasonable doubt. In no way, she submitted, was 

Kayishema required to prove the impossible.  The Prosecutor further submits that since 

Kayishema decided to enter the defence of alibi pursuant to Rule 67 of the Rules, he had to 

specify before the Trial Chamber the place or places at which he claimed to have been at the time 

of the events.141 She asserts that the Chamber assessed the evidence presented by the Defence 

specifying the accused’s whereabouts, and in light of Prosecution evidence, it found that the 

witnesses had proved that he was present at the site of the massacres.142 In the Prosecutor’s view, 

Kayishema has failed to show that the Trial Chamber’s decision was unreasonable. 

                                                 
135 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 58.  Kayishema alleges that on 18 April, their (gendarmes) attitude totally changed, that 
a mutiny did indeed take place and that the gendarmes “who killed were those who mutinied [and that] no proof has 
been adduced that Kayishema was on their side.” 
136 Ibid., para. 46; T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 80. 
137 Ibid., para. 47. 
138 Ibid., para. 48. 
139 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 153 to 155. 
140 Trial Judgement, para. 234. 
141 T(A), pp. 153 - 154. 
142 Ibid., p. 155. 
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(b) Ruzindana’s defence of alibi 
 

102. Ruzindana submits, on the one hand, that lack of precision in the indictment adversely 

affected his ability to assert his defence of alibi143 and, on the other hand, that his alibi was “well 

founded and admissible”.144 He stresses that given the long period (three months) covered by the 

indictment, it was particularly difficult for him to adduce evidence that he was not at the site of 

the crime for all that period.145 Furthermore, Ruzindana contends that the testimonies of all the 

witnesses favour the conclusion that he went frequently for shopping in this village, and that 

during that period it was logically impossible for him to participate in the commission of the 

crimes.146 In his opinion, the entire evidence presented covered, on the whole, his schedule for the 

period from April to July 1994, that is, the period reflecting the continuation of his professional 

activity in Mugonero. 

The Defence also recalled that “it was not the role of the Defence to prove their case on a 

twenty-four hour basis, that is, from 6 April 1994 […] and from July 1994, the accused was in 

constant visual and physical contact with Defence witnesses”.147 The Defence asserts that the 

“body of evidence” adduced shows the consistency of the accused’s alibi as well as its 

probability.148  The Defence therefore avers that the testimonies were complementary and formed 

a coherent whole.  In support of its contention, the Defence cited Judge Pillay’s separate opinion 

in the Trial Chamber’s Judgement in Musema where she stated that the defence of alibi should be 

assessed in a comprehensive and general manner.149 Such coherent evidence should have enabled 

the Trial Chamber to give probative value to the alibi defence.150  Consequently, it submits that 

the Chamber’s piecemeal assessment of the alibi defence constitutes an error of law and affects 

the rights of the accused. 

103. As to how lack of precision in the indictment affects Ruzindana’s defence, the Prosecutor, 

recalling the arguments put forward in support of this specific ground of appeal, submits that the 

                                                 
143 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 34. 
144 Ibid., para. 40. 
145 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 124. 
146 Ruzindana’s Brief, paras. 36-39, T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 124. 
147 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 126. 
148 Ibid., p .206 (French). 
149 Ibid., p. 247. 
150 Ibid., p.380 (French). 



Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
Page 42 
 
 
Appellant had waived his right to raise this issue on appeal.151 She further contends that 

Ruzindana had failed to show that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact by rejecting his 

defence of alibi.152 

ii. Discussion 
 

104. The Appeal Chambers identifies three main issues raised by the Appellants: 

1. The burden of proof upon the Defence in the context of the defence of alibi; 

2. The approach adopted by the Trial Chamber to assess the defence of alibi raised by the 

accused; 

3. The Trial Chamber’s assessment of witness credibility and its evaluation of the evidence 

adduced in the context of the defence of alibi. 

(a) Burden of proof regarding the defence of alibi 

105. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred by imposing an impossible burden of 

proof on him when it required Defence witnesses to testify to the accused’s whereabouts at the 

time of the massacres.  In this regard, he relies specifically on the Chamber’s statements in 

paragraph 247 of the Judgement that “very little specific evidence was proffered [by Defence 

witnesses] as to the accused’s whereabouts during [the] execution of said massacres”.  The 

Appellant therefore contends that the Trial Chamber had shifted the burden of proof, thereby 

rendering the trial unfair. 

106. The Appeals Chamber considers that the defence of alibi implies that the person who 

raises it should establish before the Trial Chamber that objectively he was not in a position to 

commit the crime, particularly because he was in a place different from the one at which it was 

committed.  Rule 67 (A) (ii) of the Rules, same as the corresponding provision in ICTY Rules, 

covers the “Defence of alibi”. However, an alibi is based on evidence which the Accused intends 

to rely upon for an in-depth analysis of the Prosecution’s case in order to show that the 

Prosecution has failed to discharged the burden of proof that rests on it.  Now, since the 

                                                 
151 Ibid., pp. 197 and 198-199.  Concerning this point, see the section of this decision which deals with the ground 
relating to specificity of the Indictment (6) (B). 
152 Ibid., p. 206. 
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Prosecution cannot anticipate the argument the Defence will raise, it is incumbent on the Defence 

to give the Prosecution notice of such argument. But this does not constitute an actual “defence”.  

As ICTY Appeals Chamber pointed out in Čelebići: 

“It is a common misuse of the word to describe an alibi as a “defence”.  If a defendant 
raises an alibi, he is merely denying that he was in a position to commit the crime with 
which he is charged.  That is not a defence in its true sense at all.  By raising that issue, 
the defendant does not more that require the Prosecution to eliminate the reasonable 
possibility that the alibi is true”.153  (Emphasis added) 

107. The Appeals Chamber stresses that this position was followed recently in the Foca case, 

where ICTY Trial Chamber held that 

“The Prosecution bore the onus of establishing the facts alleged in the Indictment.  
Having raised the issue of alibi, the accused bore no onus in establishing that alibi.  It 
was for the Prosecution to establish that, despite the evidence of the alibi, the facts 
alleged in the Indictment were nevertheless true”.154] 

The Appeals Chamber recalls that in conformity with the principle of presumption of 

innocence, as enunciated in the Judgement,155 supra, it is the duty of the Prosecution to prove the 

guilt of the accused beyond reasonable doubt. 

108. Upon examining Kayishema’s arguments, the Appeals Chamber recalls that in a criminal 

case, the accused’s role at the level of preparation of the case should not be confused with his role 

at the trial stage before the Trial Chamber. 

109. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber notes that Rule 67 (A) (ii) of the Rules of Procedure and 

Evidence provides that when the Defence intends to enter the defence of alibi, in addition to the 

duty to notify the Prosecutor thereof, the accused must also provide the evidence upon which he 

                                                 
153 Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 581 : “It is a common misuse of the word to describe an alibi as a “defence”.  If 
a defendant raises an alibi, he is merely denying that he was in a position to commit the crime with which he is 
charged.  That is not a defence in its true sense at all.  By raising that issue, the defendant does no more than require 
the Prosecution to eliminate the reasonable possibility that the alibi is true”. 
154 Kunarac Trial Judgement, para. 625 : “The Prosecution bore the onus of establishing the facts alleged in the 
Indictment. Having raised the issue of alibi, the accused bore no onus in establishing that alibi. It was for the 
Prosecution to establish that, despite the evidence of the alibi, the facts alleged in the indictment were nevertheless 
true”. 
155 See also the section of this Judgement on fair trial (III, A, paras. 50-51). 
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intends to rely to establish his alibi.156 This rule, which applies at the level of case-preparation, 

only governs the reciprocal disclosure of evidence.  

110. The Appeals Chamber is therefore of the opinion that this provision places no onus of 

proof on the Defence, in that it does not require the Defence to prove the existence of the facts, 

but rather provides for disclosure of evidence in support of the alibi.  Thus, as reflected in Rule 67 

referred to above, the Defence is required to disclose to the Prosecutor the place or places at 

which the accused claims to have been present at the time of the alleged crimes and, if it so 

desires, produce probative evidence tending to show that since the accused was at a particular 

location at a specific time, there was cause for reasonable doubt as to his presence at the scene of 

the crime at the alleged time.  The accused is therefore at liberty to provide the Prosecution with 

such evidence as may establish the credibility of the alibi raised. 

111. Consequently, it is the opinion of the Appeals Chamber that the purpose of entering a 

defence of alibi or establishing it at the stage of reciprocal disclosure of evidence is only to enable 

the Prosecutor to consolidate evidence of the accused’s criminal responsibility with respect to the 

crimes charged. Thus, during the trial, it is up to the accused to adopt a defence strategy enabling 

him to raise a doubt in the minds of the Judges as to his responsibility for the said crimes, and 

this, by adducing evidence to justify or prove the alibi. 

112. In the instant case, the Defence contends that it was impossible at trial to produce 

evidence to prove alibi, since Kayishema was compelled to hide and could not disclose the 

location of his hide-out. The Appeals Chamber is aware of the fact that failure to prove an alibi 

must not be construed as an indication of the Accused’s guilt.157 However, the Chamber affirms 

that the issue of disclosure of evidence falls within the preparation of the case and precedes the 

production of evidence at trial. If the Defence is not in a position to produce evidence of the 

accused’s whereabouts, it is, nevertheless, at liberty to disclose to the Prosecutor, and then 

produce before the Trial Chamber, all evidentiary material likely to raise doubts as to the 

                                                 
156 Rule 67 (A) (ii) provides that “As early as reasonably practicable and in any event prior to the commencement of 
the trial: 
[…] (ii) The Defence shall notify the Prosecutor of its intention to enter:  (a) The Defence of alibi; in which case the 
notification shall specify the place or places at which the accused claims to have been present at the time of the 
alleged crime and the names and addresses of witnesses and any other evidence upon which the accused intends to 
rely to establish the alibi”. 
157 However, the Appeals Chamber is of the opinion that evidence showing solely that the accused was not present at 
the scene of the crime, without providing any specific alibi, does not, generally speaking, show proof of alibi. 
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accused’s responsibility for the crimes charged.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber holds that 

this cannot be considered as shifting the burden of proof at the trial. 

113. The Appeals Chamber recalls that at the trial stage, the Trial Chamber limited itself to 

assessing the evidence presented by the parties.  The Prosecutor must always prove the existence 

of the facts charged as well as the accused’s responsibility therefor.  The Defence, for its part, 

must produce evidence before the Chamber in support of its claims that the crimes charged cannot 

be imputed to the accused because of his alibi.  However, in that case, the burden of proof is not 

shouldered by the Defence. It is merely required to produce evidence likely to raise reasonable 

doubt regarding the case of the Prosecution. 

114. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Appellant takes issue with the manner in which the 

Trial Chamber exercised its discretionary power of assessment, since he avers in his written 

submissions that in assessing the evidence, the Chamber asked him to “produce”158 impossible 

evidence.  In the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, the Appellant’s reading and interpretation of 

the paragraph in issue is restrictive.159 

115. An overall analysis of paragraph 247 of the Trial Judgement shows that the Trial 

Chamber’s statements fit into the overall assessment of the testimony of Defence witnesses 

wherein the Chamber simply noted that the testimony of witnesses called by the Defence was not 

sufficient to levy a reasonable doubt as to Kayishema’s whereabouts during the massacres.  

Furthermore, it is the duty of the trial Judges to hear, assess and weigh the evidence adduced by 

the parties at the hearing.160 The Trial Chamber thus determines if a witness is credible and if the 

evidence presented is reliable.161 

116. The Appeals Chamber further holds that a reading of the Trial Judgement reveals that the 

Trial Chamber did not rely exclusively on Kayishema’s actual escape to determine the relevance 

of the alibi. The fact that Kayishema failed to prove his presence at the alleged hide-out seemed 

                                                 
158 It should be noted that the English version of the Judgement (original) is a bit different from the French version: 
in fact, in the original version of the Judgement, the Trial Chamber stated that “very little specific evidence was 
proffered (which may be translated as “présenté” or “proposé”) as to the accused’s whereabouts during their 
execution, whereas the French version uses the word “produire”.  This undoubtedly led the Appellant to interpret it as 
shifting the burden of proof. The Appeals Chamber notes that since the original is deemed authentic, it is therefore 
bound, in the instant case, by the English version which is authoritative. 
159 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 45. Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber required the Defence to specify the 
accused’s exact whereabouts at the time of the preparation of the massacres. 
160 Tadić Appeal Judgement, 1999, para. 64. 
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not to have been considered by the Chamber as a probative factor.  On the contrary, the Trial 

Chamber seems to have weighed the evidence presented and found, beyond reasonable doubt, that 

the accused was present at the scene of the massacres.  Indeed, it held that Defence witnesses had 

failed to produce sufficient evidence as to the accused’s whereabouts at the time of the 

massacres162 and that many contradictions had impaired the defence of alibi raised by the 

accused.163 It thus concluded that the alibi defence raised by Kayishema was without merit and 

that its credibility had not been sufficient to levy any doubt whatsoever against the Prosecution 

case.164 

117. After analyzing the Trial Judgement, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber 

had not imposed an impossible burden of proof on the accused nor shifted the burden of proof.  

The Trial Chamber had found, upon consideration of the evidence presented by the parties, that 

the evidence adduced in support of the alibi was not sufficient to give rise to a reasonable doubt.  

In the absence of any showing that the findings are unreasonable, the Appeals Chamber is 

satisfied with the assessment and, accordingly, dismisses this argument. 

(b) Approach adopted by the Trial Chamber to assess the alibi 

118. Ruzindana submits that the entire evidence presented covered, on the whole, his schedule 

and that such coherent evidence should have enabled the Trial Chamber to give probative value to 

the alibi defence.  During the hearing on appeal, Ruzindana cited the dissenting opinion by Judge 

Pillay in the Musema case.165 Thus, he asserts that the defence of alibi should be assessed in a 

comprehensive manner. 

119. It is incumbent on the Trial Chamber to adopt an approach it considers most appropriate 

for the assessment of evidence.  The Appeals Chamber must a priori lend some credibility to the 

Trial Chamber’s assessment of the evidence proffered at trial, irrespective of the approach 

adopted.  However, the Appeals Chamber is aware that whenever such approach leads to an 

unreasonable assessment of the facts of the case, it becomes necessary to consider carefully 

                                                                                                                                                               
161 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, 2000, para. 63 
162 Trial Judgement, para. 247. 
163 Ibid., paras. 249 to 256. 
164 Ibid., para. 257. 
165 Musema Trial Judgement, pp. 325 to 337 (Dissenting Opinion by Judge Pillay). 
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whether the Trial Chamber did not commit an error of fact in its choice of the method of 

assessment or in its application thereof, which may have occasioned a miscarriage of justice. 

120. Ruzindana submitted at the hearing on appeal that the Trial Chamber should have 

followed Judge Pillay’s dissenting opinion in its assessment of the evidence tendered by the 

Defence in support of the alibi.  The Defence submits that it tendered coherent and sufficient 

evidence to establish the probability of Ruzindana’s alibi.166 In its view: 

“Judge Pillay said that the defence of alibi ought to be envisaged in an overall manner, a 
general manner and not on a separate basis.  One witness testimony cannot support the 
defence of alibi of an accused to be able to prove, day by day, week by week.  The 
witnesses have to establish, to prove the defence of alibi of the accused, if they are taken 
together, on a day-by-day, week-by-week basis.”167 

121. The Appellant then proposed an alternative,168 namely that either the Appeals Chamber 

should uphold Judge Pillay’s opinion on the totality of the alibi or hold that the witness must 

necessarily be attached by the arm, 24 hours a day, for the period under consideration. 

122. In the instant case, the Trial Chamber adopted a different approach in its assessment of the 

evidence tendered in support of the alibi.  If such approach is reasonable, the Chamber is bound to 

respect it. 

123. The Trial Chamber’s analysis reveals that it did not only consider individual witness 

statements to determine whether or not they constitute probative evidence in support of the alibi 

raised, but it also conducted an overall assessment in order to verify their credibility.  In this 

overall assessment, which is part of a comprehensive analysis of Ruzindana’s alibi, the Trial 

Chamber found, besides the contradictions raised, that Defence witnesses were unable to provide 

the specific dates on which they had seen Ruzindana.169 The Trial Chamber also found that:  

“[…] Even if the evidence proffered by the Defence in support of alibi is accepted in its 
entirety, it remains insufficient to raise doubt in relation to Ruzindana’s presence in 
Bisesero at the times of the massacres”.  (Emphasis added) 170 

                                                 
166 T(A), p. 126. 
167 Ibid., p. 127. 
168 Ibid., p. 128. 
169 Trial Judgement, para. 271. 
170 Ibid., para. 272. 
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124. Regarding the argument that by not considering the alibi in its totality, the Trial Chamber 

committed an error,171 the Appellant has failed to show in what way the Trial Chamber’s analysis 

is so unreasonable that it caused a miscarriage of justice. 

(c) Trial Chamber’s assessment of the weight of evidence produced within the context of an 

alibi 

125. Both Kayishema and Ruzindana call into question the Trial Chamber’s assessment of 

evidence presented with respect to their alibis. 

126. Kayishema submits that by taking into account the accused’s failure to enter in his diary 

that he was in hiding, the Trial Chamber relied on a fact that means nothing to convict the 

Appellant.172 The Appeals Chamber notes that a reading of the Judgement reveals that this fact, as 

well as the issue regarding entries in the diary written in one language and in a different type of 

ink, was not given probative value but was rather considered in the Trial Chamber’s overall 

assessment of the evidence before it.173 In the light of the many contradictions raised,174 the Trial 

Chamber indeed held that the alibi raised by Kayishema was without merit. It thus found that the 

alibi was not sufficient to levy any doubt on the evidence against the accused. 

127. Secondly, Kayishema avers that by using such words as “amnésique” [amnesic] and 

“amnésie” [amnesia] in paragraphs 253 and 256 of its Judgement, the Trial Chamber showed that 

it lacked objectivity in its assessment of his alibi.175  The Appeals Chamber affirms that the 

authoritative version of the Judgement, namely the English version, does not contain these words, 

which, on the contrary, are couched in a neutral and objective context.  It further affirms that 

assuming that the Trial Chamber used the said words, such use does not suggest the Chamber’s 

bias or impartiality, which must, moreover, be established by the Appellant.  

128. Ruzindana, for his part, submits that all the testimonies favour the conclusion that he 

frequently went to this village for his shopping and that, at that time, it was logically impossible 

                                                 
171 T(A), 30 October 2000, p.128. 
172 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 46; T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 129 (French). 
173 Trial Judgement, paras. 240 and 257. 
174 The Chamber stated that there were contradictions particularly between Kayishema’s previous statements and his 
testimony at the hearing (though the Chamber did not rely on the simple fact that Kayishema failed to mention his 
alibi during his first questioning, it found as unsatisfactory the explanations on the disparities), between evidence 
adduced by Kayishema and the other testimonies and, finally, between the testimony of Witness DU, the testimony of 
the accused and that of his wife. 
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for him to participate in the commission of the crimes.176 He seems to call into question the Trial 

Chamber’s overall assessment of Defence witnesses.  In his Brief, the Appellant contented 

himself with listing a number of witnesses called in support of his alibi.177 In this connection, the 

Chamber recalls that it is not conducting a trial de novo.178 

129. The Appeals Chamber affirms once again that it is incumbent on the Trial Chamber to 

assess the credibility of a witness as well as the reliability of the evidence given by the parties.  

Therefore, the Appeals Chamber cannot and must not set aside the Trial Judge’s findings except 

when a reasonable court would not have relied on the evidence for its decision or when the 

assessment of the evidence is completely erroneous.  The Appeals Chamber stresses that it is the 

duty of the Trial Chamber to determine the probative value of each exhibit or witness testimony, 

based on their relevance and credibility. 

130. The Trial Chamber held, in the instant case, that the testimony of Defence witnesses 

seemed to be consistent and that, generally, they established the accused’s whereabouts during the 

period covered by the Indictment.  It however held that the evidence which tends to show that the 

witnesses saw the accused (only for a few minutes) so as to give the impression that the latter 

went on with his business, cannot constitute a sufficiently serious alibi to establish the absence of 

Ruzindana at the time the crimes were committed.179  As a result, the Trial Chamber found that 

those witnesses only sought to strengthen the impression that Ruzindana went on with his 

business activities.  It consequently held that the testimonies specified the accused’s whereabouts 

for only very limited periods of time180 and that it was therefore not established with precision 

and certainty that the accused was not present at the scene of the crimes charged. 

131. Although the period covered by the Indictment is long, the Trial Chamber found that 

Defence witnesses were unable to state the specific dates on which they had seen Ruzindana.  It 

thus held that the defence of alibi raised by the accused did not validly rebut the Prosecution case 

and consequently rejected the alibi raised by the Defence.  In this regard, the Appeals Chamber 

                                                                                                                                                               
175 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 47. 
176 Ruzindana’s Brief, paras. 36 to 39. 
177 Ibid., paras. 36 to 38 (The Defence calls into question the Trial Chamber’s assessment of Defence Witnesses Z, 
DC, DAA,DG, DD, DR, DW, DB, DL, DZ, DT, DQ, DS, DH, DF). 
178 See, for instance: “Decision relating to the Appellant’s motion for extension of time-limits and admission of 
additional evidence” in The Prosecutor v. Tadic, Case No. IT-94-I-A, 15 October 1998, ICTY Appeals Chamber, 
para. 41; see also, in the same connection, Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para. 40. 
179 Trial Judgement, para. 261. 
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observes that the Trial Chamber relied on the credibility of testimonies and, hence, its 

consideration of previous statements and their effects on the instant case, as the main criterion for 

the assessment of the accused’s alibi. 

132. In conclusion, Ruzindana has failed to show how the Trial Chamber’s findings are so 

unreasonable to the extent that they need to be corrected.  He has merely recalled the facts and 

concluded, in the light of such presentation, that an error has been committed.  The Appeals 

Chamber is also satisfied that the Trial Chamber did not commit any error in the exercise of its 

discretion in the assessment of the various testimonies. 

133. The Appeals Chamber therefore concludes that the Trial Chamber correctly applied the 

standard of proof beyond reasonable doubt and, accordingly, rejects these grounds. 

3.  Conclusion 

134. For the above reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the grounds of appeal by 

Kayishema (ground five) and Ruzindana (ground six). 

                                                                                                                                                               
180 Trial Judgement, para. 262. 
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D. Genocide 
 

1.  Kayishema’s Appeal: Grounds Four and Six: Allegations of Factual and Legal 
Errors in Respect of the Crime of Genocide 

 
(a) Arguments of the parties 
 
 
135. In respect of these two grounds of appeal,181 Kayishema raises various complaints mainly 

of a factual nature. First, he alleges that the Trial Chamber committed a series of errors in its 

factual determinations relating to (i) the existence of a genocidal plan (both on a national and 

regional level);182 (ii) the meaning of the French words “ratisser” and “travailler;183 (iii) the role 

of the civil defence programme;184 and (iv) the question of whether he possessed the requisite 

mens rea for the crime of genocide.185  Secondly, Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber 

erred in law in its interpretation of the word “killing” referred to in Article 2(2)(a) of the 

Statute.186 Thirdly, he appears to contest the charge brought against him pursuant to Article 

2(2)(c) of the Statute.187  In this connection, he complains that witness testimonies regarding 

sustained injuries were introduced without such corroborating evidence as medical certificates.188  

As to the remedy, the Appeals Chamber understands that Kayishema is seeking a reversal of the 

guilty verdicts. 

136. For its part, the Prosecution submits that Kayishema has failed to demonstrate that the 

Trial Chamber’s factual findings were unreasonable and that Ground Four and Six should, 

therefore, be dismissed.189 

                                                 
181 Kayishema Brief, paras 22- 43, 71-79, and T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 83-93.  The Appeals Chamber notes that 
errors relating to factual determinations on the civil defence programme were listed as an independent ground in the 
Notice of Appeal, pp 7-8.  Subsequently, in the Kayishema Brief, this ground appears to have been incorporated 
under the headings “A. ON THE GENOCIDE” and “B. INDIVIDUAL CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY”. 
182 Ibid., paras 23-43.   
183 Ibid., paras 92 and 100-101. 
184 Ibid., paras 84-91.   
185 Ibid., para. 72bis. 
186 Ibid., paras. 75-79.   
187 Ibid., para. 73.  Article 2(2)(c) of the Statute relates to genocide by “deliberately inflicting on the group conditions 
of life calculated to bring about its physical destruction in whole or in part”. 
188 Ibid., para. 74.   
189 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 165-172. 
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(b) Discussion 

 (i) Challenge to factual determinations relating to the crime of genocide 

137. The Appeals Chamber notes at the outset that, in respect of alleged errors of fact, the 

burden of showing that the Trial Chamber’s findings were unreasonable is on Kayishema.  This 

standard of appellate review means that the “task of hearing, assessing and weighing the evidence 

presented at trial is left” to the Trial Chamber. Hence, the Appeals Chamber must give “a margin 

of deference” to factual findings reached by the Trial Chamber.190  One aspect of such burden is 

that it is up to the Appellant to draw the attention of the Appeals Chamber to the part of the record 

on appeal, which in his view supports the claim he is making.  From a practical standpoint, it is 

the responsibility of the Appellant to indicate clearly which particular evidentiary material he 

relies upon. Claims that are not supported by such precise references to the relevant parts of the 

record on appeal191 will normally fail, on the ground that the Appellant has not discharged the 

applicable burden. 

a. Existence of a genocidal plan, the role of the civil defence programme and the 

interpretation of the words “ratisser” and “travailler” 

138. As regards the first three aspects of the alleged errors in the Trial Chamber’s factual 

determination, the Appeals Chamber makes the following observations.  Section V of the Trial 

Judgement, paragraphs 273 to 313, is devoted to the question of whether genocide took place in 

Rwanda and in Kibuye préfecture in 1994.  The Trial Chamber deemed it necessary to adjudicate 

upon this issue as part of its task “to make findings of fact based on the Indictment against the 

accused” and in order to allow for “a better understanding of the context within which 

perpetrators may have committed the crimes alleged in the Indictment”.192 The Trial Chamber 

underscored, however, that a finding that genocide took place in Rwanda was “not dispositive of 

the question of the accused’s innocence or guilt”.193 It further opined (and the Appeals Chamber 

agrees) that even though a genocidal plan is not a constituent element of the crime of genocide, 

                                                 
190 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 64, Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63, and Čelebiči Appeal Judgement para. 
506.   
191 References should be made to relevant transcript page(s) and/or exhibit(s). 
192 Trial Judgement, paras 273-274.   
193 Ibid., para. 273.   
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the existence of such a plan would be strong evidence of the specific intent requirement for the 

crime of genocide.194 

139. It follows from the Trial Judgement that the Prosecution’s case during trial was that a 

genocide of the Tutsi population was planned and executed by public officials, both on a national 

and regional level, in Rwanda during 1994.  The Prosecution, being unable to tender into 

evidence some official document outlining a genocidal plan, put forward a theory that such a plan 

could be inferred from the existence of such sufficient indicia as (i) the existence of lists of 

persons to be executed (targeting, inter alia, the Tutsi élite); (ii) the dissemination of extremist 

ideology through the Rwandan media; (iii) the use of the civil defence programme and the 

distribution of weapons to the civilian population; and (iv) the “screening” carried out at many 

roadblocks. The Trial Chamber considered that the relevant indicia had been proven by the 

Prosecutor.  Consequently, it held that “the massacres of the Tutsi population indeed were 

‘meticulously planned and systematically co-ordinated’ by top level Hutu extremists in the former 

Rwandan government at the time in question”.195 

140. As to the civil defence programme, the Trial Chamber found that it had become “[o]ne of 

the means by which an ordinary Rwandan became involved in the genocide” and that it was used 

”to distribute weapons quickly and ultimately transformed into a mechanism to exterminate 

Tutsis”.196 In respect of Kibuye préfecture, the Trial Chamber held that the massacres which took 

place there were pre-arranged and implemented by public officials.197 In this context, the Trial 

Chamber incidentally discussed certain written communications, involving Kayishema and other 

public officials, where the words “ratisser” and “travailler” appeared.198 It is not clear from this 

discussion what is the exact meaning which the Trial Chamber ascribed to these words. However, 

since the Trial Chamber appears to have relied upon these communications to conclude that the 

massacres in Kibuye préfecture were pre-arranged, it may be assumed that the Trial Chamber 

                                                 
194 Ibid., para. 276. 
195 Ibid., para 289.   
196 Ibid., para. 284.   
197 Ibid., paras 309 and 312.   
198 Ibid., para. 309.   
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interpreted them as relating to the killing of members of the Tutsi population, as alleged by 

Kayishema.199 

141. The Appeals Chamber understands Kayishema’s submissions in the following way.  He 

does not challenge the Trial Chamber’s findings that approximately 800.000 people, mainly 

members of the Tutsi population, were killed in Rwanda during 1994. However, he disagrees with 

its conclusion that these massacres were the result of a genocidal plan executed with the 

involvement of public officials.200 Kayishema appears to be suggesting that the killings were 

caused by “crowd psychology and paranoia” and “[a]n athmosphere of suspicion, revenge or 

denunciation over problems of land, livestock, weapons and even women”201. He asserts, in 

respect of Kibuye préfecture, that the Trial Chamber erred in not discussing events prior to 6 

April 1994 and that it failed to recognize that there was no reason to imagine that there would be 

events of such crucial importance in that area.202 

142. With regard to the civil defence programme, Kayishema submits that the notion that this 

programme became a springboard for the killing of Tutsis was a theory “designed to suit the 

needs of the Prosecution” and that this programme “did not exist on 25 May 1994 and, therefore, 

was not involved in the massacres of April 1994 in Kibuye”.203 He supports this contention with 

reference to certain questions put to Witness R204 by one of the judges during the hearing on 1 

October 1997205 and to Prosecution exhibits 54 and 337.  Referring to certain aspects of the 

testimony of Witness R and Prosecution exhibits 56 and 296, Kayishema further questions the 

Trial Chamber’s finding in paragraph 309 of the Trial Judgement on the basis that the Chamber 

misconstrued the words “ratisser” and “travailler”. He submits that these terms should be 

                                                 
199 Ibid., para. 309. See, however, paras 329, 330 and 539 where the Trial Chamber’s understanding of the word 
“work” is more explicit. 
200 He seeks to support this contention with references to Witnesses Pouget, Guichaoua, G and HH, (Kayishema’s 
Brief, paras 29-43), but without indicating the relevant transcript pages.  The only exact reference is the one to the 
testimony of Witness G where Kayishema states: “Witness G provides an excellent illustration when he testifies with 
regard to a certain Luveto (pp. 46 and 47 of the transcripts of 24 April 1997) that ‘before the war, I did not know 
much about him, I saw him go by, he was a man whose job was to carry luggage and his behaviour became known 
during the war’…‘it was during the events.  His character was revealed during the war but it was not madness, it was 
wickedness’.” (However, it seems that references to pages 46-17 [French transcript] are incorrect since it appears that 
Witness G discussed the matter in page 118 [French transcript]. (Kayishema’s Brief, para. 41). 
201 Kayishema’s Brief, paras 31-32.   
202 Ibid., para 29.   
203 Ibid., paras 84 and 88.   
204 Ibid., para. 83.  Witness R was one of several witnesses upon whose testimony the Trial Chamber relied in its 
determination on the function of the civil defence programme.   
205 See T., pp. 124-125.   
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understood in their ordinary sense.206  According to Kayishema, the former, put in context, means 

“to go and recover weapons that are the origin of the difficulties faced in Bisesero [sic]”.207 

143. As discussed above, the Trial Chamber answered the question whether genocide occurred 

in Rwanda and Kibuye in 1994 in the affirmative and found that it was the result of a plan 

executed with the involvement of public officials.  The Appeals Chamber observes that these 

findings were reached on the basis of substantive evidence, in particular that of Prosecution 

Expert Witness René Degni-Segui.208 The arguments advanced by Kayishema do not suffice to 

rebut the testimony of René Degni-Segui, or any other evidence upon which the Trial Chamber 

relied. He simply points to the evidence of Witnesses Pouget, Guichaoua, G and HH, which in his 

view, provides a basis for drawing different conclusions as to the relevant question.  In the 

opinion of the Appeals Chamber, that is not sufficient to establish a case that the Trial Chamber 

acted unreasonably. As noted by ICTY Appeals Chamber, “two judges, both acting reasonably, 

can come to different conclusions on the basis of the same evidence”.209 Accordingly, in his 

submissions, an appellant must not limit himself to proposing alternative conclusions that may 

have been open to the Trial Chamber on the basis of the evidence that was before it. In order for 

the Appeals Chamber to act, an appellant has to demonstrate that the particular findings made by 

the Trial Chamber were, in light of the evidence that was before it, unreasonable. The Appeals 

Chamber finds that Kayishema has not discharged that burden in respect of the Trial Chamber’s 

findings that the massacres, which took place in Rwanda in 1994, were the result of a genocidal 

plan executed with the involvement of public officials. 

144. On the whole, Kayishema’s submissions have little direct bearing on the Trial Chamber’s 

findings. For example, as far as the Appeals Chamber has been able to ascertain (no references to 

relevant transcript pages have been given by Kayishema), Witness Pouget gave evidence, inter 

alia, on crowd psychology in general, an issue which is not immediately relevant to the question 

whether a pre-planned genocide was carried out in Rwanda with the involvement of public 

                                                 
206 Kayishema’s Brief, paras 92, 100-101.   
207 Ibid., para. 92.   
208 During the second half of 1994, René Degni-Segui went to Rwanda on numerous occasions in his capacity as 
United Nations Special Rapporteur of the Commission on Human Rights.  As part of his mandate, he was responsible 
for submitting various reports to the United Nations on the human rights situation in Rwanda during the relevant 
time.  Some of these reports were tendered into evidence  during trial.  See also the testimony of Patrick de Saint-
Exupéry, Sister Julianne Farrington, Witnesses A, B, C, E, F, G, O, OO, R, RR, T, U, Z, DA, DM and documentary 
evidence in the form of Prosecution exhibits 52-58, 76E, 296, 328-331.   
209 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 64.   
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officials. Furthermore, it may well be the case, as suggested by Kayishema, that the testimony of 

Witness Guichaoua demonstrates that the situation in Kibuye préfecture was peaceful prior to 6 

April 1994 and that there were no reasons for suspecting that events would unfold the way they 

did. However, such a situation, in itself, hardly excludes the existence of a genocidal plan.  

Similarly, the parts, referred to, of the testimonies of Witnesses G and HH are peripheral to the 

issue at bar. 

145. With regard to the civil defence programme, the Appeals Chamber is unable to see how 

the Trial Chamber’s conclusion that the civil defence programme played a vital part in the 

execution of the genocidal plan was unreasonable. Also, this finding was based, to a large extent, 

on the evidence of René Degni-Segui.210 His testimony is, as previously noted, uncontested by 

Kayishema. The fact that another witness, Witness R, who also gave evidence on this point, was 

asked by one of the members of the Trial Chamber whether the expressions “auto defence” or 

“self-defence” could be understood to mean the extermination of Tutsis, cannot serve as a basis 

for concluding that the Trial Chamber’s findings on this point were unreasonable.211 Likewise, 

Kayishema’s argument that the civil defence programme did not exist on 25 May 1994 and, 

hence, could not have played a part in the genocide, is unpersuasive. In this context, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that Kayishema refers to a directive issued by Prime Minister Kambanda 

(Directives for Self-Organized Civil Defence) and to Prosecution exhibit 54. The former appears 

not to be part of the record on appeal and can, therefore, not be considered in support of the 

argument raised.212 As to the latter document (exhibit 54), which is a letter from Edouard 

Karemera, Minister of Interior and Communal Development, to all préfets regarding the 

implementation of Prime Minister Kambanda’s Directives for Self-Organized Civil Defence, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that it is inconclusive as to the question when the civil defence 

programme came into being. 

146. Regarding the challenge to the Trial Chamber’s construction of the words “ratisser” and 

“travailler”, the Appeals Chamber notes that several witnesses gave evidence as to the 

                                                 
210 Other relevant testimonies were those of witnesses C, F and R.  
211 T., 1 October 1997, p. 124, “Judge Ostrovsky: Please, could you please tell me. Here, in this document I see that 
it is mentioned, a particular expression is used, auto defence or a self-defence.  How could we understand these 
words?  Could we understand this as meaning the extermination of the Tutsis?  The Witness:  Indeed, this is what this 
word means or this term means because all the Tutsis were referred to as Inkotanyi, and self-defence or auto defence 
was what they used to say kill the Inkotanyi.” 
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connotations of the word “travailler”.213 However, as correctly pointed out by Kayishema, 

Witness R, in discussing the use of the word “travailler” in connection with Prosecution exhibit 

53, stated that, although recognizing that “[w]ork meant to kill, particularly when it referred to 

killing the Tutsis”, he would not interpret the word in such a way in relation to this particular 

document.214 Accordingly, the question may be asked whether the Trial Chamber’s reliance on 

exhibit 53 in paragraph 309 is misplaced.215 The Appeals Chamber, however, finds that this is not 

sufficient to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s overall finding relating to the existence of a 

genocidal plan executed with the assistance of public officials was unreasonable.  Regarding the 

construction of the word “ratisser”, the Appeals Chamber observes that Kayishema’s submissions 

amount to little more than an unsupported assertion that this expression in context means “to go 

and recover the weapons that are the origin of the difficulties faced in Bisesero [sic]”.216 As 

previously stated, it falls upon an appellant to demonstrate the unreasonableness of the factual 

findings that he contests. Kayishema has failed to do so. 

b. Mens rea 

147. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he possessed the requisite 

mens rea for the crime of genocide, a challenge which is limited to the factual aspects of the Trial 

Chamber’s finding.217 Accordingly, Kayishema does not take issue with the Trial Chamber’s 

conclusion in respect of how intent may be inferred. His argument is that Witness O gave 

evidence during the trial to the effect that Kayishema was responsible for the rescue of 72 Tutsi 

children, who had survived the massacre at Home St Jean Complex, and that the Trial Chamber 

                                                                                                                                                               
212 At the Appeals Chamber’s request, the Registry searched the record on appeal in order to ascertain whether this 
document was part of that record.  The Registry subsequently informed the Appeals Chamber that the answer to that 
question was in the negative.   
213 Witnesses D, E and F.   
214 T., 1 October 1997, pp. 118-119. 
215 This paragraph reads: “Evidence presented to the Chamber shows that in Kibuye préfecture the massacres were 
pre-arranged. For months before the commencement of the massacres, bourgmestres were communicating lists of 
suspected RPF members and supporters from their commune to the préfet.  In addition, the Prosecutor produced a 
series of written communications between the Central Authorities, Kayishema and the Communal Authorities that 
contain language regarding whether ‘work has begun’ and whether more ‘workers’ were needed in certain commune.  
Another letter sent by Kayishema to the Minister of Defence requested military hardware and reinforcement to 
undertake clean-up efforts in Bisesero.”  (Footnotes omitted.) 
216 Kayishema’s Brief, para 92. 
217 Ibid., para. 72bis.   
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failed to properly take this evidence into account.218 He submits further that this particular piece 

of evidence demonstrates his innocence.219 

148. The Trial Chamber found that Kayishema possessed the requisite “intent to destroy the 

Tutsi group in whole or in part”,220 which it inferred from the following factors: (i) the number of 

victims that were killed; (ii) the manner in which the killings were carried out (the methodology); 

and (iii) Kayishema’s utterances during and after the massacres.221 As submitted by Kayishema, 

Witness O’s evidence could be taken in support of the assertion that the 72 children, who had 

survived the massacres at the Home St. Jean Complex, were taken to the hospital upon 

Kayishema’s order.222 However, in determining the mens rea, the Trial Chamber assessed and 

weighed all relevant evidence that had been presented to it, including also other aspects of 

Witness O’s testimony.223 On the basis of such evidence, it found that it had been established 

beyond reasonable doubt that the requisite mens rea was present. 

149. The Appeals Chamber observes that in light of the overall evidence, the fact that the 72 

children may have been taken to the hospital pursuant to Kayishema’s instructions has little direct 

bearing on the question whether he possessed the requisite mens rea.  Accordingly, the Appeals 

Chamber finds Kayishema’s submissions to be unpersuasive and that he has failed to demonstrate 

the unreasonableness of the Trial Chamber’s conclusion. 

(ii) Challenge to the Trial Chamber’s interpretation of “killing” (“meurtre”) under 

Article 2(2)(a) of the Statute 

150. Kayishema appears to be contesting the Trial Chamber’s interpretation of the act of 

“killing” under Article 2(2)(a) of the Statute.224 The English version of the provision prohibits 

“killing members of the group” whereas the French equivalent uses the expression “meurtre de 

membres du groupe”. Kayishema argues that there is a difference between the act of “killing” and 

the act of “meurtre”, in the sense that the latter is restricted to unlawful and intentional killing.  

He submits that the Trial Chamber failed to uphold this distinction as it equated “meurtre” with 

                                                 
218 Ibid., paras 72bis and 81.   
219 Ibid., para. 81. 
220 Trial Judgement, para. 540.   
221 Ibid., para. 540.  See also paras 531-539.   
222 T., 13 October 1997, pp. 131, 185-188. 
223 Ibid., pp. 69-92, 96-103, 131-134. 
224 Kayishema’s Brief, paras 75-79.   
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“killing” within the context of genocide. Kayishema concludes that the Trial Chamber thereby 

erred “on a question of law within the meaning of Article 24 thus invalidating its Judgement”.225 

151. The Appeals Chamber understands the Trial Chamber’s reasoning to be that, if a doubt 

exists in the interpretation of a statute, the doubt must be interpreted in favour of the accused. The 

Trial Chamber considered that “meurtre” is not the same as “killing”.226 However, having regard 

to the operative part of Article 2(2) of the Statute, it found that “there is virtually no difference” 

between the two terms as the term “killing” is linked to the intent to destroy in whole or in part.227 

The Appeals Chamber accepts this view, but states that if the word “virtually” is interpreted in a 

manner that suggests a difference, though minimal, between the two terms, it would construe 

them both as referring to intentional but not necessarily premeditated murder, this being, in its 

view, the meaning to be assigned to the word “meurtre”. Yet, the Appeals Chamber still considers 

that such interpretation does not improve Kayishema’s case. His argument that the Trial Chamber 

erred and that the error invalidates its Judgement is therefore rejected. 

(iii) Alleged error relating to a charge under Article 2(2)(c) of the Statute 

152. Kayishema appears to be raising a complaint in respect of a charge brought against him 

under Article 2(2)(c) of the Statute and the giving of testimony without corroborating evidence in 

the form of medical certificates.  In his Brief, he submits the following: 

73. The initial indictment did not include the charge of “deliberate” infliction. This 
charge was only brought by the Prosecutor in the course of the proceedings without 
providing any serious or relevant rationale grounds for its inclusion. 

This new charge cannot, legally or in fairness, be ruled admissible as the accused is not 
afforded the opportunity to organize his defence. For that reason, the Appeals Chamber 
may wish to set aside any ruling on it. However, as further illustration of the futility of 
this charge, it must be stated that, in the instant case, evidence is yet to be adduced of the 
deliberate infliction on the Tutsi of conditions of life calculated to bring about their 
physical destruction in whole or in part. The suffering endured could not on its own 
result in death because the physical harm caused was not sufficiently grievous to achieve 
that objective, legally speaking of course, nor was the duration such as to achieve the 
said objective. 

[…] 

                                                 
225 Ibid., para. 79.   
226 Trial Judgement, para. 103.   
227 Ibid., para. 104. 
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74. The Prosecutor produced witnesses without a medical certificate prove [sic] that the 
injuries were sustained in the course of the events they were describing; physical 
examination should have been conducted between the period of interrogation by the 
investigators and the moment of testimony. Nowhere is justice satisfied with victims’ 
testimony of poor treatment and injury nor does it dwell on unprofessional data in 
determining the origin and gravity of such injury. 

Consequently, there is abundant evidence to the effect that the Prosecutor is not in a 
position to prove that deliberate infliction of conditions with the intention of killing did 
on their own result in death.228 

153. The Appeals Chamber observes that Kayishema’s submissions lack clarity.  In response to 

Kayishema’s arguments, the Appeals Chamber deems it sufficient to refer to the fact that it 

follows from the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber agreed with his position when it found 

that: 

[n]o evidence was proffered to show that the accused persons, or Kayishema’s de facto 
and de jure subordinates, deliberately inflicted, on the Tutsi group in Kibuye, conditions 
of life to bring about their physical destruction in whole or in part.229 

154. As to Kayishema’s arguments relating to the presentation of witness testimonies alleging 

sustained injuries without a medical certificate in support, the Appeals Chamber concurs with the 

opinion of ICTY Appeals Chamber that the testimony of a witness on a material fact may be 

accepted as evidence without the need for corroboration.230 

(c) Conclusion 

155. Based on the foregoing discussion, the Appeals Chamber finds that Kayishema’s 

arguments are unfounded.  The Appeals Chamber therefore holds that it has not been 

demonstrated that the Trial Chamber erred as alleged.  Consequently, Grounds Four and Six fail. 

                                                 
228 Kayishema’s Brief, paras 73-74.   
229 Trial Judgement, para. 548. 
230 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 65, Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 62, and Čelebiči Appeal Judgement, paras 
492 and 506.   
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2.  Ruzindana’s first and third Grounds of Appeal 
 
(a) Ground One: Allegations of Errors of Law in the Determination of the Mental Element of 
the Crime of Genocide 
 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 
 
156. In short, Ruzindana submits that “the legal findings of the Trial Chamber on the mens 

rea…are erroneous, thereby invalidating the [Trial] Judgement”.231  The Appeals Chamber 

understands his more detailed submissions as follows: the Trial Chamber erred by failing to: 

(i) “establish … [on his part] any explicit manifestation of intent to exterminate Tutsis”;232 

(ii) legally define “persistent pattern of conduct”, even though that concept was relied upon in the 

determination of the question whether the mental element of the crime was satisfied; and (iii) give 

a reasoned opinion.233 As relief, Ruzindana requests the Appeals Chamber to reverse the guilty 

verdict under Count 19 of the Indictment. 

157. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution made submissions on the first two aspects 

of this ground of appeal.  It argued, in short, that the Trial Chamber’s findings displayed no error 

on its part.234 In the view of the Prosecution, Ground One should be dismissed. 

(ii) Discussion 

a. Lack of explicit manifestations of intent 

158. The Appeals Chamber observes initially that the Trial Chamber, while acknowledging 

“the difficulty in finding explicit manifestations of a perpetrator’s intent”, held generally that such 

intent may be demonstrated by a pattern of purposeful actions and inferred from words and 

deeds.235 In respect of Ruzindana’s intent specifically, the Trial Chamber found that he “displayed 

his intent to rid the area of Tutsis by his words and deeds and through his persistent pattern of 

conduct” throughout the Bisesero area.236 Under the heading “Ruzindana’s Utterances”, the Trial 

                                                 
231 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 24.   
232 Ibid., para. 21.   
233 Ibid., para. 21.   
234 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 172-177. 
235 Trial Judgement, para. 527. See also para. 93 where the Trial Chamber held that “[t]he perpetrator’s actions, 
including circumstantial evidence … may provide sufficient evidence of intent”.   
236 Trial Judgement, para. 541. 
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Chamber stated that witnesses had heard Ruzindana, in connection with the attacks carried out on 

members of the Tutsi population in the Bisesero area, making statements about “not sparing 

babies whose mothers had been killed because those attacking the country initially left as 

children” and “Tutsi refugees [being] ‘the enemy’”.237 Furthermore, in respect of establishing 

intent by examining any pattern of purposeful actions, the Trial Chamber, under the heading 

“Methodology-Persistent Pattern of Conduct”, found that Ruzindana: 

did bring Hutu assailants to the sites in his vehicles.  Once at the site, Ruzindana directed 
attackers to kill and offered payment in exchange for the severed heads of well known 
Tutsis or identification cards of murdered Tutsis.  Ruzindana was seen carrying fire arms 
at many massacre sites.  The Chamber accepted evidence from witnesses who testified 
about overhearing conversations between the Hutu assailants who referred to Ruzindana 
as their patron.  Yet other witnesses affirmed that gendarmes, speaking among 
themselves, stated that they were not concerned about using too many bullets, because 
Ruzindana would purchase more for them.  As a result of Ruzindana’s consistent pattern 
of conduct, thousands of Tutsis were killed or seriously injured; men, women and 
children alike.238 

159. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber’s approach as to how Ruzindana’s 

intent may be determined does not display any error on its part.  As noted by the Trial Chamber, 

explicit manifestations of criminal intent are, for obvious reasons, often rare in the context of 

criminal trials. In order to prevent perpetrators from escaping convictions simply because such 

manifestations are absent, the requisite intent may normally be inferred from relevant facts and 

circumstances. Consequently, the approach adopted by the Trial Chamber in determining whether 

Ruzindana possessed the requisite mens rea for the crime of genocide corresponds to how courts 

would generally resolve such a question. 

160. Ruzindana contends that it was not demonstrated during the trial that he exhibited any 

anti-Tutsi sentiments or was affiliated to an extremist political party. The Appeals Chamber 

observes generally that neither of the two is a prerequisite as such for establishing genocidal 

intent, even though evidence of such a kind may be relevant to a determination of the mens rea. 

As to anti-Tutsi sentiments, it follows, however, from the Trial Judgement that the Trial Chamber, 

in discussing the mens rea, ascribed to Ruzindana certain utterances, which must be considered to 

carry anti-Tutsi connotations.239 Thus, contrary to Ruzindana’s assertion, the Trial Chamber 

found that anti-Tutsi sentiments on his part were demonstrated. Eventually, Ruzindana raises the 
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argument that it had not been established that he exercised de jure or de facto political, 

administrative or military responsibilities. This submission appears to be based on a 

misunderstanding. It is not necessary to establish that an accused exercised such responsibilities 

for a finding of individual criminal responsibility under Article 6(1) of the Statute to be made. 

161. Ruzindana contends further that certain witnesses ascribed to him a personal motive for 

his actions (such as the elimination of business competitors) and that “a person who commits a 

crime, in the quest of a personal goal, such as vengeance or lucre … is not guilty of genocide but 

of an ordinary crime”.240 The Appeals Chamber notes that criminal intent (mens rea) must not be 

confused with motive and that, in respect of genocide, personal motive does not exclude criminal 

responsibility providing that the acts proscribed in Article 2(2)(a) through to (e) were committed 

“with intent to destroy, in whole or in part a national, ethnical, racial or religious group”.241 

b. Failure to legally define “persistent pattern of conduct” 

162. As discussed above, the Trial Chamber, in assessing whether the requisite mental element 

of the crime of genocide was present, referred to the phrase “persistent pattern of conduct” in 

order to describe the nature of Ruzindana’s acts and the circumstances in which they were carried 

out. Thus, this phrase was used by the Trial Chamber as indicating a means of proof. 

163. The Appeals Chamber notes that a “persistent pattern of conduct” is not a legal ingredient 

of the crime of genocide as defined in Article 2 of the Statute and that the Trial Chamber relied on 

this phrase for purely evidential purposes in examining the question whether Ruzindana possessed 

the requisite mental element under that provision. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber can see no 

reason why the Trial Chamber would have been obliged to “legally define” it. 

c. Failure to provide a reasoned opinion 

164. Ruzindana elaborates his allegation that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to give a 

reasoned opinion by submitting that the Trial Chamber (i) “noted (para. 542 of the [Trial] 

Judgement) only the statement of Witness Z, who failed to give a compelling explanation as to 

how he was able to hear Ruzindana’s statements while he was on top of the hill”;242 and (ii) did 

not address certain Defence submissions to the effect that there were no facts present which 

                                                 
240 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 23, with references to the testimonies of Witnesses X, CC, EE and II. 
241 See also Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 269. 
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“offered proof of any special intent on [his] part, either in his earlier conduct or in his 

endorsement of a policy of extermination”.243 

165. The Appeals Chamber recalls that Article 22(2) provides that a Judgement “shall be 

accompanied by a reasoned opinion in writing”.244 ICTY Appeals Chamber has, in its 

interpretation of the corresponding provision in ICTY Statute,245 drawn from the case-law 

developed under the European Convention on Human Rights. In conformity with this 

jurisprudence, the extent to which a court is to provide a reasoned opinion must be determined on 

a case by case basis and courts are generally “not obliged to give a detailed answer to every 

argument”.246 The Appeals Chamber concurs with this understanding of the requirement of 

providing a reasoned opinion in writing, as laid down in Article 22 of the Statute and considers 

that it is sufficient for the Trial Chamber to explain its position on the main issues raised. Upon a 

review of the relevant parts of the Trial Judgement and the evidence, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that this requirement has been satisfied.247 

(iii) Conclusion 

166. On the basis of the foregoing analysis, the Appeals Chamber finds that Ruzindana’s 

arguments in respect of this ground of appeal are without merit.  In view of this, the Appeals 

Chamber is unable to conclude that the Trial Chamber erred as alleged.  Accordingly, Ground 

One fails. 

(b) Ground Three: The Trial Chamber erred in law in its finding on the role of Ruzindana in 

respect of the essential ingredients of the crime of genocide 

(i) Arguments of the parties 

167. In relation to this ground of appeal, although presented as alleging errors of law by the 

Trial Chamber in respect of its findings under Article 6(1) of the Statute, the Appeals Chamber 

understands that the substance of Ruzindana’s arguments discloses allegations of errors regarding 

                                                                                                                                                               
242 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 21.   
243 Ibid., para. 21.   
244 See also Rule 88(C) of the Rules.   
245 Article 23 of ICTY Statute.   
246 Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para. 69 referring to Van de Hurk v. The Netherlands, Judgement of 
19 April 1994, Eur. Ct. H. R. , Series A, vol. 288.  See also Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para 481.   
247 Paras. 541-545. 
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the constituent elements of the crime of genocide provided for in Article 2 of the Statute.248 He 

submits that the Trial Chamber did not address at law the means used to prepare for and commit 

genocide and, consequently, omitted conducting such an analysis in respect of the individual 

circumstances of Ruzindana. He alleges that the crime of genocide cannot be committed by 

isolated individuals or with trivial means. In support of his submission, Ruzindana refers to the 

final report of the Commission of Experts established pursuant to Security Council 

resolution 935.249 He submits that the Trial Chamber has not demonstrated that he, who was an 

ordinary trader, had the means necessary for the perpetration of genocide, be they material, such 

as arms and logistics, or “intellectual”, such as a position of authority over civilians and military 

personnel.250 Ruzindana further alleges that, by failing to establish a nexus between the modus 

operandi of genocide and the personal circumstances of the accused, the Trial Chamber erred in 

law.251 

168. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution submitted that Article 2 of the Statute 

requires neither proof that a person has certain financial or organisational means at his disposal 

nor proof that a particular organisation or genocidal plan is in place. It further submitted that the 

present case does not involve crimes committed by an isolated individual, as demonstrated by the 

Trial Chamber’s findings. According to the Prosecution, Ruzindana’s submissions are irrelevant 

and should be dismissed.252 

(ii) Discussion 

169. Article 2 of the Statute provides that “[g]enocide means any of the following acts 

committed with intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious 

                                                 
248 Ruzindana’s Brief, paras. 29-32. 
249 During the hearing on appeal, Counsel for Ruzindana submitted, “In support of my argument, I would like to refer 
to the final report of the experts which led to the establishment of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda 
pursuant to resolution 935 of the Security Council.  This committee of experts lead [sic] by Mr. Degni-Ségui, and in 
his report, Mr. Degni-Ségui said that the testimony showed clearly that violence in Rwanda were [sic] done not 
spontaneously by small groups, but by individuals, and I emphasise under the direction of a responsible commander, 
which [sic] undertook military operations, which presupposes a planned strategy and status that have been 
elaborated.”, T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 115-116. 
250 Ruzindana’s Brief, paras 30 - 31. 
251 Ibid., para. 32.; During the hearing on appeal, Counsel for Ruzindana submitted, “ I think, here, there is a missing 
link between the military authorities -- military, political and administrative authorities of Rwanda and the personal 
situation of the Accused.  This missing link has never been put where it should be put, neither by the Trial Chamber 
nor the Prosecutor and, by leaving out this missing link, the Trial Chamber did not give a legal basis for its decision, 
therefore, making an error in the question of law”, T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 117. 
252 T(A), 30 October 2001, pp. 180-182. 
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group, such as …”, the relevant acts in the instant case being genocide by killing members of the 

group and causing serious bodily or mental harm to members of the group. The Appeals Chamber 

finds that there is no legal ingredient in Article 2 of the Statute, which requires the establishment 

of a nexus between the manner in which a genocide was carried out and the personal 

circumstances of an accused. Similarly, the provision does not require proof that an accused had 

certain means at his disposal to prepare and commit genocide. The financial situation of an 

accused would normally not be of major importance to the question of whether he could be held 

liable for genocide. 

170. Furthermore, genocide is not a crime that can only be committed by certain categories of 

persons.  As evidenced by history, it is a crime which has been committed by the low-level 

executioner and the high-level planner or instigator alike.  Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber 

finds the above aspects of Ruzindana’s argument to be unpersuasive. 

171. As to Ruzindana’s argument that genocide cannot be committed by an individual in 

isolation, the Appeals Chamber notes that a reading of the Trial Judgement clearly reveals that 

Ruzindana was found guilty in respect of acts committed in concert with others, in the context of 

a full-blown genocide.  The Trial Chamber, for instance, found Ruzindana guilty of participating 

in numerous attacks, which took place on Tutsi refugees in the Bisesero area during April to June 

1994.253 He was also held responsible for killings which occurred during those attacks on the 

basis of common design.254 The Trial Chamber held that at the sites where Ruzindana had been 

found to have participated, he: 

committed one or more of the following acts: Headed the convoy of assailants; 
transported attackers in his vehicle; distributed weapons; orchestrated the assaults; lead 
the groups of attackers; shot at the Tutsi refugees; and, offered to reward the attackers 
with cash or beer.  The Trial Chamber further found that Ruzindana personally mutilated 
and murdered individuals during the attack at the Mine at Nyiramurego Hill.  These 
findings prove beyond reasonable doubt that Ruzindana, instigated, ordered, committed 
and otherwise aided and abetted in the preparation and execution of the massacre that 
resulted in thousands of murders with the intent to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group.255 

172. Undoubtedly, Ruzindana’s criminal conduct does not fit the description of a lone 

perpetrator. The much-debated question whether genocide could be committed by a person acting 

                                                 
253 Trial Judgement, paras. 570-571. 
254 Ibid., paras. 203-204, and 545. 
255 Ibid., para. 571. 
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alone does not arise in the present case. Consequently, this issue will not be addressed by the 

Appeals Chamber. 

3.  Conclusion 
 
173. Based on the foregoing analysis, the Appeals Chamber finds that Ruzindana’s arguments 

are unfounded. The Appeals Chamber is, consequently, unable to conclude that, the Trial 

Chamber erred as alleged.  Accordingly, Ground Three fails. 
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E. Articles 6 (1) and 6 (3) of the Statute 
 
174. Both Kayishema and Ruzindana allege errors by the Trial Chamber in respect of its 

findings under Article 6(1) of the Statute. Kayishema also alleges errors under Article 6(3) of the 

Statute. 

1.  Ruzindana’s Responsibility under Article 6 (1) 
 
175. During the hearing on appeal, Ruzindana grouped together three of his grounds of appeal 

relating to this issue: In Ground Two, he argued that the Trial Chamber erred in its findings 

regarding his individual responsibility; in Ground Four he argued that the Trial Chamber erred in 

its findings on the concept of common criminal intent; and in Ground Five he argued that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its findings regarding his personal status. 

176. The Appeals Chamber notes that the oral and written submissions by Ruzindana in 

relation to individual responsibility provide no assistance on the aspect of the alleged errors or the 

remedy sought by Ruzindana. Save for the submissions under Ground Two, the Appeals Chamber 

finds his arguments in Grounds Four and Five respectively, grossly inadequate with respect to the 

issue of individual responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. In Ground Four, the Appeals 

Chamber notes that Ruzindana raised this ground of appeal in his Notice of Appeal,256 but has not 

addressed or developed this ground in his Appeal Brief. During the hearing on appeal, Counsel 

for Ruzindana made brief reference to this ground but without addressing the alleged error made 

by the Trial Chamber or the relief sought by Ruzindana.257 In Ground Five, the submissions made 

in Ruzindana’s Brief258 and during the hearing on appeal259 do not correspond with the 

Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal,260 where Ruzindana alleges errors of fact by the Trial Chamber 

with regard to his personal status. Ruzindana’s submissions as appearing in Ruzindana’s Brief 

                                                 
256 Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal, Part III (A)(4), p. 5. 
257 “This takes us to the common plan, the common plan of having met physically or on telephone to undertake a 
common operation, in the case of the Tutsis, the genocide. The individual responsibility of the Accused, according to 
Defence, should be examined the specific context that planning and implementation of a genocide presupposes. I 
think that the Trial Chamber and the Prosecution cannot fall short on the explanation of the isolated acts of 
Ruzindana and the genocide carried out in Rwanda and, more specifically, in the Kibuye préfecture”, T(A), 30 
October 2000, p. 116. 
258 Ruzindana’s Brief, paras 29 – 32. 
259 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 114 – 117. 
260 Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal, Part III (B), entitled “Errors regarding the personal status of the accused”, p. 6. It 
was alleged that, “the Tribunal describes Obed Ruzindana as “a successful businessman” whereas no evidence was 
adduced in any consideration of the wealth, however approximate, of the Appellant. Similarly, the Tribunal 
emphasizes Obed Ruzindana’s influence on the population on the grounds that his father had been a bourgmestre in 
Mugonero, which is incorrect”. 
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and during the hearing on appeal are in fact arguments supporting his Third Ground of Appeal 

and are addressed accordingly under Ground Three. Thus, no argument was put forward in 

support of Ground Five, either in Ruzindana’s Brief or during the hearing on appeal. 

177. The task of the Appeals Chamber, as defined by Article 24 of the Statute, is to hear 

appeals from the decisions of Trial Chambers on the grounds of an error on a question of law 

invalidating the decision or of an error of fact which has occasioned a miscarriage of justice. An 

appellant must show that the Trial Chamber erred in law or in fact, and the Appeals Chamber 

expects his arguments to be directed to that end. In the Kambanda Appeal Judgement, the 

Appeals Chamber was confronted with a similar situation, where the appellant in that case put 

forward no arguments in support of certain grounds of appeal. The Appeals Chamber found 

nevertheless that in cases of errors of law it “is not wholly dependent on the arguments of the 

parties.” In such cases it found that it retained the discretion “in proper cases to consider an issue 

raised on appeal even in the absence of substantial argument.”261 The Appeals Chamber has 

decided to exercise its discretion to briefly address the questions raised in Ground Four, at the 

same time bearing in mind the fact that Ruzindana has failed to put forward arguments in support 

thereof. In the case of Ground Five, as the issue raised on appeal concerns errors of fact and as 

Ruzindana failed to put forward any argument thereof, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this 

Ground. 

178. The Appeals Chamber will consider Grounds Two and Four together where the Appeals 

Chamber identifies the issues raised as errors of law. 

179. The two specific issues to be addressed are whether the Trial Chamber erred in law: 

(i) By finding Ruzindana individually responsible for committing killings within the 

meaning of Article 6 (1) inasmuch as the Prosecution failed to establish a resulting 

death (Ground Two); and  

(ii) By failing to provide a clear definition of the concept of common intention or to 

apply the criteria thereof to Ruzindana’s personal situation (Ground Four). 

                                                 
261 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 98. 
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(b) Arguments of the parties 
 
180. Ruzindana submits that the Trial Judgement contains very little analysis on his individual 

responsibility. He notes that the Trial Chamber found that he incurred individual responsibility by 

committing killings with the intent to commit genocide.262 He further submits that the Trial 

Chamber admitted in paragraph 469 of the Trial Judgement that, in examining the alleged attacks, 

the Prosecution failed to establish a resulting death.263 He posits that his individual responsibility 

in the killings is thus not positively established.264 Ruzindana submits that either the killings are 

established and the material and intentional elements are present for him to be found guilty, or, if 

they are not, then he is to be acquitted.265 

181. Ruzindana also challenges the Trial Chamber’s findings that he and others knowingly 

participated in the attacks with common criminal intent. He submits that the Trial Chamber did 

not provide any definition of the concept of common intention. Ruzindana also alleges that in the 

instant case, his involvement in a collective enterprise of extermination has not been proven.266 

During the hearing on appeal, Counsel for Ruzindana submitted that Ruzindana’s individual 

responsibility should be examined within the specific context that the planning and 

implementation of a genocide presupposes, “the common plan of having met physically or on 

telephone to undertake a common operation, in the case of the Tutsis, the genocide”.267 

182. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution asserted that it is well established that for 

there to be a genocide, it is enough for the Prosecution to prove that one person was killed.268 The 

Prosecution points out that paragraph 470 of the Trial Judgement describes how Ruzindana 

mutilated and personally killed an identified woman. The Prosecution submits that although it is 

true that the Trial Chamber, in a previous paragraph of the Trial Judgement, stated that the 

Prosecution had not been able to link both perpetrators with the killings of named individuals, 

                                                 
262 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 25. 
263 Ibid., para. 27. 
264 Ibid. 
265 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 113. 
266 Ruzindana also submits that, “to the contrary, it has been proven that he did not usually reside in the Kibuye 
préfecture and that he had no political or other mandate that would have given him any authority over the local 
population, let alone over the army or gendarmerie”, Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal, Part III (A)(4), p. 5; 
267 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 116. 
268 Ibid., p. 178. 
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such is wholly irrelevant and the Trial Chamber has explained this reasonably.269 The Prosecution 

also refers to paragraph 570 and 571 of the Trial Judgement and submits that the Trial Chamber 

found, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Ruzindana caused the death of Tutsis at numerous places 

in the Bisesero area and was also found responsible for all types of complicity under Article 6(1) 

of the Statute.270 

183. The Prosecution has not responded to Ground Four.271 

184. In his reply, during the hearing on appeal, Ruzindana does not develop or respond to the 

Prosecution’s submissions but reiterates his main submission on Ground Two.272 

(b) Discussion 
 

(i) Error in finding Ruzindana individually responsible for committing killings within 
the meaning of Article 6 (1) by reason of the Prosecution’s failure to establish a 
resulting death 

 
185. Article 6(1) of the Statute provides that a person who “planned, instigated, ordered, 

committed, or otherwise aided and abetted in the planning, preparation or execution of a crime … 

shall be individually responsible for the crime.” This provision reflects the criminal law principle 

that criminal liability is not incurred solely by individuals who physically commit a crime, but 

may also extend to those who participate in and contribute to a crime in various ways, when such 

participation is sufficiently connected to the crime, following principles of accomplice liability. 

Article 6 (1) may thus be regarded as intending to ensure that all those who either engage directly 

in the perpetration of a crime under the Statute, or otherwise contribute to its perpetration, are 

held accountable.273 

186. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did, earlier in the Judgement, discuss 

the general principles relating to criminal responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. The 

relevant paragraph of the Trial Judgement reads: 

                                                 
269 Ibid., p. 179. 
270 Ibid., pp. 179-180. 
271 It is interesting to note that the Prosecution has not seen fit to respond despite the fact that this ground was validly 
filed.  
272 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 236-238. 
273 See Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 190 in relation to an identical provision in Article 7(1) of ICTY Statute; see 
also Kordić Trial Judgement, para. 373. 
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The Trial Chamber is of the opinion that, as was submitted by the Prosecution, there is a 
further two stage test which must be satisfied in order to establish individual criminal 
responsibility under Article 6 (1). This test required the demonstration of (i) 
participation, that is that the accused’s conduct contributed to the commission of an 
illegal act, and (ii) knowledge or intent, that is awareness by the actor of his participation 
in a crime.274 

The Appeals Chamber finds that this statement corresponds to the elements of individual 

criminal responsibility as set out, as follows, by the jurisprudence275 of this Tribunal and that of 

ICTY: 

1. The requisite actus reus for such responsibility is constituted by an act of 

participation which in fact contributes to, or has an effect on, the commission of 

the crime. Hence, this participation must have a direct and substantial effect on the 

commission of the illegal act; and 

2. The corresponding intent, or mens rea, is indicated by the requirement that the act 

of participation be performed with knowledge that it will assist the principal in the 

commission of the criminal act. 

Ruzindana does not challenge the Trial Chamber’s definition in relation to the elements 

that need to be satisfied in order to establish individual responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the 

Statute. However, he raises the specific issue of a material element required to establish 

responsibility for committing killings, namely “resulting death”. 

187. On the aspect of the legal element of “committing” referred to in Article 6 (1) of the 

Statute, the Appeals Chamber in the Tadić Appeal Judgement had occasion to consider an 

identical provision in Article 7 (1) of ICTY Statute and stated that: 

This provision covers first and foremost the physical perpetration of a crime by the 
offender himself, or the culpable omission of an act that was mandated by a rule of 
criminal law.276 

The Appeals Chamber accepts this statement as accurate. Thus, any finding of direct 

commission requires the direct personal or physical participation of the accused in the actual acts 

                                                 
274 Trial Judgement, para. 198, This test was drawn from the Tadić Trial Judgement applying identical provisions in 
Article 7 (1) of ICTY Statute.  
275 Tadić Trial Judgement, paras. 674 and 689; Čelebići Trial Judgement, para. 326; Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 
477. 
276 Tadic Appeal Judgement, para. 188, cited in Kordić Trial Judgement, para. 376. 
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which constitute a crime under the Statute, together with the requisite knowledge. For the present 

purposes, the Appeals Chamber sees no further necessity to attempt a detailed definition of what 

constitutes individual responsibility for the element of “committing” under Article 6 (1) of the 

Statute. It suffices to observe that according to the jurisprudence discussed, the element of 

“resulting death” is not an indispensable factor or element to be established in proving individual 

responsibility under Article 6(1) of the Statute. The Trial Chamber found, beyond a reasonable 

doubt, that Ruzindana was individually responsible for committing killings with the intent to 

commit genocide. In making this finding, the material fact of the resulting death is determined by 

the Trial Chamber in its assessment and weighing of the evidence, including witness testimonies, 

presented at trial. As held by the Appeals Chamber in the Tadić Appeal Judgement,277 the 

Aleksovski Appeal Judgement278 and the Čelebići Appeal Judgement,279 the Trial Chamber is best 

placed to hear, assess and weigh the evidence, including witness testimonies presented at trial. 

Whether a Trial Chamber will rely upon a single witness testimony as proof of a material fact, 

will depend on various factors that have to be assessed in light of the circumstances of each case. 

The Appeals Chamber therefore has to give a margin of deference to the Trial Chamber’s 

evaluation of the evidence presented at trial. 

188. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber recalls the relevant factual conclusions vis-à-vis 

Ruzindana280 in the Trial Judgement in respect of the massacres in the area of Bisesero: 

(1) After reviewing the witness testimonies and Prosecution exhibits, the Trial Chamber was 

satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Ruzindana was properly identified by Prosecution 

Witnesses FF, PP, OO, II, JJ, NN, HH, UU, W, EE, Z, KK, RR and MM, as having participated in 

one or more of the assaults;281 

(2) The Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Ruzindana brought 

members of the gendarmerie nationale, communal police, members of the Interahamwe and 

armed civilians to the area of Bisesero and directed them to attack those Tutsis seeking refuge;282 

                                                 
277 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 65. 
278 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63. 
279 Čelibići Appeal Judgement, para. 506. 
280 Ground Seven of Ruzindana’s appeal in relation to the issue of appraisal of the testimony of the prosecution 
witnesses and reliability of eye witnesses is discussed in Section III (F). 
281 Trial Judgement, para. 461. 
282 Ibid., para. 465. 
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(3) The Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Ruzindana personally 

attacked Tutsis seeking refuge during the assaults described in Bisesero;283 

(4) The Trial Chamber was left with no doubt that Ruzindana aided and abetted the killings, 

through orchestration and direction, and through his provision of transportation and weapons. The 

evidence proves that Ruzindana personally assisted in attacks that resulted in the killings of Tutsi 

civilians;284  

(5) The Trial Chamber was satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Ruzindana mutilated 

and personally killed Beatrice;285 

(6) All survivor witnesses attested to the fact that thousands were killed in the Bisesero area 

during April through June 1994. Witnesses, including Dr. Haglund and several journalists, 

confirmed this fact. Kayishema himself testified that massive burial efforts had taken place in this 

area.286 

189. Ruzindana has relied on the finding of the Trial Chamber in paragraph 469 of the Trial 

Judgement wherein it was observed that “…. [c]ases of personal killing by […] Ruzindana 

relating to specific individuals is less certain [...] in most instances where a witness testified to 

one or both of the accused shooting at a refugee, the Prosecution failed to establish a resulting 

death.” Furthermore, during the hearing on appeal, Counsel for Ruzindana submitted that “the 

Trial Chamber is saying that the Prosecutor did not manage to prove that the death of men, 

women and children followed the acts of the Accused.”287 In making these submissions, 

Ruzindana limited his argument to the issue of his individual responsibility for “committing” the 

killings. The Appeals Chamber notes that in respect of personal killings relating to specific 

individuals, the Trial Chamber had found Ruzindana responsible, beyond a reasonable doubt, for 

the death of one Beatrice.288 More particularly, individual responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the 

Statute attaches not only to direct physical participation by the accused in the commission of the 

crime, but also to acts of participation which in fact contribute to, or have an effect on, the 

                                                 
283 Ibid., para. 467. 
284 Ibid., para. 468. 
285 Ibid., para. 470. 
286 Ibid., para. 471. 
287 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 237. 
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commission of the crime. Ruzindana has failed to challenge the findings of the Trial Chamber 

with regard to the other forms of participation under Article 6 (1) of the Statute for which he was 

found individually responsible. 

190. The Appeals Chamber recalls that Ruzindana was found individually responsible under 

Article 6 (1) of the Statute, not only for committing killings with the intent to commit genocide 

but  also for instigating, ordering, committing and otherwise aiding and abetting in the preparation 

and execution of the massacre that resulted in thousands of murders with the intent to destroy the 

Tutsi ethnic group in Bisesero area.289 As discussed above, the issue of resulting death is not a 

legal element in the determination of criminal responsibility under Article 6(1) of the Statute; it 

can be an evidential factor in the proof of such a responsibility. Accordingly, the Appeals 

Chamber is satisfied that it was open to the Trial Chamber to assess the evidence before it in order 

to establish whether death resulted. In fact, such an assessment enabled it to find beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Ruzindana’s acts and omissions constituted an adequate form of 

participation for the purpose of ascribing criminal responsibility under Article 6 (1) of the Statute. 

(ii) Error by failing to provide a clear definition of the concept of common intention 
and to apply the criteria thereof to Ruzindana’s personal situation 

 
191. As earlier noted, Ruzindana has failed to develop Ground Four relating to the concept of 

common intention.  However, the Appeals Chamber understands the substance of Ruzindana’s 

limited submissions as alleging errors of law by the Trial Chamber in its definition of criminal 

responsibility on the basis of participation in a common purpose or design within the scope of 

Article 6 (1) and its application thereof to Ruzindana. Although it did not discuss in detail the 

exact principles by which individuals will be held criminally responsible for participating in a 

common purpose or design, the Trial Chamber did, in its Judgement, discuss what is widely 

known as the “common purpose” doctrine. It cited the following statement from the Trial 

Chamber in the Čelebići Judgement: 

“….a plan exists, or where there otherwise is evidence that members of a group are 
acting with a common criminal purpose, all those who knowingly participate in, and 
directly and substantially contribute to, the realisation of this purpose may be held 
criminally responsible.. and…[d]epending upon the facts of a given situation, the 

                                                                                                                                                               
288 Ruzindana appeared to be selective in his reference to the Trial Judgement and failed to refer to the findings of his 
responsibility for the killing of Beatrice. Furthermore, this finding was not challenged by Ruzindana during the 
hearing on appeal. 
289 Trial Judgement, para. 571. 
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culpable individual may, under such circumstances, be held criminally responsible either 
as a direct perpetrator of, or as an aider and abettor to, the crime in question.”290 

Immediately after this citation, the Trial Chamber stated: 

The Trial Chamber concludes, therefore, that the members of such a group would be 
responsible for the result of any acts done in furtherance of the common design where 
such furtherance would be probable from those acts.291 

The statement has to be read in the context of its reference to the Čelebići Judgement and 

of the conclusion of the Trial Chamber. Thus read, it appears to have been intended to refer to the 

liability of a person who knowingly participates in a criminal venture with others and may be held 

responsible for the criminal acts that result from their common purpose. 

192. The Appeals Chamber does not consider that Ruzindana’s submissions establish that the 

Trial Chamber erred in its findings as such. It will be helpful to recall that the Trial Chamber was 

satisfied, from all the evidence accepted, that: 

[T]he perpetrators of the culpable acts that occurred within the Kibuye préfecture, during 
the period in questions[sic], were acting with a common intent and purpose. That intent 
was to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group within Kibuye. Both Kayishema and Ruzindana 
played pivotal roles in carrying out this common plan.292 

Ruzindana’s submissions on this issue do not demonstrate the alleged error. Further, his 

submissions have been set out in such general terms that, in the absence of any argument or 

authorities in support thereof, the Appeals Chamber cannot determine the merits of the 

submission in law or in fact. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it is the duty of an appellant to 

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred and to direct his submissions to this end. 

193. During the hearing on appeal Counsel for Ruzindana submitted that Ruzindana’s 

individual responsibility should be examined within the specific context that planning and 

implementation of a genocide presupposes “….the common plan of having met physically or on 

telephone to undertake a common operation…”. Ruzindana appears to be alleging a specific 

requirement for proof of a prearranged common plan or operation in relation to criminal 

responsibility pursuant to the common purpose doctrine.  The Appeals Chamber does not agree 

with this interpretation and recalls the following summary given in the Tadić Appeal Judgement: 

                                                 
290 Trial Judgement, para. 203, citing Čelebići Trial Judgement, para. 328.  
291 Ibid., para. 204. 
292 Ibid., para. 545. 
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In sum, the objective elements (actus reus) of this mode of participation in one of the 
crimes provided for in the Statute (with regard to each of the three categories of cases) 
are as follows: 

i. A plurality of persons. They need not be organized in a military, political, or 
administrative structure… 

ii. The existence of a common plan, design or purpose which amounts to or 
involves the commission of a crime provided for in the Statute. There is no necessity for 
this plan, design or purpose to have been previously arranged or formulated.  The 
common plan or purpose may materialize extemporaneously and be inferred from the 
fact that a plurality of persons acts in unison to put into effect a joint criminal enterprise. 

iii. Participation of the accused in the common design involving the perpetration of 
one of the crimes provided for in the Statute.  This participation need not involve 
commission of a specific crime under one of those provisions (for example, murder, 
extermination, torture, rape, etc.), but may take the form of assistance in, or contribution 
to, the execution of the common plan or purpose.293 

Thus, there is no requirement that the plan or purpose must be previously arranged or 

formulated. Accordingly, while the fact of “having met physically or on telephone to undertake a 

common operation” may be a relevant factor to be considered, it is not constitutive of the actus 

reus element required for criminal responsibility pursuant to the common purpose doctrine. The 

submission in question is without merit. As noted above, the Trial Chamber found that Ruzindana 

played a pivotal role in carrying out the common plan which was the destruction of the Tutsi 

ethnic group within Kibuye. In addition, the Trial Chamber also found that at the sites where he 

was found to have participated, Ruzindana had not only been involved in the commission of 

crimes but his actions also assisted in and contributed to the execution of the joint criminal 

enterprise in various ways.294 Ruzindana’s submissions have failed to challenge these findings. 

(c) Conclusion 

194. Ruzindana has not demonstrated any error of law invalidating the Trial Judgement in the 

Trial Chamber’s assessment of his individual criminal responsibility. For the foregoing reasons, 

Grounds Two and Four of the appeal are dismissed. 

                                                 
293 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 227. 
294 At para. 571 of the Trial Judgement it was stated that, “…[A]t the sites where he was found to have participated, 
Ruzindana committed one or more of the following acts: Headed the convoy of assailants; transported attackers in his 
vehicle; distributed weapons; orchestrated the assaults; lead the groups of attackers; shot at the Tutsi refugees; and, 
offered to reward the attackers with cash or beer.  The Trial Chamber further found that Ruzindana personally 
mutilated and murdered individuals during the attack at the Mine at Nyiramurego Hill.  These findings prove beyond 
reasonable doubt that Ruzindana, instigated, ordered, committed and otherwise aided and abetted in the preparation 
and execution of the massacre that resulted in thousands of murders with the intent to destroy the Tutsi ethnic group.” 
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2.  Kayishema’s Responsibility under Article 6 (1) 
 

195. Kayishema contends that the findings of the Trial Chamber, in respect of the elements of 

responsibility are questionable (Ground 3), and challenges the Trial Chamber’s assessment with 

respect to: 

- The intent of the Accused;295 

- The actual participation of the Accused.296 

(a) The Intent of the Accused 

196. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in finding beyond a 

reasonable doubt, that the Accused, by his acts, had contributed to the commission of the crime or 

contributed substantially to its perpetration.297 

(i) Arguments of the Parties 
 

197. The Defence offers its interpretation of the civil defence298 concept and of the terms 

"ratisser" and "travailler".299 It concludes from the analysis of these terms that the Trial Chamber 

erred in law and in fact300 in its assessment of the evidence presented.301 Kayishema further 

                                                 
295 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 80-103. 
296 Ibid., paras. 104-229 
297 Ibid., para. 81. The Defence relies inter alia on the testimony of Witness O, which was allegedly discounted by 
the Trial Chamber, though it proved the Accused’s intention to save Tutsi children. 
298 Ibid., paras. 83 and following. In the opinion of the Defence the theory that the Rwandan genocide was 
implemented through the civil defence programme is a distortion of reality. The Appellant thus cites the testimony of 
“R” whose “unwarranted interpretation”, according to him, appears to be slanted to fit the Prosecution theory. In 
other words, the Prosecutor allegedly “made use of the idea of “civil defence” (Kayishema’s Brief, para. 86). 
Kayishema submits that in the absence of certainty, the Chamber may not speculate (para.93). See also Kayishema’s 
Brief, para. 98. According to Kayishema, the Prosecutor failed to show the existence of  a “diversion” of the civil 
defence programme. Consequently “in fairness and for the benefit of a presumption of innocence, […] [it should] be 
understood within the meaning conveyed by the documents, upon a simple reading thereof”. 
299 Ibid., para. 92. The Defence submits that by the use of the word “ratisser” Kayishema did not mean “to wipe out 
the Tutsis” and that in placing these words in their context, it can readily be concluded that they meant “to go and 
recover weapons” (Exhibit 296 – telegraph of 12 June 1994). See also Kayishema’s Brief, para. 100. 
300 Ibid., paras. 101-103. Kayshema submits that the Chamber erred in paragraphs 309, 310 (Witness O) and 311 
(Sister Farrington) of the Judgement, without further explanations. 
301 The Appeals Chamber notes that, during the hearing on appeal, the Prosecutor did not specifically respond to the 
arguments raised by Kayishema on the allegations respecting the use of the words “ratisser” and “travailler” as well 
as the interpretation of the concept of civil defence under the individual responsibility of the Accused.  



          Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
          Page 79 
 
 
argues in an unclear manner, that the Chamber erred in equating failure to act with aiding and 

abetting.302 

(ii) Discussion 

198. In line with the relevant international case law, referred to in the foregoing analysis, a 

person may be held criminally liable for any conduct, where it is determined that he participated 

knowingly in the commission of a crime, if his participation directly and substantially contributed 

to the perpetration of the crime.303 The intent to participate in the commission of a crime may thus 

be inferred from the accused’s participation, particularly from his aiding and abetting. Ultimately, 

and as acknowledged by the Trial Chamber, there must on the part of the Accused be a clear 

awareness that this participation will lead to the commission of a crime.”304 That intention may be 

inferred from a number of facts,305 the assessment of which falls to the Trial Chamber. The Trial 

Chamber properly exercised its discretion, and found beyond a reasonable doubt that the Accused 

had the requisite intent. The Trial Chamber also found, upon review of the evidence adduced, that 

it was clearly established that Kayishema was present at each of the massacre sites, and that he 

had the intent to participate in the crimes perpetrated at these sites.306 

199. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema’s arguments on the Trial Chamber’s 

erroneous interpretation of the concept of civil defence as well as the terms “ratisser” and 

“travailler” have been dealt with under the ground on genocide. Insofar as these arguments 

constitute, in the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, a question that goes beyond the issue of 

individual responsibility and falls under either the separate ground on civil defence (Ground 4), or 

the separate ground of genocide (Ground 6),307 the Appeals Chamber refers to its analysis in the 

previous section on genocide. 

                                                 
302 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 95. Kayishema challenges the finding that by his presence at the site of the crime, he 
aided and abetted in the commission of the crimes perpetrated at the various massacre sites. In his submission, failure 
to act cannot be construed as a positive act and that “even passive presence at the scene  does not constitute aiding 
and abetting”. 
303 Tadić Trial Judgement, 1997, para. 674. The requirement of intent under Article 6 (1) thus includes knowledge of 
the act of participation and a conscious decision to participate by planning, instigating, ordering, committing or 
otherwise aiding and abetting in the preparation of a crime. 
304 Trial Judgement, para. 203. 
305 Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 478. 
306 See for example, Trial Judgement, para. 352 (for the facts relating to the Catholic Church and Home St.-Jean), 
para. 76 (the Stadium), para. 404 (Mubuga Church) as well as paras. 461 and 468 (Bisesero). 
307 The Appeals Chamber specifies that the Defence had moreover raised this issue in its Notice of Appeal under the 
ground on genocide and civil defence. See Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, pp. 7 and 8. See also T(A), 
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200. Regarding the argument on the Trial Chamber equating failure to act with aiding and 

abetting, Kayishema argues nebulously, that this was a consequence of the absence of the 

requisite intent which he had intended to show earlier.308 

201. On the specific question of the passive presence of the Accused at the crime sites,309 the 

Trial Chamber held that: 

“[…] an approving spectator who is held in such respect by the other perpetrators that his 
presence encourages them in their conduct, may be guilty of complicity in a crime 
against humanity”.310 

Thus, the Trial Chamber found that a person’s role in the commission of the proscribed act need 

not be tangible.311 Even where the presence of the Accused need not be a condition sine qua non, 

he may still incur individual responsibility provided he is aware of the possible effect of his 

presence (albeit passive) on the commission of the crime. In the case at bar, the Trial Chamber 

held that the Accused’s failure to oppose the killing constituted a form of tacit encouragement in 

light of his position of authority.312 The Trial Chamber therefore found, based on the evidence 

presented by the parties, that the participation of the Accused, through encouragement and 

support afforded to the principals of the crimes committed at the various massacre sites, had been 

established beyond reasonable doubt.313 

                                                                                                                                                               
30 October 2000, pp. 80 to 88 and, in particular, pp. 85 and 86 (Civil defence) and 86 to 88 (“ratisser” and “ 
travailler”). 
308 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 95. Indeed, Kayishema presents this argument as part of what apparently is a discussion 
on the interpretation of the concept of civil defence (see para. 94). He submits that: “The Prosecutor insists on using 
the words “aiding and abetting” and in her opinion, these words should not be considered in the active voice, but that 
its examination should include the passive voice, that is considering failure to act as a positive act, aiding or abetting. 
[…]. Thus, for the Prosecution, even passive presence at the site of the crime constitutes aiding and abetting”. 
309 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 162, citing Furundžija Trial Judgement, para. 249, which sets forth two 
requirements for aiding and abetting: “(i) It must be demonstrated that the accomplice committed acts intended to 
specifically aid, abet or give moral support to the principal perpetrator for the commission of the specific offence, and 
that such support had a substantial effect on the commission of the offence; and (ii) It must be shown that the 
accomplice knew that his acts furthered the commission of the specific offence by the principal”. 
310 Trial Judgement, para. 200, citing Furundžija Trial Judgement , para. 207. The Furundžija case established inter 
alia that “assistance must have a substantial effect on the perpetration of the crime” (para. 234). 
311 See also Furundžija Trial Judgement, para. 232, where it was held that the assistance given by an accomplice 
need not be tangible and can consist of moral support in certain circumstances. While any spectator can be said to be 
encouraging a spectacle - an audience being a necessary element of a spectacle - the spectator in these cases was only 
found to be complicit if his status was such that his presence had a significant legitimizing or encouraging effect on 
the principals” (emphasis added) 
312 Trial Judgement, para. 202. 
313 Ibid., paras. 352, 404 and 468. 
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202. The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber did not err in law or in fact in 

finding that the Accused did possess the criminal intent, and that consequently his presence, albeit 

passive, considering his position of authority, was tantamount to tacit encouragement. 

(b) The issue of the overall assessment of the Accused’s effective participation 

203. The Appeals Chamber observes that since several arguments are often adduced in support 

of various allegations, it was not easy to follow the opaque structure of Kayishema’s submissions. 

The Appeals Chamber has decided, for purposes of clarity, to restructure the presentation of 

arguments in support of this ground of appeal. 

204. It was the Defence’s intention to challenge the Trial Chamber’s overall assessment of 

witnesses based on three main points which the Appeals Chamber would summarize as follows: 

(a) the implementation of the approach adopted by the Trial Chamber; (b) assessment of the 

credibility of evidence; and (c) the effective participation of the Accused at the various massacre 

sites. 

(i) The issue of the Trial Chamber’s approach in assessing the evidence presented 

205. Kayishema challenges, generally, the Trial Chamber’s approach in assessing evidence 

since he argues that the Trial Chamber committed errors of fact occasioning a miscarriage of 

justice. 

a. Arguments of the parties 
 

206. In support of his argument that the Trial Chamber erred in applying its adopted approach, 

Kayishema submits the following: 

- Kayishema claims that the Trial Chamber failed to follow the rule enunciated by 

Expert Witness Pouget regarding consistent testimony of witnesses or applied said 

rule selectively314. 

                                                 
314 Kayishema’s  Brief, paras. 106 and 107. The Defence submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in failing to 
assess the witnesses’ evidence in the light of the standard proposed by the expert even though it did not challenge it. 
In the submission of the Accused, the Trial Chamber concurred with Professor Pouget that consistent testimony, 
although it is not a criterion for assessing the reliability of witnesses, is nevertheless a factor to be taken into account. 
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- Kayishema claims that the Trial Chamber erred in fact in adopting a narrow 

approach in its assessment of testimonial evidence. Thus, Kayishema maintains 

that the Trial Chamber failed to sufficiently take into account the issue of leading 

questions put to the witnesses by the investigators from the Office of the 

Prosecutor during interviews or the time that elapsed between the events and the 

time when said events were recounted to the investigators. He submits that he had 

raised this issue on several occasions and that the failure to consider such a 

“crucial factor” constitutes an error.315  

- Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber admitted a document (by the Expert 

Lindsay) filed out of time by the Prosecution, in violation, of the principle of 

equality of arms.316 

- Kayishema claims that the Trial Chamber failed to take into account Rwanda’s 

specific culture that is characterized particularly by oral tradition.317 

- Lastly, Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber’s failure to refer to the 

Defence’s objections318 with respect to the contradictions between the witnesses’ 

oral testimony and prior statements, shows that the Chamber did not take into 

account the Defence’s objections with respect to the assessment of evidence and, 

therefore, erred in its assessment of the evidence. 

207. The Appeals Chamber notes that during the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution did not 

respond to such arguments and that Kayishema did not elaborate on them319.  

                                                                                                                                                               
However, at the hearing on Appeal, the Defence submitted that “[It is not the method that was used  which is being 
criticized susceptible to Article 24 but it is the use that was made” (See T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 222 and 223). 
315 Ibid., para. 121. 
316 Ibid., para. 108. Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber dismissed Professor Pouget’s expert evidence in 
favour of Lindsay’s. 
317 Ibid., paras. 109 and 117. Kayishema claims that the Trial Chamber fails to take due account of the specific 
concepts of hearsay and the Rwandan culture, language and translation problems (See also Kayishema’s Brief, para. 
111bis). 
318 Ibid., para. 120. The Defence submits that the Chamber failed to adhere to the principles it had defined itself and 
this to the detriment of the Accused, since there is no reference to the Defence’s objections. He submits that since the 
Trial Chamber did not mention the objections raised by the Defence, it did not consider them in its final assessment. 
In Kayishema’s opinion, the Chamber therefore did not want to deal with the entire problem raised about depositions. 
319 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 218-233. 
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b. Discussion 
 
 
208. In light of the arguments of the Defence, the Appeals Chamber is unable, after reviewing 

the Judgement, to identify any particular approach allegedly relied on by the Trial Chamber in 

assessing the evidence presented by the parties. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that 

the Trial Chamber clearly stated its position with respect to the assessment of evidence320 and 

quite logically found that, notwithstanding its interest in the information provided by Professor 

Pouget, the Trial Chamber must assess the probative value of each testimony, which is a usual 

approach. It appears that in this regard, the Trial Chamber took due account of and analysed the 

arguments put forward by the expert witness321 regarding the unreliability of eye-witnesses 

testimony but used its own discretion in providing a basis for its decision. Neither the Appellant 

nor the Appeals Chamber can hold this against the Trial Chamber. 

209. Moreover, the Trial Chamber endorsed Professor Pouget's general observations regarding 

eyewitnesses.322  Indeed, the Trial Chamber found that after assessing the probative value of each 

testimony in light of its presentation in Court and after its subjection to cross-examination,323 “the 

Trial Chamber, in its examination of the evidence, has been alive to these various approaches”324 

and as a result went on to hold that “different witnesses, like different academics, think 

differently,”325 and that testimonies cannot be disregarded simply because they describe traumatic 

events, even though the Trial Chamber is aware of the impact of trauma on the testimony of 

witnesses.326 It is in light of the foregoing that the Trial Chamber properly decided to discount a 

particular testimony as a whole containing material inconsistencies.327 

210. The Appeals Chamber emphasizes that once having heard testimonial evidence as 

proffered by the parties, it is up to the Trial Chamber to decide, by a reasoned opinion, to accept 

or to reject, in whole or in part, the testimony of an expert witness, provided the reasons for its 

                                                 
320 Trial Judgement, para. 70 and following. 
321 Ibid paras. 68 and 69. 
322 Ibid., para. 70. 
323 Idem. 
324 Ibid., para. 72. 
325 Ibid., para. 74. 
326 Ibid., para. 75. 
327 Ibid., para. 77. In the English version of the Judgement, reference is made to “material inconsistencies”. 
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decision are reasonable.328 In this regard, the Appeals Chamber notes that the assessment of the 

credibility of evidence given by an expert falls clearly to the trier of fact. 

211. Having reviewed the Defence’s arguments, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Appellant 

failed to show that the Trial Chamber made an unreasonable ruling in using its discretion to assess 

the testimony of Expert Witness Pouget.  Having considered Kayishema’s written submissions, 

the Appeals Chamber is unable to ascertain how the Trial Chamber may have acted unreasonably 

in considering, even partially, Professor Pouget’s testimony or in considering it as one point of 

view, whereas the expert witness indeed had suggested to the Chamber an approach which was in 

no way binding on the trial judges in their final findings. 

212. The Appeals Chamber finds that Kayishema has not shown that the findings of the Trial 

Chamber were so unreasonable as to occasion a miscarriage of justice. Indeed, in the opinion of 

the Appeals Chamber, Kayishema only raises general allegations without showing any error, or 

miscarriage of justice such as would cause him prejudice. Finally, the Appeals Chamber points 

out that, contrary to Kayishema’s contention, in its review the Trial Chamber took into account 

the issue of the lapse of time between the events which occurred in 1994 and the oral evidence 

given by the witness in court,329 as well as the inadequacies in the Prosecution’s investigative 

process and found that it is not for the Trial Chamber to search for reasons to excuse them.330 

213. With respect to the Trial Chamber’s acceptance of the report presented by the Prosecution 

expert (Lindsay report), the Appeals Chamber is of the opinion that Kayishema has not shown 

why the report’s admission was questionable, nor how the Trial Chamber allegedly erred in 

rejecting his objection. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not violate 

the principle of equality of arms by admitting an academic paper, especially since it had, on the 

one hand, been presented to Witness Pouget and examined with him during cross-examination 

and, on the other hand, was submitted to the Defence which did not raise any objection at trial.331 

214. Similarly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the argument that the Trial Chamber failed to 

take into account the specificity of Rwandan culture is a factual issue, which moreover was 

neither substantiated nor addressed in Kayishema’s Brief. However, the Appeals Chamber wishes 

                                                 
328 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 64, and Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63. 
329 Trial Judgement, para. 77. 
330 Ibid., para. 78.. 
331 T., 2 July 1998, pp. 103 and 104. 
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to point out that in line with the Furundžija 332 decision, the Trial Chamber cannot be expected to 

provide a detailed answer to every argument presented by the parties at trial. 

215. Lastly, with respect to the fact that the Trial Judgement contains no reference to the 

Defence’s exhibits, the Appeals Chamber wishes to point out that, contrary to the Defence’s 

submission, the Trial Chamber did mention that exhibits were submitted to the Trial Chamber by 

both parties.333 The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects the argument that the Trial Chamber 

would not consider the whole issue of inconsistencies in the previous statements solely on this 

basis and in the absence of any showing of the alleged error. 

216. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber rejects the allegation that the Trial 

Chamber erred in fact in its handling of evidence [with respect to the approach adopted and its 

application]. 

(ii) The issue of the credibility of witnesses 
 
217. Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact which occasioned 

a miscarriage of justice, on the one hand, in the Chamber’s general assessment of the credibility 

of the evidence and, on the other hand, in the identification of the Accused by the witnesses. 

a. The issue of the overall credibility of testimonies 
 

i. Credibility of witnesses 
 

Arguments of the parties 
 

218. Generally, Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact in its 

general assessment of the credibility of witnesses334 because, in spite of having adopted a 

procedure for dealing with the credibility of witnesses, the Chamber nevertheless heard witnesses 

considered by the Defence to lack credibility.335 

219. Kayishema submits that the attitude of certain witnesses during hearings should have 

discredited them and caused the Trial Chamber to reject their testimonies. In his opinion, the Trial 

                                                 
332 Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para.69. 
333 Trial Judgement, para. 76. The Trial Chamber held indeed that “Both Prosecution and Defence Counsel submitted 
such exhibits”. 
334 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 223. 
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Chamber erred in its findings with regard to the general credibility of the witnesses insofar as it 

failed to take into account their demeanour at the hearing.336 

220. Kayishema further asserts that the witnesses lacked credibility insofar as, with the passage 

of time and aided a posteriori by hearsay and the media,337 they had developed a recollection that 

corresponds to their experience (secondary distortions).338 In his view, the Trial Chamber wrongly 

rejected the arguments put forward by Professor Pouget regarding “the encoding of facts” by a 

surviving witness.339 

Discussion 

221. The Appeals Chamber finds, first of all, that the special procedure adopted by the Trial 

Chamber, explained in the Judgement340 and defining the factors to be taken into account in 

assessing the credibility of a witness, seems to be sufficient and reasonable. The Defence has not 

presented sufficiently convincing arguments in support of this ground or shown the 

unreasonableness of the Trial Chamber’s finding which caused a miscarriage of justice. The 

Appeals Chamber holds therefore that the Appellant’s allegations are unfounded. 

222. As regards the impugned demeanour of certain witnesses which should have “reasonably” 

caused the Trial Chamber to disqualify them, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the trial 

judges are in the most appropriate position to assess the credibility of a testimony and the 

demeanor of a witness at a hearing. Once again, the Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema does 

not refer to any specific witness341 in his Brief, nor does he afford the Appeals Chamber any 

information that would enable it to assess his allegations. Kayishema should have submitted 

sufficiently probative arguments to show the unreasonable findings of the Trial Chamber. 

Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber underscores that the issue of witness demeanour at the 

                                                                                                                                                               
335 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 119 and 120. 
336 Ibid., para. 122. The Defence submits indeed that their aggressiveness and refusal to answer questions during 
cross-examination should have discredited them. 
337 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 113. 
338 Ibid., para. 116. 
339 Ibid., paras. 113 and following. In Kayishema’s opinion, Professor Pouget exhaustively explained to the Trial 
Chamber the reasons why such testimonies, even when given in good faith, may not be considered credible and may 
not be evidence of the Accused’s responsibility. In support of his allegations, Kayishema recalls Professor Pouget’s 
explanations that events experienced by witnesses under strong emotional stress at the time of occurrence of the 
events have a harmful effect on precision and retention. Consequently, the witness most exposed to the events would 
not be the most credible. 
340 Trial Judgement, para. 76. 
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hearing should have been raised before the Trial Chamber and cannot be addressed for the first 

time at the appeal level. 

223. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber effectively took into account 

the demeanour of witnesses at the hearing, as reflected in the following finding: 

“Having observed the demeanor of the witnesses and listened closely to their oral 
testimony, the Trial Chamber is satisfied that the eyewitnesses were credible and did not 
attempt to invent facts”.342 

The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects this argument for lack of merit. 

224. As regards the issue of secondary distortions and “ encoding of events” by the surviving 

witness, apart from the fact that the Defence takes issue with the Trial Chamber for not having 

followed the principles outlined by Professor Pouget, the Appeals Chamber notes the general 

character of these allegations. It further notes that the dearth of cogent arguments by Kayishema 

does not enable it to enter a finding that the Trial Chamber erred and consequently finds this 

argument unfounded. 

1. Credibility of testimonies and the issue of corroboration 

Arguments of the parties 

225. In the main, the Defence takes the Trial Chamber to task for its incorrect use of the 

evidence before it.343 The Defence indeed acknowledges that it is within the discretion of the Trial 

Chamber to assess eyewitness testimony on the basis of the criteria adopted, provided the 

Chamber does so reasonably.344 However, Kayishema contends that the Trial Chamber erred in 

this regard by not rejecting all the testimonies of witnesses, given the contradictions which mar 

the totality of the evidence and, therefore, all the testimonies on account of the interdependence 

which the Chamber sought to establish.345 

226. Moreover, Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber should not have adopted 

corroboration of testimonies as a test. Consistency in the testimony of several witnesses is no 

                                                                                                                                                               
341 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 122. 
342 Trial Judgement, para. 397. 
343 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 220. 
344 Ibid., pp. 220 and 221. 
345 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 222. 
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proof or criterion of validity346 because the doubt raised by one testimony cannot be removed by 

further corroborative testimony.347 Thus, in matters of testimony, an approximation is, according 

to the Appellant, the opposite of truth.348 

Discussion 

227. The Appeals Chamber points out that the Trial Chamber very clearly stated that it did not 

consider corroboration of witness testimonies as a test but rather a factor for the assessment of the 

credibility of witnesses.349 Similarly, the Trial Chamber deemed it necessary to take into account 

other factors in order to reach, beyond a reasonable doubt, a finding of the accused’s 

culpability.350 

228. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Appellant raises the issue of the Trial Chamber’s 

assessment of the credibility of witness testimonies without referring to specific witnesses, nor 

even guiding the Appeals Chamber in the analysis of this argument. The Appeals Chamber has 

already clearly stated that it is indeed the responsibility of the Appellant, who has lodged an 

appeal on the basis of Article 24 of the Statute to substantiate his grounds of appeal in order to 

show the alleged error. To the extent that the Defence’s argument amounts to an issue of fact, the 

Appeals Chamber does not intend to carry out the above exercise on behalf of the Appellant. The 

Chamber therefore holds that this argument, as formulated by Kayishema and substantiated in his 

submissions, does not allow it to enter a finding of the existence of the alleged error. 

229. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema’s argument that a partially doubtful 

testimony should be rejected in its entirety has already been discussed in the contested 

Judgement.351 With respect to the fact that the absence of consistency in witness testimonies may 

                                                 
346 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 110. 
347 Ibid., para. 122. 
348 Ibid., para. 115. Kayishema submits that the fact that testimonies are so similar gives rise to serious doubt as to 
their veracity. 
349 Trial Judgement, para. 70. The Trial Chamber indeed considered that “whilst corroboration of such testimony is 
not a guarantee of its accuracy, it is a factor that the Trial Chamber has taken into account when considering the 
testimonies”. 
350 Ibid.,, para. 71: The Trial Chamber specified that other factors may be taken into account, for example, the fact 
that the witness had the ability and opportunity to observe the offender, the fact that the identification of the accused 
by the witness is the product of the witness’s own recollection and the credibility of the witness, in other words his 
truthfulness and the reliability of his observations. 
351 Ibid., para. 78. The Trial Chamber set out the reasoning to be followed in the instant case and held that “Whether 
or not the explanation by the witness is enough to remove the doubt is determined on a case-by-case basis 
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raise doubt regarding the responsibility of the accused, the Appeals Chamber recalled the 

applicable principle in corroboration of evidence352 and notes that the Appellant fails to mention 

any specific witness in support of this allegation and only makes sweeping arguments not 

supported by facts or proof. The same applies to the argument that when there is corroboration 

one cannot speak of consistency but rather of resemblance. 

230. Moreover, it is for the trier of fact to assess the probative value of a testimony, such 

discretionary power also covering the manner in which the Trial Chamber decides to deal with 

apparent contradictions. In the absence of proof by the Appellant of the unreasonable nature of 

the reasoning adopted by the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber rejects these arguments on the 

ground that the Trial Chamber’s reasoning with respect to the treatment of contradictions in 

witness testimonies does not, in its view, appear unreasonable in any way. 

a. Identification of the accused 
 

i. Arguments of the parties 

231. Kayishema submits that a reading of the Judgement shows that the identification of the 

accused is often expressed in approximations or indirect references to him.353 In his opinion, 

although it claims to have reached its decision in light of a careful consideration of the relevant 

specific factors,354 the Chamber did not take into account the specificities of Rwandan culture, nor 

did it mention these factors in its assessment of eyewitness testimonies. 

ii. Discussion 

232. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Defence seems to include its analysis of the issue 

of identification in its examination of criteria for examining eyewitness testimony in general. 

Indeed, the Defence submits that the accused was not clearly identified on the massacre sites 

since, on the one hand, the witnesses did not know him (the principle of prior knowledge)355 or 

were not in a position to identify him (which calls into question their overall credibility). Thus, 

                                                                                                                                                               
considering the circumstances surrounding the inconsistency and the subsequent explanation. However, to be 
released from doubt the Trial Chamber generally demands an explanation of substance rather than mere procedure”. 
352 See Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 65; Aleksovski Appeal Judgement,  para.62; and Čelebići Appeal Judgement, 
paras. 492 and 506. 
353 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 111bis. 
354 Ibid., para. 117. The Defence takes the Trial Chamber to task for not taking into account Ruzindana’s testimony 
in Akayesu. 
355 Ibid., para. 111. 
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the indirect356 or approximate357 or even programmed identification of the accused358 cannot, in 

the opinion of the Appellant, justify the findings of the Trial Chamber regarding the responsibility 

of the accused. 

233. The Appeals Chamber notes, after considering the Judgement, that the Trial Chamber 

fully took into account problems relating to the witnesses' knowing of the accused and found that 

the identification of Kayishema by the witnesses is all the more credible as the said witnesses 

knew him prior to the occurrence of the events of 1994359 and that the Trial Chamber often 

addressed the identification of the accused with greater caution.360 Besides, the Trial Chamber 

stated as follows: 

“It is apparent that when the witnesses stated that they ‘knew’ the accused, they were not 
always referring to personal acquaintance or friendship. Rather, the witnesses were 
sometimes referring to ‘knowing of’ or ‘knowing who the accused was’ due to his 
prominence in the community. The Trial Chamber is satisfied that the use of such 
phraseology was not an attempt by the witnesses to mislead the Trial Chamber. Indeed, it 
is consistent with common usage [...]. in any event, for the purpose of identification, it is 
the physical recognition of the accused rather than personal acquaintance which is most 
pertinent. The above evidence suggests that most of the witnesses who identified 
Kayishema and/or Ruzindana, were aware of the physical appearance of the accused 
prior to seeing them at the massacre sites” (emphasis added).361 

234. After a careful consideration of the circumstances in which the witnesses saw the accused, 

the Trial Chamber found that the identification of the accused proves beyond a reasonable doubt 

his participation in the massacres. In the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, it is inappropriate to 

revisit in abstraction these findings made by the Trial Chamber since Kayishema has not 

advanced any cogent arguments before this Chamber in support of his allegations. The Chamber 

therefore dismisses Kayishema’s arguments in support of the allegation that he was identified 

beyond reasonable doubt on the massacre sites. 

                                                 
356 Ibid., para. 111bis, second subparagraph. 
357 Ibid., para.117. Kayishema asserts that the witnesses did not really know the préfet, since they knew Kayishema 
only through hearsay. 
358 Ibid., para. 111, The Defence submits that some witnesses were not even capable of recognizing Kayishema in 
court and that when they were able to identify him, the identification was not credible because prior to their 
appearance before the Chamber to testify, the witnesses had visited the scene of the crime and were therefore enabled 
to locate the accused during the hearing. 
359 See for example, Trial Judgement, para. 357. 
360Ibid., para. 375 (Witness L). 
361 Trial Judgement, para. 458. 
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235. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber rejects the allegations that the Trial 

Chamber erred in fact on the issue of the general reliability of testimonies. 

(iii) The issue of assessment of testimonies with regard to the different massacre sites 

236. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema does not challenge the existence of the 

massacres362 but contests the Trial Chamber’s findings regarding the presence of Kayishema at 

each of the sites and his participation in the acts. In particular, he takes issue with the Trial 

Chamber to have committed errors in fact for not having taken into account the obvious 

inconsistencies in some of the testimonies as well as their lack of reliability in general or for 

having built up its conviction in a selective manner. The Prosecutor did not respond to them 

during the hearing on appeal. 

237. The Appeals Chamber recalls that with respect to the errors in fact raised by the 

Appellant, “[it] has […] to give a margin of deference to the Trial Chamber’s evaluation of the 

evidence presented at trial”363, since “the task of hearing, assessing and weighing the evidence 

presented at trial is left to the Judges sitting in a Trial Chamber”364. The Chamber therefore finds 

that the Appellant only raises general allegations to challenge the findings of the Trial Chamber 

without, on the one hand, showing their unreasonableness and, on the other hand, the resulting 

miscarriage of justice. 

a. Mubuga site365 
 

i. Arguments of the parties 

238. Kayishema challenges the Trial Chamber’s findings by alleging that the inconsistencies 

existing between the testimonies of Witnesses (V, W, OO, PP, UU and NN) render improbable 

the Prosecution argument that Kayishema was on the site on 15, 16 and 17 April 1994.366. In fact, 

the Defence contends that there is nothing to prove Kayishema’s presence, or even that he gave 

                                                 
362 See for example, Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 123, 146 and 207. 
363 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement , para. 63. 
364 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para.64. 
365 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 123 to 145. 
366 Ibid., para 124. 
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orders to the assailants.367 Kayishema therefore submits that the Trial Chamber committed an 

error by inferring from the presence of the officials that the Accused issued orders.368 

239. Kayishema submits more specifically that the Trial Chamber committed an error in its 

assessment of the testimonies of Witnesses OO,369 V,370 NN,371 PP,372 UU,373 and W374, insofar as 

he argues that these witnesses lacked credibility in view of the many discrepancies in their 

statements (he argues that the witnesses arrived at the church on different dates and that they did 

not all experience the same acts.375) In fact, Kayishema alleges inconsistencies between Witnesses 

PP and V,376 OO and W,377 UU and W378 with respect to their respective accounts of the events. 

Regarding the identification of the Accused at the Mubuga site on the dates of the massacres, 

Kayishema submits that said identification had not been established beyond a reasonable doubt.379 

240. Kayishema also alleges that the Chamber committed an error of fact because it failed to 

take into account the testimony of Witness DV380 and disqualified the testimony of Defence 

Witness DP.381 

241. Kayishema moreover insists on the testimony of Witness OO which he alleges, should not 

have been accepted on grounds of lack of credibility.382 In his opinion, the reasoning of this 

witness is unacceptable because he asserts that the Préfet did not shoot, but concludes nonetheless 

                                                 
367 Ibid., para. 140. Kayishema submits that contrary to what the Trial Chamber affirms in its Judgement, there is no 
corroboration between these witnesses. 
368 Ibid., para. 145. 
369 Ibid., para. 127 to 130.; See also paras. 132 and 133. 
370 Ibid., paras 131 and 135 to 137. 
371 Ibid., para. 127. Kayishema submits that this witness was simply mentioned in the Judgement whereas he testified 
that he did not see the Accused on 14 April. 
372 Ibid., paras 138 and 131.  
373 Ibid., para. 139. 
374 Ibid. 
375 Ibid., para 127. 
376 Ibid., para.131. 
377 Ibid., para 133. 
378 Ibid., para. 139. 
379 Ibid., paras. 139 and 141 (Kayishema submits particularly, that the identification by Witness W is not credible 
insofar as he did not know him prior to the attacks). 
380 Ibid., paras. 143 and 144. Kayishema maintains that this testimony, which the Chamber did not take into 
consideration, is relevant since he testified that he did not see the vehicle of the préfecture nor the préfet on the days 
of the massacre. 
381 Ibid., para. 125. 
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that he was responsible for the killing (Kayishema submits that this witness’ testimony is a 

deduction and it is fraught with inconsistencies383). 

ii. Discussion 
 
242. The Appeals Chamber notes that “the [Trial] Chamber is satisfied, beyond reasonable 

doubt, that Kayishema […] were present and participated at the attacks at Mubuga Church 

between 14 and 16 April”.384 The Trial Chamber also found that Kayishema’s presence and his 

participation in the crimes charged encouraged the killings of the Tutsis who had assembled to 

seek refuge in the church.385 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on 

Witnesses V, W, OO, PP and UU for this finding.386 

243. Kayishema relies on the testimonies of Witnesses W, NN, OO, V, PP, UU, DV and DP in 

support of the allegation that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact in its assessment of the 

actual participation of the Accused on this site. 

244. The Appeals Chamber specifies first of all that as regards the allegations relating to 

Witnesses PP, UU, V, W and NN, it has already acknowledged that the assessment of the 

evidence presented at trial falls within the discretion of the trier of fact and would only revisit 

such assessment where the Appellant shows that the findings of the Trial Chamber were 

unreasonable. In the instant, the Appeals Chamber finds that the alleged errors have not been 

proven and, therefore, dismisses Kayishema’s general allegations for lack of merit. 

245. The Appeals Chamber also finds that the allegations with respect to Witnesses DV and DP 

constitute an issue of fact which has not been substantially addressed by Kayishema. The 

assessment of evidence is one of the responsibilities of the trial judges who, moreover, are not 

                                                                                                                                                               
382 Ibid., para. 133. Kayishema challenges the overall credibility of Witness OO to the extent that he claimed he was 
the only one who remained up to 17 April, whereas the other witnesses testified that there were no survivors 
(contradiction with the testimony of Witness W). 
383 Ibid., paras. 127 to 134. The accused does not call into question the presence of the witness at the church but 
alleges that this witness subsequently formed an opinion on what happened there. He confirmed on the other hand, 
the statements by the gendarmes that they were sent by the préfet to protect the refugees. In Kayishema’s opinion, the 
gendarmes present protected the refugees from the Hutu assailants. He alleges also that the Trial Chamber discredited 
the witness (counting of the refugees) but, however, admitted his testimony. Moreover, the inconsistencies between 
the testimony of Witness OO and Witness V on the time of the attacks were not taken into account by the Chamber, 
whereas the testimony of this witness was also inconsistent with that of Witness PP regarding the activities of the 
accused on 15 April (Kayishema’s Brief, para. 131). The Trial Chamber, he contends, admitted inconsistencies 
concerning the occurrence of the events and found that the testimonies were consistent and complementary. 
384 Trial Judgement, para. 404. 
385 Ibid. 
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bound to respond in detail to each argument or evidence submitted by the parties in proceedings 

at trial.387 In light of the general nature of Kayishema’s allegations, the Appeals Chamber is 

unable to make any findings as to the existence of an error of fact in the assessment of the 

evidence. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Kayishema’s arguments. 

246. Regarding Witness OO, with respect to whom Kayishema expresses a lot of reservations, 

the Appeals Chamber notes first of all that the Trial Chamber had ruled on the objections raised 

by the Defence at trial with regard to the identification of the Accused by Witness OO, which 

objections were again raised on appeal.388 The Appeals Chamber also points out that the Trial 

Chamber stated having “observed the demeanour of the witnesses and listened closely to their 

oral testimony” to be “satisfied that the eyewitnesses were credible and did not attempt to invent 

facts”.389 The Trial Chamber further stated that “[D]uring cross-examination , some concerns of 

obstructed visibility were raised also in the case of OO, because he had placed Kayishema at the 

site by stating that while he (Witness OO) was lying under the corpses of slaughtered Tutsis, he 

heard Kayishema speaking with other local authorities”. The Trial Chamber therefore found that 

the identification of the Accused by Witness OO was absolutely credible insofar as “the witness’ 

prior familiarity with the Accused” and the fact of having heard his voice at other meetings would 

enable him to recognize his voice and render the identification of the Accused a trustworthy 

one”.390 

247. Consequently, in light of Kayishema’s failure to show the unreasonable nature of the Trial 

Chamber’s findings, the Appeals Chamber finds that the allegations with respect to his 

participation in the massacres perpetrated at the Mubuga site are unfounded. 

b. The Attacks at Bisesero391 
 

i. Arguments of the parties 
 
248. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema’s approach aims at examining the 

Prosecution witnesses one after the other, “to demonstrate that the said witnesses lack credibility, 

                                                                                                                                                               
386 See for example, Trial Judgement, para. 382 and paras. 392 to 403. 
387 Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para. 69. 
388 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 133. 
389 Trial Judgement, para. 397. 
390 Ibid., para. 397. 



          Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
          Page 95 
 
 
given the many discrepancies in their written statements or during their testimony before the 

Chamber”.392 

249. The Chamber has identified four main arguments advanced by Kayishema in support of 

the allegation that the Trial Chamber committed errors of fact invalidating the decision or which 

occasioned a miscarriage of justice: 

- Kayishema challenges the credibility of Witnesses OO393 and NN.394 He argues 

that witness OO’s explanations are contradictory, which consequently affects his 

credibility. He submits, on the one hand, that “his assertions are therefore hearsay 

[which] hearsay itself flows from the fact that the refugees were blaming the 

authorities for having done nothing” and, on the other hand, that from the distance 

where he was he could not have seen the events. As regards Witness NN, 

Kayishema raises “inconsistencies with the progress of the attacks and time they 

took place in Bisesero”. 

- Kayishema advances many criticisms regarding the Trial Chamber’s assessment of 

the testimonies of Witnesses CC, HH and W. In fact, he submits that there were 

many discrepancies in their testimonies which, in his opinion, the Trial Chamber 

“tried to undermine”395 or ignored.396 He submits moreover that these witnesses 

were unable to situate the attacks in time397 and in space.398 

- Kayishema maintains that the Chamber failed to take into account the distortions 

in the testimonies of Witnesses U and DD399, which raises doubt as to the presence 

                                                                                                                                                               
391 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 146 to 183. In this section, the Appeals Chamber addresses Kayishema’s allegations 
with respect to the “Bisesero site” (paras. 146 to 151), “the attacks at Bisesero” (paras. 152 to 173) as well as “the site 
at the cave” (paras. 174 to 183) insofar as these allegations refer to the attacks perpetrated at Bisesero. 
392 Ibid., para. 153. 
393 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 158. 
394 Ibid., para. 159. 
395 Ibid., para. 174. 
396 Ibid., para. 182 (Kayishema is referring to the issue of determining the identity of the person who lit the fire at the 
cave). 
397 Ibid., para. 175 (contradictions in the testimonies of W – referring to 6 October 1997, p. 96, and contradictions 
between the testimonies of Witnesses HH and W – referring to 16 February 1998, p. 97; Appellant’s allegations refer 
to dates of the massacres and not the actual participation of the accused). 
398 Ibid., para. 176 (contradiction between Witnesses HH and W) and para. 177. 
399 Ibid., paras. 148 to 150. 
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of Kayishema and his participation in the massacres on Karongi Hill.400 

Kayishema, moreover, holds the view that Witness U cannot be considered a 

credible witness401 by the mere fact that his testimony corroborated that of Witness 

DD who, besides, was not at the site.402 

- The Appellant points out contradictions in the reasoning of the Trial Chamber as 

regards Witness FF403 (paras. 414, 426 and 427 of the Trial Judgement). He 

particularly criticizes the Trial Chamber for giving credibility to the testimony of 

this witness, whereas it is impossible, in his view, to recognize a voice through a 

megaphone.404 

250. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema submits in piecemeal fashion that the Trial 

Chamber ignored some information provided by some witnesses, including Witnesses G,405 

DD,406 AA,407 QQ,408 X,409 UU,410 EE,411 and MM,412 which would have vitiated its decision 

insofar as these testimonies could have, in his view, raised doubt on his responsibility. 

                                                 
400 Ibid., paras. 146 to 151. 
401 Ibid., para. 149. Kayishema submits that Witness U changes his story between the beginning of his testimony and 
the end. 
402 Ibid., para. 150. Kayishema submits that Witnesses U and DD lack credibility in their testimonies insofar as in his 
opinion, “it appears that the [Trial] Chamber failed to take into account serious distortions between Witnesses U and 
DD, which weakens the evidence that Kayishema […] issued orders and participated in the massacres” (para. 148). 
403 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 153. He refers to paras. 426 and 427 of the Judgement which in his view contradicts 
para. 414. The Defence also submits that it contested the testimony of this witness. 
404 Ibid., para. 155.  The Appellant submits that it is impossible to recognize a voice through a megaphone 
considering its deformation by distance or echo. 
405 Ibid., para. 151. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider the testimony of G, which 
according to him, is relevant since it confirmed that there were no soldiers among the assailants at Karongi.  
406 Ibid., para. 160. The Defence submits that it raised several objections against the said witness which the Chamber 
ignored. 
407 Ibid., para. 161. Kayishema submits that during cross-examination (referring to page 43) this witness did not at 
any time mention the accused when he was asked to tell who was leading the attacks. 
408 Ibid., para. 161. Kayishema submits that the Chamber failed to mention this witness whereas he testified that he 
did not see the accused on 13 May, especially since he knew him. 
409 Ibid., para. 161. According to Kayishema, this witness’ testimony weakens considerably the testimony of 
witnesses for the Prosecution and it is probably the reason why it was disallowed (witness called out of some 
confusion). 
410 Ibid., para. 167. 
411 Ibid., para. 166. 
412 Ibid., para. 168 bis. 
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ii. Discussion 
 
251. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond a reasonable 

doubt, that Kayishema was properly identified by Witnesses FF, PP, OO, II, JJ, NN, HH, UU, W, 

U, DD and MM, as having participated in one or more of the assaults on the Tutsi population.413 

The Trial Chamber also finds that the Accused personally transported the attackers to Bisesero414 

and, particularly, that Kayishema directed the assaults (Muyira Hill415), gave instructions to the 

soldiers (Karongi Hill) or gave orders to the assailants to begin the assault (Bisesero Hill).416 The 

Trial Chamber was satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that “there is an abundance of evidence that 

reveals how Kayishema and Ruzindana participated in the attacks”417 and that “Kayishema and 

Ruzindana aided and abetted the killings through orchestration and direction”.418 

252. The Appeals Chamber notes that Kayishema takes issue with the Trial Chamber’s 

assessment of Witnesses G, OO, HH, X, EE, FF, NN, AA, QQ, CC, W, U, DD, UU and MM. 

253. Regarding the allegations in respect of Witnesses G, X, EE, AA, QQ, MM and UU, the 

Appeals Chamber points out the general nature of  Kayishema’s allegations. The Chamber 

reiterates its position as regards the allegations of errors of fact and recalls that unless the 

Appellant shows the unreasonableness of the Chamber’s findings and the miscarriage of justice 

occasioned by the alleged errors, the Appeals Chamber does not find it necessary to review the 

trial judges’ findings established beyond reasonable doubt. The Appeals Chamber therefore holds 

that there is no cause to examine Kayishema’s arguments with respect to the witnesses referred to 

above and decides to proceed with the analysis of Kayishema’s arguments in respect of Witnesses 

OO, NN, CC, HH, W, FF, U and DD. 

254. Regarding Witness OO, the Trial Chamber in its Judgement, addressed the issue of 

contradictions between his testimony at the hearing and his previous statements and held that 

“any discrepancy is not a material contradiction”.419 Regarding Witness NN, the Trial Chamber 

took this witness’ testimony into consideration to establish the presence of the Accused among 

                                                 
413 Trial Judgement, para. 461. 
414 Ibid., paras. 462 and 463. 
415 Ibid., para. 463. 
416 Ibid. para 464. 
417 Ibid., par. 466. 
418 Ibid., para 468. 
419 Ibid., para. 416. 
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the assailants420 and the identification of Kayishema insofar as Witness NN knew the Accused.421 

Moreover, the Trial Chamber relied particularly on these two witnesses to establish, on the one 

hand, Kayishema’s presence and, on the other hand, his actual participation in the acts. The 

Appeals Chamber finds, after examining Kayishema’s arguments, that the allegations are too 

general and, in its opinion, have failed to show the alleged error of fact. Kayishema has failed to 

demonstrate the unreasonable nature of the Trial Chamber’s findings and, thereby, the alleged 

error of fact. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds Kayishema’s allegations with respect to 

Witnesses OO and NN unfounded. 

255. As regards Witnesses CC, HH and W, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber 

has actually considered their testimonies in paragraphs 433 and 434 of the Judgement and found 

that these witnesses confirmed the participation of the Accused in the massacre at the cave. The 

Trial Chamber noted that the testimony of Witness HH was not completely clear as to whether 

there were any survivors in the cave422and proceeded to examine the objections raised by the 

Defence with respect to Witnesses CC, W and HH. After a careful review of Witness HH’s 

testimony, the Trial Chamber found that: 

“HH stated that, although the rescuers opened the cave the same evening, they did not 
find any survivors on that day. HH testified that later one person came out alive. This 
conforms with Witness CC’s account” (emphasis added)423. 

The Appeals Chamber finds that the arguments advanced by Kayishema do not make it 

possible to identify an error of fact. Thus, in the absence of clear proof of the unreasonableness of 

the Trial Chamber’s findings, the Chamber can not rule on the existence of a possible 

contradiction that may have occasioned the alleged error. The Chamber therefore holds that 

Kayishema’s allegations are unfounded. 

256. With respect to Witnesses U and DD, the Trial Chamber actually took into account these 

witnesses to find beyond reasonable doubt that Kayishema participated in the massacres on 

Karongi Hill.424 However, contrary to the Defence’s assertions, the Trial Chamber took into 

account distortions in the testimony of Witness DD in light of his previous statements. The Trial 

                                                 
420 Ibid., paras. 422 and 461. 
421 Ibid., para. 455. 
422 Ibid., para. 435. 
423 Ibid., para. 436. 
424Ibid., paras. 440 to 443. 
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Chamber therefore found that with respect to the discrepancies between the written statement of 

Witness DD and his testimony before the Chamber, “[T]he doubt raised by this inconsistency, of 

which the Accused is entitled to the benefit, was not dispelled by the explanation of the 

witness”.425 With regard to the alleged contradictions between Witnesses U and DD, the Appeals 

Chamber holds that, given the general nature of Kayishema’s arguments, it is unable to make a 

finding as to the alleged error regarding the identification and participation of Kayishema in the 

massacres on Karongi Hill. The Chamber therefore dismisses these allegations for lack of merit. 

257. Regarding the Defence’s difficulty in understanding the Judgement with respect to the 

Trial Chamber’s treatment of Witness FF’s testimony,426 the Appeals Chamber acknowledges that 

some ambiguity exists on reading paragraphs 414, 426 and 427 of said Judgements, considering 

the general nature of the Trial Chamber’s findings with respect to the credibility of this witness.427 

258. However, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it falls to the Trial Chamber, after actually 

finding that Witness FF was not wholly credible, to determine if the inconsistencies in his 

testimony substantially cast doubt on the overall credibility of the witness. This approach, which 

tallies perfectly with the one previously adopted by the Chamber and explained in paragraph 78 of 

the Trial Judgement, consists in considering, on a case-by-case basis, the circumstances 

surrounding the inconsistencies in order to determine whether the explanation by the witness is 

enough to remove the doubt raised by the alleged inconsistencies. The Appeals Chamber 

therefore finds, upon reading the Judgement and after examining the general line of reasoning 

adopted by the Trial Chamber, that the alleged inconsistencies are unfounded, especially as the 

paragraphs referred to by Kayishema relate to different events. In fact, the testimony of Witness 

FF in paragraph 414 relates to events which took place on Bisesero Hill, whereas paragraphs 426 

and 427 refer to the attacks in Muyira [the findings in question state: “the Trial Chamber is not 

satisfied that FF had a clear view of events [Muyira Hill in May] and deems his evidence 

unreliable” (emphasis added)]. The Appeals Chamber holds that it is up to the Trial Chamber to 

decide whether this testimony should be partially or totally discarded from the proceedings, and 

                                                 
425 Ibid., para. 443. 
426 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 153. Indeed, Kayishema submits that it is difficult to understand the Trial Chamber’s 
findings as regards Witness FF, since FF was considered unreliable in paras. 426 and 427 of the Judgement, but 
found credible in para. 414 on grounds that his testimony was “uncontroverted”. 
427 Trial Judgement, para. 414 (“This Chamber finds this uncontroverted testimony”), and para. 426 (“The Trial 
Chamber is not satisfied that Witness FF had a clear view of events and deems his evidence unreliable”). 
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that in the absence of proof of the alleged error, the Appeals Chamber cannot revisit the Trial 

Chamber’s findings which it deems reasonable. 

259. Kayishema submits moreover that the identification of the Accused by Witness FF is not 

credible, insofar as, on the one hand, Witness FF testifies to have recognized Kayishema’s voice 

through a megaphone and, on the other hand, he asserts that he could not identify the Accused, for 

if he knew him, he would have known that he was not a member of the Red Cross.428 He further 

contends that “this is a major discrepancy” in the Judgement “which raises an obvious doubt as to 

the presence of the Accused and as to his recognition through the voice”.429 

260. However, the Appeals Chamber points out that Kayishema gives an erroneous 

interpretation of Witness FF’s testimony. As regards the argument that Witness FF recognized 

Kayishema’s voice, the Appeals Chamber considers that the relevant parts in the transcript of 

Witness FF’s testimony before the Trial Chamber are the following:430 

A. […] we saw Kayishema, Ruzindana and Mika came to that spot. They had a 
megaphone which they used, they said that peace had returned,[…] 

Q. You said that, they came, they were speaking in a microphone or a megaphone. 
Now, who was speaking? 

A. It was Mika, who was using the megaphone. 

Consequently, contrary to what Kayishema asserts, the identification of the Accused is not 

based on Witness FF’s recognition of Kayishema’s voice, but on the fact that Witness FF saw 

Kayishema, Ruzindana and Mika arrive on Bisesero Hill and that he observed the events. The 

Trial Chamber states in this respect, precisely in paragraph 414 of the Judgement, that regarding 

the Bisesero Hill: 

414.  Witness FF saw Kayishema, Ruzindana and Mika Muhimana, the Conseiller of the 
Gishyita sector, arriving at Bisesero in a white vehicle on 11 May. Kayishema was 
wearing a green shirt and carrying a megaphone […]. Mika said through a megaphone 
that they were working for the Red Cross and that peace had returned […]. Witness FF 

                                                 
428 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 154 and 155. Indeed, Kayishema submits that: “[…] this Witness [FF] later claims that 
at the time of the attacks, Kayishema gave the impression that he was coming to help or called the Red Cross to help 
in order to attract the refugees on Muyira Hill. If this Witness indeed knew the accused, he would have known that 
Kayishema was not a member of the Red Cross. .This witness, like many others, testified that Kayishema was 
carrying a megaphone, in a bid to underscore the fact that he heard him giving orders.[…] Moreover, some 
witnesses stated that it was not Kayishema but somebody else called “Mika” who carried the megaphone” (Emphasis 
added). 
429 Ibid., para. 155. 
430 T., 17 November 1997, pp. 28-33 (FF’s testimony in respect of the events which took place on Bisesero Hill). 
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observed these events from a distance of approximately ten metres. This Chamber finds 
this uncontroverted testimony (emphasis added). 

261. Regarding the argument that Witness FF could not have known the Accused, and therefore 

identify him, for if he knew him, he would have known that Kayishema was not a member of the 

Red Cross, the Appeals Chamber notes, once again, the Defence’s erroneous interpretation of 

Witness FF’s testimony at trial. In fact, Witness FF did not testify that Kayishema stated he was 

working for the Red Cross, but that Mika “who was using a megaphone” said that “they were men 

of the Red Cross”431 (emphasis added). 

262. Consequently, the Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber’s assessment of Witness FF is 

not erroneous and that Kayishema’s allegations in this respect are unfounded. 

c. The Catholic church and Home Saint-Jean432 

i. Arguments of the Parties 

263. The Defence submits that the Trial Chamber committed an error of fact which occasioned 

a miscarriage of justice by considering Witnesses A,433 B,434 C,435 D,436 E437 and F438 to be 

credible for its finding that the accused was present at the site.439 Kayishema also raises the issue 

of discrepancies in the testimonies440 (more specifically in the testimonies of Witnesses A and D, 

and between these two testimonies441), as well as the resolve of the Chamber to disregard the 

objections raised by the Defence442 and the testimonies raising doubt as to the guilt of Kayishema 

(T and Haglund).443 

                                                 
431 T., 17 November 1997, p. 30. 
432 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 184-206. 
433 Ibid., para. 190. 
434 Ibid., para. 200. 
435 Ibid, para. 201. 
436 Ibid., para. 194. 
437  Ibid., para. 198. 
438 Ibid., para. 199. 
439 Ibid., para. 185. 
440 Ibid, para. 188. 
441 Ibid., paras. 190-194. 
442 Ibid., para. 197. 
443 Ibid., paras. 202 and 206. Witness T testified that there was total lack of control by the authorities. Regarding the 
Haglund Report, the latter confirmed the Appellant’s view that the gendarmes did not participate in the killings as 
alleged. 
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ii.  Discussion 
 

264. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on the testimonies of Witnesses 

A, B, C, D, E, F, G and T444 in finding beyond reasonable doubt that Kayishema actually 

participated in the massacres perpetrated at this site (issuing orders to the assailants and 

personally participating in the massacres). 

265. Kayishema challenges the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the testimonies of Witnesses A, 

B, C, D, E, F, T and the Haglund Report. The Appeals Chamber notes, nonetheless, that 

Kayishema’s allegations with respect to Witnesses T and Haglund have no bearing on 

Kayishema’s challenge to his actual participation in the massacres. Indeed, inasmuch as 

Kayishema alleges that the Trial Chamber failed to consider certain aspects of their testimonies 

with respect to the victims, as well as the general context at the time, the Appeals Chamber finds 

that the general arguments advanced by the Defence are misplaced.  

266. With respect to Witnesses A, B, C, D, E and F, Kayishema merely impugns generally their 

credibility while alleging that the Appeals Chamber failed to carefully consider the request to 

reject the witnesses the Defence did not consider to be credible.445 The Appeals Chamber 

therefore holds that such submissions are too general and do not enable it to identify the material 

arguments that would cast doubt on the reasonable nature of the Trial Chamber’s findings with 

respect to the actual participation of the accused. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that 

the arguments are unfounded. 

267. With respect to the alleged contradictions in the testimonies of Witnesses A and D, the 

Appeals Chamber underscores that the Trial Chamber considered the issue of the credibility of 

Witness A in paragraph 337 of the Judgement, where it held that: 

“This Chamber finds that although witness A’s testimony may have lacked certain 
details, his testimony regarding Kayishema’s presence and participation, on the whole, is 
credible. Moreover, witness A’s description of Kayishema’s attire and the weapon he 
carried conforms to the testimony of other witnesses, such as B, C and D. Further, 
witness A’s identification of Kayishema is strengthened because he knew Kayishema 
prior to the events.” 

                                                 
444 Trial Judgement, para. 346. 
445 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 197. 
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As regards the allegations of inconsistencies in Witness A’s testimony in relation to his 

previous statements,446 the Appeals Chamber underscores, on reading the transcripts of the 

hearings,447 that although this witness appears to have testified on facts that were challenged by 

the Defence,448 the Trial Chamber succeeded in making its findings, beyond reasonable doubt, 

based on a multiplicity of testimonies (A, B, C, D, E, F, G and T). Moreover, the Appeals 

Chamber is of the view that Kayishema failed to adequately justify the need to reconsider the 

findings of Trial Chamber on this point and recalls that the Trial Chamber cannot be expected to 

provide a detailed answer to every argument presented by the parties at Trial.449 In the absence of 

proof of the alleged error, the Appeals Chamber finds that it is not necessary to revisit the 

findings of the Trial Chamber. 

268. As regards the alleged inconsistencies with respect to Witness D,450 the Appeals Chamber 

holds that the Trial Chamber did not commit an error of fact in finding Witnesses A and D to be 

credible, as their testimonies could be relied on in establishing that Kayishema did participate in 

the massacres at the church and at Home St.-Jean. Indeed, with regard to inconsistencies in the 

testimonies (A and D), the Trial Chamber generally found that “minor discrepancies between 

witnesses did not raise a reasonable doubt as to the issue of Kayishema’s participation”.451 In the 

absence of proof by Kayishema showing that the Trial Chamber’s findings were unreasonable, the 

Appeals Chamber does not deem it necessary to reconsider the Trial Chamber’s Decision. 

269. Regarding the Trial Chamber’s failure to take into account the objections raised by the 

Defence, the Appeals Chamber wishes to point out that the Trial Chamber actually considered the 

Defence’s objections452 in order to find that “the witnesses’ testimonies proved, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, that Kayishema was present at and participated in the 17 April 1994 massacres 

                                                 
446 Ibid., paras. 192 and 193 (inconsistencies between the witness testimony and his previous statements to the 
investigators in which he allegedly stated that a young man who was lying on top of him was cut with a sword by 
Kayishema, whereas during cross-examination, he stated that it was a baby on top of him). 
447 T., 15 and 16 April 1997. 
448 See, for example, T., 15 and 16 April 1997 et seq.,  particularly with respect to the facts relating to the snatching 
of a child from its mother’s arms (see also p. 110 et seq.) and pp. 44, 45, 52 et seq. regarding the witness’ testimony 
in relation to the person lying on top of him who was cut with a sword. 
449 Furundžija Appeal Judgement, para. 69. 
450 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 194. Kayishema argues that the testimonies of Witnesses A and D are contradictory 
regarding his snatching of a child from its mother’s arms. 
451 Trial Judgement, para. 345. 
452 Ibid., paras. 337 to 343. 
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at the Complex.”453 As the Defence has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber’s findings 

are erroneous, the Appeals Chamber holds that its arguments are unfounded. 

270. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber ruled on the Defence’s 

more general objections in relation to this site and found that the Defence “failed to controvert the 

credibility of these witnesses or the reliability of the evidence on fundamental issues, in particular 

the identification of Kayishema during the attack”.454 

271. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that Kayishema has failed to demonstrate the 

alleged error of the Trial Chamber as regards his actual participation in the massacres at the 

church and at Home St.-Jean, and consequently dismisses the allegations in relation to this site. 

d.  Kibuye Stadium455 
 

i.  Arguments of the Parties 
 
272. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber committed errors of fact inasmuch as it 

accepted the testimonies of certain witnesses, although such testimonies were not found to be 

credible.456 Moreover, he contends that the identification of the accused by the witnesses is not 

reliable.457 

273. Kayishema alleges that the Trial Chamber, on the one hand, failed to consider the 

testimonies of crucial witnesses (Witnesses O and W)458 and, on the other hand, accepted the 

testimonies of Witnesses I,459 M,460 K461 and L462 that the Defence does not consider reliable and, 

in certain cases, challenged the reliability of the testimonies463 (Witnesses I and M). 

                                                 
453 Ibid., para. 344. 
454 Ibid., para. 345. 
455 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 207 to 229. 
456 Ibid., para. 210. 
457 Ibid., para. 214 and (for Witness L) para. 226. 
458 Ibid., paras. 215, 216 (Witness O exculpates the accused) and 228 (Witness W is not reliable). 
459 Ibid., para. 217. The Defence argues that the Trial Chamber considered Witness I the bedrock of its decision 
whereas in the Defence’s opinion, he is “one of the most unreliable witnesses”.  
460 Ibid., paras. 218 and 219. The Defence argues that the Trial Chamber should have taken into account the 
inconsistencies in Witness M’s testimony regarding the make of Kayishema’s vehicle and the unreliability of his 
testimony in relation to Kayishema’s alleged acts during the massacres. 
461 Ibid., para. 224. The Defence challenges the overall credibility of Witness K. 
462 Ibid., paras. 225 and 226. The Appellant challenges the credibility of Witness L who, although he testified to 
having seen the Appellant at the site, was subsequently unable to identify the accused at the hearing. 
463 Ibid., paras. 217 (Witness I) and 218 (Witness M).  
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Consequently, Kayishema submits that, “[I]n light of the above, the Chamber has committed 

errors of fact occasioning a miscarriage of justice under Article 24 of the Statute.”464 

ii.  Discussion 
 

274. The Appeals Chamber underscores that the Trial Chamber relied on the testimonies of 

Witnesses I, K, L and M in establishing beyond a reasonable doubt that Kayishema actually 

participated in the massacres in Kibuye stadium.465 Indeed, the Trial Chamber found “the 

evidence of Kayishema’s identification and participation convincing”466 and consequently was 

satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that on 18 April 1994, “Kayishema went to the Stadium and 

ordered members of the gendarmerie nationale, communal police and members of the 

Interahamwe to attack the Stadium”.467 

275. With respect to Kayishema’s allegations that the Trial Chamber committed an error by 

accepting the testimonies of Witnesses K, L and M, deemed unreliable by the Defence, the 

Appeals Chamber is of the view that said allegations are apparently unfounded or of little moment 

considering the Trial Chamber’s findings as regards Kayishema’s responsibility in the massacres 

perpetrated at this site.468 Indeed, the Appeals Chamber holds that the Trial Chamber established, 

in light of the above testimonies, that Kayishema was present at the Stadium on 18 April 1994 

during the first massacre, and also that he effectively participated by giving orders to the attackers 

and by personally committing the crimes. After hearing Witnesses K, L and M, the Trial Chamber 

found that: 

“When considered together, the witness testimony shows that Kayishema first ordered 
the gendarmes to fire on the Tutsis and then grabbed a gun and personally fired twice 
into the Stadium, apparently to lead and set an example to start the massacre.”469 

As Kayishema has failed to cast a reasonable doubt on the assessment of the evidence 

presented before the Trial Chamber, the Appeals Chamber finds the Defence arguments 

unfounded. 

                                                 
464 Ibid., para. 229. 
465 Trial Judgement, para. 371 et seq. 
466 Ibid., para. 375. 
467 Ibid., para. 376. 
468 See for example Trial Judgement, paras. 362 to 365. 
469 Trial Judgement, para. 364 (See also para. 375 regarding Witness L’s credibility). 
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276. With respect more specifically to the lack of credibility of Witness I, whom Kayishema 

considers the most unreliable due to inconsistencies in his testimony, the Appeals Chamber finds, 

on the one hand, that Kayishema has failed to demonstrate the alleged inconsistencies and, on the 

other hand, that the allegations are general. The Trial Chamber considered the credibility of the 

said witness470 and accepted his testimony.471 The Appeals Chamber is therefore of the opinion 

that Kayishema has failed to show the alleged error. 

277. As regards Kayishema’s allegation concerning the treatment of the objections raised by 

the Defence with respect to Witnesses I and M, the Chamber notes that, contrary to Kayishema’s 

assertion, the Trial Chamber considered said objections. After analyzing Witness I’s testimony 

and the inconsistencies pointed out by the Defence, the Trial Chamber found that his testimony 

that Kayishema fired two gunshots and that the two shots struck two refugees in the Stadium was 

relevant.472 Indeed, the Trial Chamber found Witness I’s testimony all the more pertinent as it was 

corroborated by Witness M. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber states that it falls to the trial judge 

to rule on the merits of the Defence objections and that as Kayishema has failed to show that the 

Trial Chamber’s findings are unreasonable, the Appeals Chamber finds this allegation unfounded. 

278. As regards the allegations that the Trial Chamber completely failed to consider the 

testimonies of Witnesses O and W,473 the Appeals Chamber finds said allegations irrelevant in 

light of Kayishema’s main ground, which challenges the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the 

evidence of his actual participation in the massacres at the Stadium. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that Kayishema’s allegations with respect to Witness O directly relate to the question of the 

accused’s intent, that has been dealt with in the preceding section, and that Witness W’s 

testimony raises facts that are not directly related to the issue of the accused’s actual 

participation.474 The Chamber is therefore of the opinion that it is not necessary to review the 

evidence of those witnesses. 

                                                 
470 Ibid., paras. 358 to 361. 
471 Ibid., paras. 361, 371 and 375. 
472 Ibid., para. 361. 
473 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 216 and 228. 
474 Ibid., para. 228. Kayishema asserts that the witness is not credible as he allegedly testified that while at Gatwaro 
Stadium, he saw some authorities, including Bagosora, which, according to Kayishema, is a patent untruth. 
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c.  Conclusion on Kayishema’s responsibility under Article 6(1) 
 

279. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Kayishema’s third ground of appeal with 

respect to the préfet’s individual responsibility.475 

3.  Kayishema’s responsibility under Article 6(3) 
 

280. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber committed errors of fact and of law that 

invalidate the decision and occasion a miscarriage of justice (Grounds 2 and 3) in its assessment 

of the préfet’s status and powers. 

281. It is Kayishema’s core contention that the Chamber erred when it found, as ground for the 

accused’s responsibility under Article 6(3), that the various entities present during the massacres 

were the préfet’s subordinates. The Appellant thus sets out to show that, given his status and 

powers, the préfet could not reasonably be held responsible for the reprehensible acts of the 

assailants, pursuant to Article 6 (3), and therefore could neither prevent nor punish the purported 

perpetrators of the massacres, considered by the Trial Chamber to have acted under his authority.  

282. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Appellant therefore not only seems to call into 

question the findings of the Trial Chamber regarding the préfet’s de jure authority, but also 

attempts to show that, since the préfet had no de jure authority, he could not in fact, and worse 

still, in the Rwandan context of 1994, exercise any such authority. 

(i) Interpretation of the concept of subordinate 
 
  a. Arguments of the Parties 
 

283. In his Appellant’s Brief, Kayishema mainly raises the issue of the Trial Chamber’s 

assessment of Kayishema’s position as hierarchical superior over the various groups of assailants. 

In substance, he asserts that whatever the powers of the préfet were, the context of the time 

reduced them de facto to nothing. 

                                                 
475 Considering the fact that the Appeals Chamber finds the Prosecutor’s Brief in Response inadmissible, and that, 
consequently, Kayishema’s Brief in Reply will not be considered, the Appeals Chamber nonetheless holds that even 
if the additional issues raised in Kayishema’s Brief in Reply were considered, that would not affect its findings. 
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284. The Defence attempts to show that an analysis of the relevant statutory instruments476 

could lead to the conclusion that, given the Rwandan context of the time, the accused, as a préfet, 

had no subordinate.477 The Defence submits that political changes which occurred as from 1992 

caused considerable disruption in the préfet’s overall situation478 in the sense that the hierarchical 

link with the decentralized services was already cut down479 and, on the other hand, that the 

relation between the préfets and the bourgmestres in the context of 1994 implied a form of 

tutelage (monitoring of lawfulness) and not a hierarchical power structure.480 

285. Relying on Professor Guibal’s testimony,481 the Defence argues that “préfets [were] in a 

position of great theoretical power and in a situation of real practical weakness”,482 which 

therefore rendered ‘those civil servants legally impotent’”. Kayishema thus contends that the Trial 

Chamber “artificially creat[ed] a powerful préfet”,483 which, according to him, constitutes an error 

of law. 

286. As concerns the powers of the préfet, the Defence examined consecutively the powers of 

the préfet in general, and then his powers over the bourgmestre, the communal police, and the 

gendarmerie. 

                                                 
476 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 233 to 245. 
477 Ibid., paras. 231 to 233bis. 
478 Ibid., para. 233. Kayishema contends that the applicable statutory instruments were promulgated during the period 
of single party politics and that the crimes he is charged with occurred during the period of multiparty politics; 
according to him, “Kayishema neither had the authority on paper (de jure) nor effectively in concrete terms (de 
facto).” The Appellant thus cites the testimony of Professor Guibal, who testified on the legal situation in the country 
(paras. 235 to 245) and who mainly holds the view that the advent of multiparty politics, which was even worsened in 
1994 (Kayishema avers that as from 1994 multipartyism became a “crisis”) caused a decline in the Préfet’s status and 
function” (para. 237). 
479 Ibid., para. 236.2. It should be noted that the Appellant contends that the statutory instruments in force in Rwanda 
provided for “a highly centralized administrative system, run on the basis of organic and functional devolution and, in 
exceptional cases, some decentralization.  According to Professor Guibal, there are two main consequences of the 
introduction of multiparty politics (para. 245): (1) the statutory position of the Préfet is weakened inasmuch as he no 
longer depends on a purely administrative hierarchy; (2) there is a dilution of his responsibilities and a decrease in his 
powers . 
480 Ibid., para. 238. 
481 T (A), 30 October 2000, p. 45. During the hearing on appeal, Kayishema puts forward new arguments relating to 
the Chamber’s assessment of the Guibal report. Thus, he advances three criticisms against the Tribunal concerning its 
treatment of Witness Guibal. In his view, the judges did not fully take into account that testimony on the grounds 
that: (1) Professor Guibal was a Frenchman and therefore did not qualify to testify on the status of the Préfet; (2) 
Professor Guibal’s testimony was very theoretical; and (3) that the situation at the time required concrete analysis and 
the Chamber only gave priority to what could prove Kayishema’s culpability. 
482 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 240. 
483 Ibid., paras. 90bis and 90ter (incorrectly numbered, and placed after para. 245). 
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287. Kayishema proceeds with an analysis of legal provisions to show the préfet’s lack of 

power, making it impossible for him to assert himself within the context of 1994.484 He reiterates 

the argument that the legal provisions organizing the administrative functioning of the préfecture, 

which remained in force in 1994, were totally ill-adapted to multiparty politics established in 

1994,485 to show that it is impossible to establish any direct link between the préfet and the crimes 

charged. The Defence thus submits that, since Kayishema was not a “camp commander or 

commander of a warring group”, he was not responsible for “the victims for which he is being 

held to account”.486 

288. As concerns the préfet’s power over the bourgmestre487 and therefore over the communal 

police,488 Kayishema once again invokes legal provisions to show the non-existence of 

hierarchical powers of the préfet over mayors, contrary to the findings of the Chamber which, in 

his view, erred in law.489 According to him, the préfet certainly has hierarchical power over the 

bourgmestre but this is absolutely not the power of a superior over his subordinate, for he 

contends, “hierarchy does not mean subordination”.490 Kayishema submits, therefore, that the 

notion of hierarchy does not include that of superiority. 

289. As for the communal police, Kayishema contends that “the very basis of the decision 

rendered is undermined”, for according to him, the Trial Chamber “undertook a succinct 

examination491 of the 1991 constitution and of the Arusha Accords”.492 He argues that the legal 

instruments do not allow for the conclusion that the préfet has indirect authority over the 

communal police through the bourgmestre.493 After an analysis of the relevant legal provisions (in 

particular, Article 104), Kayishema concludes that the préfet can only requisition the communal 

police in case of “public disasters and disturbances”. He therefore contends that the communal 

                                                 
484 Ibid., paras. 246 to 257bis. 
485 Ibid., paras. 246 to 248. According to him, “all these provisions, promulgated at the time of single party rule, 
remained in force under multipartyism but obviously totally ill adapted to the latter” (para. 248). 
486 Ibid., para. 252. 
487 Ibid., paras. 258 to 270. 
488 Ibid., paras. 271 to 275 et seq. (it should be noted that the Appellant wrongly numbered paras. 259bis and ter on 
pp. 72 and 73 of his Brief). 
489 Ibid., para. 265. He argues that the préfet has neither coercive nor supervisory power over the bourgmestre 
because the bourgmestre is free and independent.  He attempts to show that the préfet has only hierarchical authority, 
which is equivalent to administrative supervision. 
490 Ibid., para. 266. 
491 Ibid., para. 259bis, following para. 275 on p. 72. Kayishema is referring to p. 16 of the Trial Judgement. 
492 Idem. 
493 Ibid., para. 271. 
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police could not effectively intervene in the 1994 events. Legally, the préfet can certainly ask the 

communal police to intervene, but Kayishema denies the existence of any hierarchical authority. 

Moreover, Kayishema avers that “the concept of indirect subordination is a construction which 

does not exist in law”,494 that “authority is direct or it is not, and responsibility is never indirect; it 

either is or is not”.495 

290. Lastly, Kayishema disagrees with the Trial Chamber for having misconstrued the 

préfet’s496 power of requisition, that is, the relationship between the gendarmes and the préfet. In 

this section, Kayishema also carries out an analysis of the relevant legal provisions to show that 

the préfet is not the hierarchical superior of the gendarmes497 since “the legislation requires 

mutual cooperation”.498 Kayishema further submits that a requisition does not give the préfet any 

coercive power since, on the one hand, the latter must justify his request and, on the other hand, 

the request may be turned down.499 

291. Kayishema asserts that “it must first be demonstrated that Kayishema had de jure 

authority and that, at the time, he had a de facto authority to be able to exercise his authority.”500 

Consequently, the Defence concludes, “if no de jure authority exists, there is no subordinate and, 

therefore, no de facto authority”.501 

292. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution contended that the grounds of appeal raised 

by the Appellant were factual grounds,502 and that the Defence did not provide evidence to show 

that the accused had no power over the various groups of attackers. The Prosecution asserts that 

Kayishema exercised effective authority and control over his subordinates. It concludes that the 

Trial Chamber has already adjudicated reasonably on the arguments, which arguments it does not 

                                                 
494 Ibid., para. 275. 
495 T(A), pp. 68 and 69. 
496 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 276 to 291. 
497 Ibid., para. 283. 
498Ibid., para. 282. He argues that the exceptional nature of the requisition and the attendant cumbrous procedure 
show that the préfet, who is forced to legitimate the measures requested, cannot be considered as a superior, since he 
does not have to "give orders in a formal way, failing which they are not followed". (Kayishema’s Brief, para. 279) 
499 Ibid., para. 280. Moreover, he recalls (para. 289) that the Bourgmestre could directly request the Commanding 
Officer of the Rwandan Armed Forces to intervene in the interest of public order. In this respect, he concludes that 
there is no hierarchy between the préfet and the bourgmestre. Hence, he asserts that “the Tribunal confused the 
concepts of disturbances, disaster and public order”, since each of them requires a constitutionally different and 
appropriate response. 
500 T(A), p. 218. 
501 Ibid., p. 219. 
502  Ibid., p. 159. 
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consider convincing.503 The Prosecution contends, referring to “a well-established principle: [that] 

the absence of de jure authority does not prevent a finding of de facto authority”.504 The 

Prosecution is of the view that the arguments presented by the Defence were not convincing and 

further asserts that said arguments had been adjudicated upon by the Trial Chamber. It argues that 

the fact that the bourgmestre was legally responsible in Rwanda does not mean that the préfet 

does not have de facto authority.505 The Prosecution further argues that, even if the Appeals 

Chamber decided to come back on the fact that Kayishema had no de jure authority over the 

bourgmestre, the communal police and the gendarmes, the fact remains that he was indeed in a 

position of authority, which gave him de facto power. Accordingly, the Prosecution submits that 

“[…] no good cause has been shown on appeal to justify a re-examination of the factual findings 

of the Trial Chamber”.506 

(ii) Discussion 

293. Kayishema alleges both legal and factual errors in the findings of the Trial Chamber with 

respect to his de jure authority over his subordinates. The Appeals Chamber understands his main 

argument to be that unless there is de jure authority there cannot be criminal responsibility under 

Article 6(3) of the Statute.507 Kayishema appears to be contesting whether a de facto status can be 

determined without first establishing the de jure status. 

294. Article 6(3) of the Statute on “Individual criminal responsibility”, provides that: 

The fact that any of the acts referred to in Articles 2 to 4 of the present Statute was 
committed by a subordinate does not relieve his or her superior of criminal responsibility 
if he or she knew or had reason to know that the subordinate was about to commit such 
acts or had done so and the superior failed to take the necessary and reasonable measures 
to prevent such acts or to punish the perpetrators thereof.  

With respect to the nature of the superior-subordinate relationship, the Appeals Chamber 

refers to the relevant principles expressed in the Čelebići Appeal Judgement in relation to the 

identical provision in Article 7(3) of ICTY Statute, as follows: 

                                                 
503 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 161. 
504 Idem. 
505 T(A), 30 October, p. 161. 
506 Ibid., p. 165. 
507 Ibid., p. 219 (“Therefore, if there was no de jure authority, then there can be no subordinate and, therefore, there 
can be no de facto authority.”) 
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(i) [A] superior is “one who possesses the power or authority in either a de jure or a 
de facto form to prevent a subordinate’s crime or to punish the perpetrators of the crime 
after the crime is committed”.508 Thus, “[t]he power or authority to prevent or to punish 
does not solely arise from de jure authority conferred through official appointment.”509  

(ii) “In determining questions of responsibility it is necessary to look to effective 
exercise of power or control and not to formal titles. […]. In general the possession of de 
jure power in itself may not suffice for the finding of command responsibility if it does 
not manifest in effective control, although a court may presume that possession of such 
power prima facie results in effective control unless proof to the contrary is produced. 
[T]he ability to exercise effective control is necessary for the establishment of de facto 
command or superior responsibility and […] the absence of formal appointment is not 
fatal to a finding of criminal responsibility, provided certain conditions are met.”510  

(iii) “The showing of effective control is required in cases involving both de jure and 
de facto superiors.”511 

This Appeals Chamber accepts these statements and notes that the Trial Chamber, in its 

Judgement, applied a similar approach when it found that: 

[E]ven where a clear hierarchy based upon de jure authority is not present, this does not 
prevent the finding of command responsibility. Equally, as we shall examine below, the 
mere existence of de jure power does not always necessitate the imposition of command 
responsibility. The culpability that this doctrine gives rise to must ultimately be 
predicated upon the power that the superior exercises over his subordinates in a given 
situation.512 

Thus, “as long as a superior has effective control over subordinates, to the extent that he 

can prevent them from committing crimes or punish them after they committed the crimes, he 

would be held responsible for the commission of the crimes if he failed to exercise such abilities 

of control”.513 Therefore, Kayishema’s argument that without de jure authority, there can be no 

subordinate and hence, no de facto authority, is misconceived. This question turns on whether the 

superior had effective control over the persons committing the alleged crimes. The existence of 

effective control may be related to the question whether the accused had de jure authority. 

However, it need not be; such control or authority can have a de facto or a de jure character.514 

                                                 
508 Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 192. 
509 Ibid., para. 193. 
510 Ibid., para. 197. 
511 Ibid., para. 196. 
512 Trial Judgement, para. 491. 
513 Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 198. 
514 Čelebići Trial Judgement, para. 378, referred to and agreed with in the Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 196.  
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295. As to the remainder of Kayishema’s arguments, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that 

they concern the allegation of an error on the part of the Trial Chamber in its evaluation of the 

evidence regarding the existence of de jure authority. This poses a question of fact and, in respect 

of a factual error, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the relevant “test” is that of reasonableness. 

Thus, “[i]t is only where the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber could not reasonably have 

been accepted by any reasonable person that the Appeals Chamber can substitute its own finding 

for that of the Trial Chamber.”515  In paragraphs 479 – 516 of the Trial Judgement, a thorough 

analysis of the evidence led the Trial Chamber to conclude that Kayishema exercised clear, 

definitive control, both de jure and de facto, over the assailants at every massacre site set out in 

the indictment. Kayishema, who now disputes this conclusion on appeal, must persuade the 

Appeals Chamber that the conclusion is one which could not have reasonably been made by a 

reasonable tribunal of fact, so that a miscarriage of justice has occurred. 

296. The Appeals Chamber notes that during the closing arguments at trial, Counsel for 

Kayishema had argued to the effect that Kayishema did not enjoy de jure control over the 

appropriate administrative bodies and law enforcement agencies.516 On appeal, he repeats these 

arguments both in the Kayishema Brief and during the hearing on appeal. 

297. Kayishema argues that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the testimony of 

Professor Guibal with respect to “crisis multi-partyism”, the exceptional climate that reigned in 

1994 and their effect on the existing legal texts on which the function and powers of the préfet 

were based. Having considered the testimony of Professor Guibal as confirming the de jure power 

of the préfet,517 the Trial Chamber went on to consider the conclusion of Professor Guibal’s 

testimony to the effect that such power was “emptied of any real meaning when the ministers, the 

ultimate hierarchical superiors to the police, gendarmes and army, were of a different political 

persuasion.”518 This conclusion led the Trial Chamber to find that: 

[S]uch assertions clearly highlight the need to consider the de facto powers of the Prefect 
between April and July 1994. Such an examination will be conducted below. However, 
the delineation of power on party political grounds, whilst perhaps theoretically sound, 
should only be considered in light of the Trial Chambers findings that the administrative 
bodies, law enforcement agencies, and even armed civilians were engaged together in a 

                                                 
515 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 64. See also Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 63; Furund`ijaž Appeal 
Judgement, para. 37. 
516 Trial Judgement, para. 477; see also T, 3 November 1998 and 4 November 1998. 
517 Ibid., paras. 484 – 485. 
518 Ibid., para. 486. 
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common genocidal plan. The focus in these months was upon a unified, common 
intention to destroy the ethnic Tutsi population. Therefore, the question of political 
rivalries must have been, if it was at all salient, a secondary consideration.519 

The Appeals Chamber considers that it has not been shown that the Trial Chamber erred in 

its assessment of the testimony of Professor Guibal. The Trial Chamber adequately considered 

such testimony with respect to the events occurring at the material period and, hence, reasonably 

concluded that possession of de jure power would not suffice in the circumstances for the 

determination of effective control.  

298. Kayishema submits that the de jure relationship between the préfet and bourgmestre (i.e. 

the hierarchical powers) under Rwandan law cannot be construed as one of a superior and a 

subordinate. Kayishema further relies on an analysis of the relevant legal text to claim, (i) that the 

préfet does not exercise an indirect de jure authority520 over the communal police and (ii) that the 

préfet’s restricted powers of requisition over the gendarmerie refute a finding of de jure authority 

over the same. He submits that these arguments show that the Trial Chamber erred in ascribing 

criminal responsibility to Kayishema under Article 6(3) of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber 

notes that Kayishema’s arguments are entirely premised on his main assertion that a finding of de 

jure authority is required for criminal responsibility under Article 6(3) of the Statute. As the 

Appeals Chamber has considered above that the argument is misplaced, it will not address 

Kayishema’s arguments but, rather, it will briefly consider whether the Trial Chamber reasonably 

concluded that he exercised effective control over the assailants. 

299. In the case of the bourgmestre, the Trial Chamber looked at the following factors (both de 

jure and de facto) to establish that Kayishema exercised effective authority: the legislative 

provisions of two Rwandan Statutes,521 the actions of Kayishema himself showing the continued 

subordination of the bourgmestres to his de jure authority;522 Kayishema’s own evidence on his 

relationship with the bourgmestre of Gishyita commune indicating the importance of his presence 

at a scene and evidencing that the préfet was a “well-known, respected and esteemed figure 

                                                 
519 Ibid., para. 487. 
520 It is relevant to note that the Čelebići Appeal Judgement (para. 254), has found that, “[…] references to concepts 
of subordination, hierarchy and chains of command […] need not be established in the sense of formal organisational 
structures so long as the fundamental requirement of an effective power to control the subordination, in the sense of 
preventing or punishing criminal conduct, is satisfied.”, see also Kordić Trial Judgement (para. 408), interpreting this 
statement from the Čelebići Appeal Judgement to the effect that, “the relationship of subordination may be direct or 
indirect”.  
521 Trial Judgement, para. 481. 
522 Ibid., para. 488. 
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within his community”523. Similarly, Kayishema was also found to have effective control over the 

communal police and the gendarmerie, as evidenced by legislative provisions,524 and the actual 

control he wielded over all the assailants including the gendarmes, soldiers, prison wardens, 

armed civilians and members of the Interahamwe as demonstrated by the identification of 

Kayishema as leading, directing, ordering, instructing, rewarding and transporting them to carry 

out the attacks.525 The Trial Chamber found that the facts of the case established that Kayishema 

exercised de facto control over all of the assailants.526 At paragraph 504 of the Trial Judgement it 

was stated that: 

All of the factual findings need not be recounted here. These examples are indicative of 
the pivotal role that Kayishema played in leading the execution of the massacres. It is 
clear that for all crime sites denoted in the Indictment, Kayishema had de jure authority 
over most of the assailants, and de facto control of them all. 

The Appeals Chamber is satisfied that it was open to the Trial Chamber to find that 

Kayishema exercised effective control through its consideration of the de jure and de facto status 

of the authority enjoyed by him. Kayishema has sought to challenge the findings of the Trial 

Chamber with respect to command responsibility under Article 6(3) of the Statute, exclusively 

through an allegation of error in its findings of his de jure authority. Consequently, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that Kayishema has not shown that the Trial Chamber’s findings with regard to his 

effective control were unreasonable so as to result in a miscarriage of justice. 

(b) The issue of the préfet’s power to punish and prevent crime 
 

(i) Arguments of the parties 
 

300. Kayishema maintains that, given the prevailing context at the time, it emerges clearly that 

he could neither prevent the crimes committed in Kibuye préfecture nor punish the perpetrators 

thereof.527 To this effect, he recalls the findings of Professor Guibal, who holds the opinion that 

                                                 
523 Ibid., para. 499, the Trial Chamber had considered that the theoretical underpinning proffered by Professor Guibal 
did not reflect the reality that was found in Rwanda. 
524 Trial Judgement, paras. 482-483. 
525 Ibid., paras. 501-503. 
526 Ibid., para. 501; see also para. 476 (“bourgmestres and other members of the administration, gendarmes, soldiers, 
communal police, prison wardens, members of the Interahamwe and armed civilians were identified at the massacre 
sites and the Trial Chamber had found that they participated on the atrocities at these cites”). 
527 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 257. 
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“the powers of administrative policing and of direct penalization of the préfet […] were reduced 

and, in some cases, even disappeared”.528 

301. Kayishema recognizes that Article 10 of the legislative decree of 11 March 1975 provides 

that the préfet, in some cases, “could have a power which could be qualified as judicial since he 

may prosecute and punish”.529 But that provision cannot be relied upon as a ground for the 

responsibility of the accused under Article 6 (3). The Defence holds the view that Kayishema 

could neither control, contain, prevent nor even punish the assailants since he had neither the 

authority nor the necessary means to do so.530 

(ii) Discussion 
 

302. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in substance, Kayishema alleges a lack of means to 

prevent or punish, based on a similar argument of lack of de jure authority and, hence, an absence 

of de facto means, in the light of the circumstances of the material period. His submissions on this 

point are set out in general terms. 

Article 6 (3) of the Statute establishes a duty to prevent a crime that a subordinate was 

about to commit or to punish such a crime after it is committed, by taking “necessary and 

reasonable measures”. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the interpretation of “necessary and 

reasonable measures” has been considered in previous cases before ICTY. The Čelebići Trial 

Judgement found that: 

[A] superior should be held responsible for failing to take such measures that are within 
his material possibility… [T]he lack of formal legal competence to take the necessary 
measures to prevent or repress the crime in question does not necessarily preclude the 
criminal responsibility of the superior”.531 

The Appeals Chamber agrees with this interpretation and further notes that the Trial 

Chamber applied a similar approach when it found that: 

In order to establish responsibility of a superior under Article 6 (3), it must also be 
shown that the accused was in a position to prevent or, alternatively, punish the 
subordinate perpetrators of those crimes. Clearly, the Trial Chamber cannot demand the 

                                                 
528 Ibid., para. 238. 
529 Ibid., para. 247. 
530 Ibid., paras. 251-256. 
531 Čelebići Trial Judgement, para. 395, cited in Kordić , para. 442. 
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impossible. Thus, any imposition of responsibility must be based upon a material ability 
of the accused to prevent or punish the crimes in question.532  

Thus, it is the effective capacity of the Accused to take measures which is relevant.  

Accordingly, in the assessment of whether a superior failed to act, it is necessary to look beyond 

formal competence to actual capacity to take measures. Kayishema’s argument that he lacked the 

means to prevent or punish crime in the context of the material period through an absence of 

formal competence or de jure authority, is once again misplaced. 

303. In particular, the Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber found as follows : 

No evidence was adduced that he attempted to prevent the atrocities that he knew were 
about to occur and which were within his power to prevent.533 

On the issue of Kayishema’s failure to punish the perpetrators, the Defence submitted 
that the only power held by the préfet in this respect was the ability to incarcerate for a 
period not exceeding 30 days. The Trial Chamber concurs with the Defence’s submission 
that this would not be sufficient punishment for the perpetrators of the alleged crimes 
(though possibly sufficient as a short-term measure to help prevent further atrocities).  
However, the Trial Chamber is mindful that there is no evidence to suggest that in the 
3 months between the start of these attacks and Kayishema’s departure from Rwanda, no 
action was commenced which might ultimately have brought those barbarous crimes to 
justice.534 

(c) Conclusion 
 
304. In the light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Kayishema’s arguments are 

unfounded.  The Appeals Chamber, therefore, holds that it has not been demonstrated that the 

Trial Chamber erred as alleged.  Consequently, Grounds Two and Three in relation to 

Kayishema’s individual criminal responsibility under Article 6 (3) of the Statute are dismissed. 

                                                 
532 Trial Judgement, para. 511. 
533 Ibid., para. 513. 
534 Ibid., para. 514. 



Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
Page 118 
 
 
 

F. Evidentiary matters 
 

305. Under his seventh ground of appeal, Ruzindana alleges that on the whole, the Trial 

Chamber committed an error of fact in its assessment of testimonies of Prosecution witnesses and 

in its findings on the reliability of eyewitnesses’ testimonies. He is requesting that the Appeals 

Chamber simply set aside the findings of the Trial Chamber.535 

1.  Arguments of the parties 
 
306. In his submissions,536 Ruzindana argues that by failing to identify the legal standards used 

to ascertain the reliability of testimonies of eyewitnesses or by simply failing to apply any such 

standards, and also, by relying, for its verdict, on testimonies deemed unreliable, the Trial 

Chamber failed to provide a legal basis for its decision. 

307. Ruzindana submits that the reliability of eyewitnesses is a substantive issue, as the Trial 

Chamber itself acknowledged, because all the charges brought against Ruzindana are based on 

testimonies by Rwandan witnesses to the exclusion of such material evidence as documents, 

records, correspondence, etc. 

308. Ruzindana submits that the Trial Chamber should have exercised greater caution in its 

assessment of eyewitness testimonies, especially as such testimonies would be the only basis for 

its verdict. Very few testimonies by Prosecution witnesses were excluded by the Trial Chamber 

on the ground that the reliability of the witnesses was seriously undermined. The Trial Chamber 

should have laid down a veritable set of criteria for assessing the reliability of witness evidence. 

309. Moreover, the Trial Chamber failed to take into account in its verdict the negative findings 

on the reliability of some of the testimonies.537 

310. Ruzindana holds the view that the Trial Chamber assessed these testimonies on a case-by-

case basis taking into account the truthfulness of the witness and his ability to make reliable 

observations, without indicating clearly the means by which it satisfied itself of the overall 

                                                 
535 Ruzindana’s Brief para. 60. 
536 Ibid., paras. 41 to 60. 
537 Trial Judgement, paras. 427 and 449; and paras. 426 and 461. 
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reliability of the testimonies (the veracity of oral testimonies was not verified). The Defence had 

suggested the following criteria: psychological, political and specific circumstances criteria. 

311. At the hearing on appeal, Ruzindana addressed again the issue of the reliability of 

testimonies and the failure by the Trial Chamber to adopt any criteria in assessing the credibility 

of witness testimonies.538 Ruzindana argued that none of the Prosecution witnesses, with the 

exception of one, knew or had ever heard of Ruzindana prior to the events.539 Ruzindana further 

contends that the circumstances under which they saw him from a distance were such that they 

could not identify him. 

312. Ruzindana criticizes the Trial Chamber for finding that he participated in and incurred 

responsibility for the attacks carried out against the Tutsis at several sites of the Bisesero region. 

He alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment540 of the evidence proffered before it. 

The Appellant proceeded to review, on a site-by-site basis, the errors allegedly committed by the 

Trial Chamber. 

313. In the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, the arguments put forward by Ruzindana in 

support of his seventh ground of appeal raise two main issues: firstly, the assessment approach 

used by the Trial Chamber and its inherent contradictions, and secondly, the identification of the 

accused. 

314. With respect to the first issue, Ruzindana submits the following arguments, to wit: 

(a) The Trial Chamber contradicted itself in assessing the evidence of Witness FF541 in 

paragraphs 414, 426 and 427 of its Judgement. The Trial Chamber committed a 

“patent” error of fact in paragraph 448 of its Judgement in assessing the credibility 

of Witness Z;542 

                                                 
538 T(A), 30 October 2000, see for example p. 129 and pp. 220-221. 
539 Ibid., p. 186. 
540 Trial Judgement, paras. 405 to 472. 
541 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 42. 
542 Ibid., para. 57. The Appellant is specifically referring to the Transcript of the hearing of 14 October 1997, pp. 5 
and 36 to 41. 
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(b) The Trial Chamber erred in discounting the testimony of Witness CC whose 

testimony called into question the very existence of an attack in Bisesero;543 

(c) The Trial Chamber should have made the same finding with respect to Ruzindana, 

as it did in the case of Kayishema, in light of the testimony of Witness KK (para. 

427 of the Trial Judgement);544 

(d) The Trial Chamber's reasoning contradicts paragraph 450 of the Judgement since, 

on the basis of Witness MM, the Trial Judges held that the victim’s death was not 

caused by a shot fired by the accused whereas, further on, it found that this 

testimony proved that the accused was among the attackers.545 

315. Regarding the Trial Chamber’s assessment of the reliability of the identification testified 

to by the witnesses, Ruzindana raises two complaints: 

(a) The issue of ascertaining that the witnesses knew the accused; (the witnesses did 

not know Ruzindana, therefore the identification was doubtful and their 

testimonies should have consequently been discounted);546 

(b) The actual identification of the accused by witnesses who supposedly knew him 

(the witnesses actually knew Ruzindana but the circumstances under which they 

saw him were such that they could not have identified him). 

316. During the hearing on appeal, the Prosecutor focused her Response on four main issues 

which, in her view, emerged from a reading of Ruzindana’s submissions:547 

(a) The issue of the Appeals Chamber applying relevant legal standards or tests in 

considering the reliability of witnesses’ testimony; 

(b) The issue of applying such tests or standards; 

                                                 
543 Ibid., para. 57. The Appellant is specifically referring to the Transcript of the hearing of 15 October 1997, pp. 68 
to 71. 
544 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 55. 
545 Ibid., para. 56. 
546 Ibid., para. 44 (Witnesses PP, OO, II, JJ, NN, HH and UU), para. 48 (Witness PP), para. 49 (Witnesses CC and 
W) and para. 50 (Witness II). 
547 T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 183 to 192. 
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(c) The issue of the use of “partially credible” witness testimonies; 

(d) The issue of the overall assessment of the evidence that led to the conviction of 

Ruzindana. 

317. The Appeals Chamber notes that during the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution referred 

considerably to its written submissions and pointed out, with respect to whether the witnesses 

knew Ruzindana, that the Trial Chamber had found, particularly in paragraphs 456 and 457 of its 

decision, that the witnesses knew him.548 

318. That the witnesses knew Ruzindana was relied on as a relevant factor in placing 

Ruzindana at the sites of the massacres. In the submission of the Prosecution, the fact that the 

witnesses had personal knowledge of Ruzindana was not a prerequisite for identification.549 

Moreover, Ruzindana has failed to show that no reasonable court would have made the same 

findings as the Trial Chamber made from such evidence. 

2.  Discussion 

319. First of all, the Appeals Chamber wishes to underscore that it is neither possible nor 

proper to draw up an exhaustive list of criteria for the assessment of evidence, given the specific 

circumstances of each case and the duty of the judge to rule on each case in an impartial and 

independent manner.550 The Appeals Chamber concurs with the argument of the Trial Chamber 

that it is “for the Trial Chamber to decide upon the reliability of the witness’ testimony in light of 

its presentation in court and after its subjection to cross-examination.”551 

320. The Appeals Chamber holds the view that when the testimony of only one witness is 

reasonable and reliable, such testimony may be admitted.552 ICTY Appeals Chamber ruled on this 

same issue in the Tadić case when it stated as follows: 

“The task of hearing, assessing and weighing the evidence presented at trial is left to the 
Judges sitting in a Trial Chamber.  Therefore, the Appeals Chamber must give a margin 
of deference to a finding of fact reached by a Trial Chamber.  It is only where the 

                                                 
548 As the Prosecutor’s Appeal is time-barred, the Appeals Chamber shall only rely on the Prosecutor’s oral 
submission at the hearing. 
549 T(A), 30 October 2000, p. 242. 
550 Cf. supra, para. 54 et seq. on the independence of  the Tribunal. 
551 Trial Judgement, para. 70. 
552 Cf. supra, para. 187. 
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evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber could not reasonably have been accepted by any 
reasonable person that the Appeals Chamber can substitute its own finding for that of the 
Trial Chamber.”553 

The Appeals Chamber must defer to the findings of the trier of fact, unless the alleged 

error sufficiently shows that the Trial Chamber’s findings are unreasonable, which findings have 

occasioned a miscarriage of justice. 

321. In general, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber has clearly set forth criteria 

for the assessment of witness’ testimonies.554 

322. The Appeals Chamber reiterates555 that accepting as evidence the uncorroborated 

testimony of a witness does not in itself constitute an error.556 

323. Regarding the alleged contradiction in the assessment of Witness FF’s testimony, it is 

incumbent on the Trial Chamber to assess whether the contradictions raised in this testimony 

substantially cast doubt on the overall credibility of the witness. The Appeals Chamber finds, 

upon reading the Judgement of the Trial Chamber, that the alleged contradictions are 

unfounded.557 

324. Paragraph 448 of the Trial Judgement covers the second half of April 1994 and the fact 

that Witness Z testified that he did not see Ruzindana fire shots on 14 April 1994558 is not 

inconsistent with his testimony that he saw Ruzindana fire shots at the Tutsis on other 

occasions.559 However, the Appeals Chamber finds that the fact that Ruzindana fired shots during 

the attacks in the second half of April 1994 was not explicitly recounted by Witness Z.560 All in 

all, Witness Z’s testimony leaves no doubt: 

                                                 
553 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 64. 
554 Trial Judgement, paras. 65 to 80. 
555 Tadić Appeal Judgement, para. 65 in fine. 
556 Reference to Ruzindana’s allegation in his Brief, para. 42 (witness FF-Bisesero Hill ) and paras. 55 and 56 
(witness KK and MM- Gitwa cellule). 
557 For more details, the Appeals Chamber refers to the analysis in respect of Kayishema’s third ground of appeal, cf. 
supra, para. 257 et seq. See also the Prosecutor’s argument, T(A), 30 October 2000, pp. 298 and 299. 
558 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 54; Trial Judgement, para. 448; T., 14 October 1997, pp. 5 to 9 and 61 to 64. 
559 T., 14 October 1977, pp. 6 and 67. 
560 Ibid. 
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“that Ruzindana was present and played a pivotal role in the massacres at this site by 
ordering the assailants to surround the Hill and kill the Tutsis hiding there.”561 

325. Moreover, the Trial Chamber did not mention the portion of Witness CC’s testimony in 

which he stated that there were no attacks in Bisesero Hill area on 20 April 1994.562 However, the 

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered that though some witnesses (including 

CC) did not give the exact date of the events,563 that did not cast doubts on the fact that the events 

occurred.  As noted by ICTY Appeals Chamber: 

“The Trial Chamber did not refer to the testimony of Assa’ad Harraz in the Judgement in 
reaching its findings on this issue, but there is no indication that the Trial Chamber did 
not weigh all the evidence that was presented to it. A Trial Chamber is not required to 
articulate in its Judgement every step of its reasoning in reaching particular findings.”564 

The Appeals Chamber affirms that in a case where there are two conflicting testimonies, it 

falls to the Trial Chamber, before which the witnesses testified, to decide which of the testimonies 

has more weight. 

326. Regarding the alleged errors in assessing the testimonies of Witnesses MM and KK, it 

should be noted that the Appellant only makes general allegations, without identifying the 

specific parts of such testimonies which support his allegations. Nor does Ruzindana advance 

sufficiently cogent arguments to show the alleged error. 

327. The Appeals Chamber concurs with the line of reasoning adopted by the Trial Chamber565 

with respect to Ruzindana’s argument that the fact that it was not established that the witnesses 

knew him is one of the factors that weakens the probative value of the evidence of identification 

of the Accused. Moreover, the Appeals Chamber finds that the witnesses’ personal knowledge of 

Ruzindana is not a prerequisite for identification.566 

                                                 
561 Trial Judgement, para. 448 in fine. 
562 T., 15 October 1997, pp. 76 and 78. 
563 Trial Judgement, para. 437. 
564 Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 481. 
565 The Trial Chamber found beyond reasonable doubt that several witnesses knew the Accused, Cf. Trial Judgement, 
paras. 71, 456, 457, and 458. 
566 Refers to Ruzindana’s allegations in his Brief, paras. 44 and 45, para. 48 (witness PP-Muyira Hill), para. 49 
(Witnesses HH and W – the Cave), para. 50 (Witness RR – the Mine at Nyiramurengo Hill), para. 56 (Witness MM – 
Gitwa cellule) para. 57 (Witness II – the vicinity of Muyira Hill). 
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328. As noted by the Trial Chamber, “prior knowledge of those identified is another factor that 

the Trial Chamber may take into account in considering the reliability of witness’ testimonies.”567 

The fact that some of the witnesses did not personally know the accused prior to the events is not 

at all a sufficient reason to invalidate the testimony of a witness who identified the Accused.568 

3.  Conclusion 
 
329. For all these reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses this ground of appeal. 

                                                 
567 Trial Judgement, para. 71. On the probative value, see Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 274. 
568 Trial Judgement, para. 71. 
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G. Appeals Against Sentence 
 

1.  Arguments of the Parties 
 

330. Each accused has appealed against the sentences imposed by the Trial Chamber.  

(a) Kayishema’s Arguments 
 
331. In Grounds Seven and Eight, Kayishema alleges that, in general, the Trial Chamber erred 

in the sentence imposed, and in particular, in its assessment of the aggravating and mitigating 

factors presented at trial.   

(b) Ruzindana’s Arguments 
 
332. In Ground Nine, Ruzindana alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in its analysis of the 

aggravating and mitigating factors presented at trial.  

2.  Discussion 
 
(a) Relevant Provisions of the Statute and the Rules 
 
333. For ease of reference, the relevant provisions of the Statute and Rules to the issues raised 

in these grounds are set out below. 

Article 6(4) of the Statute 
 

The fact that an accused person acted pursuant to an order of a government or of a 
superior shall not relieve him or her of criminal responsibility, but may be considered in 
mitigation of punishment if the International Tribunal for Rwanda determines that justice 
so requires. 

Article 23 of the Statute: Penalties 
 

1. The Penalty imposed by the Trial Chamber shall be limited to imprisonment. In 
determining the terms of imprisonment, the Trial Chambers shall have recourse 
to the general practice regarding prison sentences in the courts of Rwanda. 

2. In imposing the sentences, the Trial Chambers should take into account such 
factors as the gravity of the offence and the individual circumstances of the 
convicted person. 
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3. In addition to imprisonment, the Trial Chambers may order the return of any 
property and proceeds acquired by criminal conduct, including by means of 
duress, to their rightful owners. 

 

Rule 101 of the Rules: Penalties 
 

(A) A person convicted by the Tribunal may be sentenced to imprisonment for a 
fixed term or the remainder of his life. 

(B) In determining the sentence, the Trial Chamber shall take into account the 
factors mentioned in Article 23 (2) of the Statute, as well as such factors as: 

(i) Any aggravating circumstances; 

(ii) Any mitigating circumstances including the substantial cooperation with 
the Prosecutor by the convicted person before or after conviction; 

(iii) The general practice regarding prison sentences in the courts of Rwanda; 

(iv) The extent to which any penalty imposed by a  court of any State on the 
convicted person for the same act has already been served, as referred to 
in Article 9(3) of the Statute. 

(C) The Trial Chamber shall indicate whether multiple sentences shall be served 
consecutively or concurrently. 

(D) Credit shall be given to the convicted person for the period, if any, during which 
the convicted person was detained in custody pending surrender to the Tribunal 
or pending trial or appeal. 

(b) Standard of Review in an Appeal Against Sentence 

334. A preliminary point to be considered before discussing the merits of these grounds is the 

standard of review under Article 24 of the Statute dealing with an appeal against sentence.569 

335. The Appeals Chamber notes that a Trial Chamber is required, as a matter of law, under 

both the Statute and the Rules, to take into account aggravating and mitigating circumstances. 

Therefore, if it fails to do so, it commits an error of law. Article 23(2) of the Statute provides, 

inter alia, that in imposing sentence, the Trial Chamber “should take into account such factors as 

the gravity of the offence and the individual circumstances of the convicted person.” 

                                                 
569 Article 24 of the Statute provides: “1. The Appeals Chamber shall hear appeals from persons convicted by the 
Trial Chambers or from the Prosecutor on the following grounds: (a) An error on a question of law invalidating the 
decision; or (b) An error of fact which has occasioned a miscarriage of justice. 2. The Appeals Chamber may affirm, 
reverse or revise the decisions taken by the Trial Chambers.” 
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336. Rule 101(B) of the Rules is binding in that the Trial Chamber “shall take into account” the 

factors listed. Therefore, if it does not, it will be committing an error of law. The Appeals 

Chamber must first examine whether or not the Trial Chamber considered these factors.570 

Second, it must consider whether or not it properly took them into account.571 

337. In considering the issue of whether a sentence should be revised, the Appeals Chamber 

notes that the degree of discretion conferred on a Trial Chamber is very broad. As a result, the 

Appeals Chamber will not intervene in the exercise of this discretion, unless it finds that there was 

a “discernible error”572 or that the Trial Chamber has failed to follow the applicable law.573 In this 

regard, it confirms that the weighing and assessing of the various aggravating and mitigating 

factors in sentencing is a matter primarily within the discretion of the Trial Chamber. Therefore, 

as long as a Trial Chamber does not venture outside its “discretionary framework”574 in imposing 

a sentence, the Appeals Chamber shall not intervene. 

338. The burden rests on the Appellants to “show that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion, 

so invalidating the sentence. The sentence must be shown to be outside the discretionary 

framework provided by the Statute and the Rules.”575 

(c) Preliminary Points Regarding Appeal Filed by Ruzindana 

339. In relation to the grounds of appeal filed by Ruzindana, several preliminary points arise. 

340. First, during the hearing on appeal, the Prosecution submitted that Ruzindana has 

supplemented his grounds of appeal since the filing of his Notice of Appeal on 18 June 2000.576 

                                                 
570 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 122. 
571 Ibid., paras. 122 and 123.  
572 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 187. 
573 Serushago Sentencing Appeal Judgement, para. 32. See also Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 187, and Tadić 
Sentencing Appeal Judgement, paras. 20 and 22.  
574 Tadić Sentencing Appeal Judgement, para. 20.  See also Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 775 (“…a decision as 
to the weight to be accorded to such acts in mitigation of sentence lies within the discretion of the Trial Chamber. In 
the absence of a finding that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in imposing a sentence outside its discretionary 
framework as provided by the Statute and Rules, this argument must fail.”) (citing Kambanda Appeal Judgement, 
para. 124).  
575 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 115. 
576 T(A), 30 Oct. 2000, pp. 319-320. Specifically, it alleged that “in his notice of appeal…he lodged three grounds of 
appeal against the sentence. When he filed his Appellant’s brief…he added two more grounds of appeal….When the 
Prosecution filed its brief attacking the sentence that was handed down to Ruzindana…[in his response]…the 
Appellant advanced three grounds of appeal against his sentence. That brings the number of grounds of appeal 
against his sentence to eight.” 
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The Appeals Chamber notes that in Ruzindana’s Brief in response to the Prosecution’s appeal 

against his sentence, he lists three grounds which, he submits, clarify and limit his own appeal. 

These are: (1) that the Trial Chamber took into account as an aggravating circumstance what in 

reality is a constituent element of the crime itself, that is, his mens rea; (2) that the Trial Chamber 

took into account as an aggravating circumstance what in reality is another constituent element of 

the crime itself, that is, the actus reus of the crime; and (3) that the Trial Chamber did not give 

sufficient weight to the mitigating circumstance that Ruzindana was not a de jure official. 

341. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, at the start of the hearing on appeal, it identified each 

of the grounds of appeal which had been filed by Kayishema and Ruzindana. Each party was 

given the opportunity to put forward any relevant observations regarding this identification, which 

the Appeals Chamber stated it would consider. The Appeals Chamber identified Ruzindana’s 

ground of appeal against sentence as generally relating to the treatment by the Trial Chamber of 

aggravating and mitigating circumstances.577 Ruzindana confirmed at the appropriate time that he 

accepted this identification.578 He did not submit that any issues had been omitted and therefore 

the Appeals Chamber proceeded on this basis. 

342. The Appeals Chamber confirms that it does not consider the three issues clarified above to 

constitute independent grounds of appeal. Similarly, it does not consider that Ruzindana should 

have been obliged to apply for leave to amend his notice of appeal to include them. 

343. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in his brief, Ruzindana submits that he intends to make 

further submissions “on the issue of mitigating and aggravating circumstances in the brief that he 

will file under Rule 112 of the Rules.”579 In addition, he submits that before he can make further 

submissions in respect of this appeal, “the Prosecutor must first cite the aggravating circumstance 

that she felt must be brought against the accused, since she has hitherto cited only one such 

circumstance.”580 

344. The Appeals Chamber notes that it has already considered similar issues concerning the 

presentation of new arguments in support of prior submissions in the Kambanda Appeal 

Judgement of 19 October 2000. In that case, the Prosecution had submitted that because the 

                                                 
577 Ibid., p. 12. 
578 Ibid., p. 26. 
579 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 62. 
580 Ibid. 
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Appellant had failed to put forward any arguments in support of particular grounds of appeal 

related to sentence, “the grounds of appeal should be rejected without consideration of the 

merits.”581 The Appeals Chamber indeed found that the Appellant had not put forward any 

arguments in support of his grounds, in either his Appellant’s brief or his reply, and further, that 

during the hearing, only one additional point was raised.582 The Appeals Chamber held: 

… Rule 111 expressly states that “[a]n Appellant’s brief shall contain all the argument 
and authorities.” Although Rule 114 provides that “the Appeals Chamber may rule on 
…appeals based solely on the briefs of the parties”, it also states that it can decide to hear 
the appeal in open court. It is intended that each party should advise the Appeals 
Chamber in full of all the arguments they wish to rely on in relation to each ground of 
appeal, through both written filings and orally. 

However, in the case of errors of law, the arguments of the parties do not exhaust the 
subject. It is open to the Appeals Chamber, as the final arbiter of the law of the Tribunal, 
to find in favour of an Appellant on grounds other than those advanced: jura novit curia. 
Since the Appeals Chamber is not wholly dependent on the arguments of the parties, it 
must be open to the Chamber in proper cases to consider an issue raised on appeal even 
in the absence of substantial argument. The principle that an appealing party should 
advance arguments in support  of his or her claim is therefore not absolute: it cannot be 
said that a claim automatically fails if no supporting arguments are presented.583 

The Appeals Chamber will exercise its discretion to consider whether the grounds have 

merits.584 

345. In this case, the Appeals Chamber similarly finds that Ruzindana has indeed failed to 

identify reasons in his Appellant’s brief to support his submissions relating to sentence. However, 

he did supplement those submissions contained in his Notice of Appeal and his Appellant’s brief 

during the hearing on appeal. In addition, the Appeals Chamber does not deem it warranted to 

classify arguments raised in any of his filings on this issue as new grounds of appeal. It confirmed 

that the relevant grounds related to the treatment by the Trial Chamber of aggravating and 

mitigating circumstances. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber accepts any arguments 

raised at the appropriate time, insofar as they relate to the relevant grounds. 

                                                 
581 Prosecution’s Response to Jean Kambanda’s Provisional Appellant’s Brief of 30 March 2000,” filed on 
2 May 2000, paras 4.144, 4.161, 4.165, 4.167-4.169, 4.171. 
582 Kambanda Appeal Judgement, para. 96. 
583 Ibid., paras. 97 and 98. 
584 Ibid., para. 99. 
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(d) Aggravating and Mitigating Circumstances 
 

(i) Treatment of Aggravating Factors 

 
346. The main error alleged by both Kayishema and Ruzindana in their respective appeals 

overlaps, and therefore the Appeals Chamber considers it expedient to discuss the issue together. 

347. Kayishema alleges that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the aggravating and 

mitigating circumstances taken into account in his case, while Ruzindana alleges that the Trial 

Chamber erred in its analysis of aggravating and mitigating circumstances and in doing so 

imposed a sentence which was excessive.585 

348. Ruzindana alleges, in particular, that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the 

aggravating circumstances completely outweighed the mitigating circumstances, and in referring, 

in particular, to “the heinous means by which Ruzindana committed killings.”586 He submits that 

the Trial Chamber took into account, as an aggravating circumstance, the “odious manner in 

which the crime was committed. Furthermore, the Trial Chamber determined as to the odious 

manner of the crime, the murder of a young lady known as Beatrice.”587 He submits that in doing 

so and in sentencing him for a crime of genocide, the Trial Chamber confused “the material 

elements, the murder itself, and the aggravating circumstances.”588 He submits that there is an 

obvious error committed by the Trial Chamber in treating what was a material element of a crime 

as an aggravating circumstance.589 

349. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered the heinous means by 

which Ruzindana committed the killings as an aggravating circumstance. It cited the murder of 

Beatrice, a 16 year old girl, at Nyiramurego Hill in the Bisesero sector, as an example, and 

described the particularly gruesome manner in which she was killed.590 As a mitigating 

circumstance, the Trial Chamber considered the fact that Ruzindana was not a de jure official. It 

                                                 
585 Ruzindana’s Brief, para. 61. 
586 Notice of Appeal against Sentence imposed on Obed Ruzindana, p. 2. 
587 T(A), 30 Oct. 2000, p. 242. 
588 Ibid., pp. 242 and 243. 
589 Ibid., p. 243. 
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found “the presence of some mitigating circumstances for Ruzindana, but none of any significant 

weight in a case of this gravity.”591 It concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed 

the mitigating circumstances. 

350. Ruzindana has claimed that by taking into account the heinous manner in which the young 

woman, Beatrice, was murdered, and by sentencing for the crime of genocide, the Trial Chamber 

confused the material elements of the crime and the aggravating circumstances, and in so doing, 

committed an error. The Appeals Chamber finds no merit in this argument. The particularly 

gruesome manner in which the victim, Beatrice, was killed, is an aggravating circumstance. The 

fact that this act of killing also supported a conviction for the crime of genocide, because it was 

part of the policy of genocide within Kibuye préfecture, does not prevent a separate finding that 

the manner in which it was carried out gave rise to an aggravating circumstance. Hence, this 

argument is dismissed. 

351. The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber found that Ruzindana 

“voluntarily committed and participated in the offences and this represents an aggravating 

circumstance.”592 The Appeals Chamber interprets the Trial Chamber’s finding as follows: it 

considers that the Trial Chamber was focusing, not simply on the fact that these acts were 

committed voluntarily, but also on the fact that they were committed with some element of zeal. 

The zeal with which a crime is committed may be viewed as an aggravating factor. As a result, 

the Trial Chamber’s finding on this point was not erroneous. 

352. Ruzindana also claims that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the aggravating 

circumstances completely outweighed the mitigating circumstances, and that it imposed an 

excessive sentence. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found “the presence of 

some mitigating circumstances for Ruzindana, but none of any significant weight in a case of this 

gravity”.593 The Appeals Chamber recalls that the degree of discretion conferred on a Trial 

Chamber in the area of sentencing is broad, and that the gravity of the offence is the primary 

consideration in imposing sentence.594 Furthermore, as noted above, a Trial Chamber must 

                                                                                                                                                               
590 The Trial Chamber found: “Ruzindana ripped off her clothes and slowly cut off one of her breasts with a machete.  
When he finished, he cut off her other breast while mockingly telling her to look at the first one as it lay on the 
ground, and finally he tore open her stomach.” Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 4. 
591 Ibid., p. 5. 
592 Ibid., p. 3. 
593 Ibid., p. 6. 
594 Čelebići Appeal Judgement, para. 731. 
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consider the individual circumstances of the accused, as well as the aggravating and mitigating 

factors; weighing these factors is a task primarily within its discretion. The Appeals Chamber will 

not intervene in this exercise unless there has been an abuse of discretion. The Trial Chamber in 

this case considered the gravity of Ruzindana’s conduct. It found him guilty of an extremely 

serious offence, an offence that “shocks the conscience of humanity.”595 It considered his 

individual circumstances. It considered the aggravating circumstances surrounding the killings he 

perpetrated, such as the cutting off of the breasts of a victim and the tearing open of her stomach, 

while he openly mocked her. On the other hand, it took account of the circumstance that 

Ruzindana, a businessman, was not a de jure official. It weighed these different circumstances, 

and concluded that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the ones in mitigation. The Appeals 

Chamber cannot find that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in so concluding. In light of all 

those factors, the Appeals Chamber holds that the Trial Chamber did not abuse its discretion in 

imposing a sentence of twenty-five years’ imprisonment on Ruzindana. 

353. Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred in taking into account as an aggravating 

circumstance the fact that he committed the crime of genocide by knowingly participating.596 He 

submits that an error is committed by the Trial Chamber in finding that the commission of the 

crime of genocide itself constitutes an aggravating circumstance.597 In his view, a Trial Chamber 

cannot make findings on both the essential ingredients of a crime and at the same time find that 

they constitute aggravating circumstances.598 

354. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Kayishema “voluntarily 

committed and participated in the offences and this represents one aggravating circumstance.”599 

The Appeals Chamber further notes that Kayishema has been found responsible both as a direct 

participant under Article 6(1) of the Statute and as a superior under Article 6(3). He has been 

found guilty of the crime of genocide under Article 2(3)(a) of the Statute. As discussed above, the 

Appeals Chamber considers that in making its finding, the Trial Chamber was focusing, not 

simply on the fact that these acts were committed voluntarily, but also on the fact that they were 

committed with some element of zeal, which constitutes an aggravating circumstance. As a result, 

the Appeals Chamber holds that the Trial Chamber’s finding on this point was not erroneous. 

                                                 
595 Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 2. 
596 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 294. 
597 Ibid., para. 295. 
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355. Kayishema also submits that the Trial Chamber erred by considering in aggravation the 

fact that he was préfet when it was on this basis that he was charged and convicted. This, he 

alleges, amounts to punishing him twice.600 

356. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that the fact that Kayishema, as 

préfet, held a position of authority, was an aggravating circumstance. It found that he was a leader 

in the genocide in Kibuye préfecture, and that “this abuse of power and betrayal of his high office 

constitute[d] the most significant aggravating circumstance.”601 

357. The Appeals Chamber finds that the fact that the Accused held a position of authority or 

leadership may constitute an aggravating factor in sentencing. In the Kambanda Appeal 

Judgement, this Chamber, in affirming the sentence imposed by the Trial Chamber, expressly 

noted the Trial Chamber finding that “the aggravating circumstances surrounding the crimes 

negate the mitigating circumstances, especially since Jean Kambanda occupied a high ministerial 

post at the time he committed the said crimes.”602 Furthermore, in the Aleksovski Appeal 

Judgement, ICTY Appeals Chamber maintained that the Appellant’s “superior responsibility as a 

warden seriously aggravated the Appellant’s offences, [and that] instead of preventing it, he 

involved himself in violence against those whom he should have been protecting …”.603 

358. The Appeals Chamber would interpret the existing jurisprudence on this point as follows: 

Article 6(3) imposes liability on a superior if he knew or had reason to know that his subordinate 

was about to commit such acts or had done so, and had failed to take the necessary and reasonable 

measures to prevent such acts or punish the perpetrators. The mere fact that an accused has 

command authority is not an aggravating circumstance in sentencing, in respect of Article 6(3) 

charge; that goes only to conviction. However, a finding that superior responsibility lies because 

of such failure to prevent or punish does not preclude a further finding that the manner in which 

an accused exercises his command can be an aggravating circumstance in relation to sentencing. 

As a result, Kayishema’s argument on this point is dismissed. 

                                                                                                                                                               
598 Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, pp. 8-9. 
599 Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 3. 
600 Kayishema’s Definitive Reply, para. 239. 
601  Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 4. 
602 Kambanda Trial Judgement, para. 62. 
603 Aleksovski Appeal Judgement, para. 183. 
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359. Finally, Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred in considering four 

circumstances which it found to be aggravating: (1) the fact that, being préfet, he neither punished 

nor prevented the commission of crimes by his subordinates; (2) the fact that he committed the 

crimes alleged in a systematic and methodical way; (3) the fact that he abused his position of 

authority in committing the crimes alleged; and (4) the fact that he raised the issue of alibi and 

never stopped protesting his innocence.604 The Appeals Chamber notes that the third circumstance 

has already been addressed above. The first two are not reflected in the Trial Chamber’s 

Judgement, as will be seen below. 

360. With regard to the other aggravating factors, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial 

Chamber found as follows: 

To give but one example of the zealousness of Kayishema’s crimes, this Chamber recalls 
that Kayishema attacked places traditionally regarded as safe havens, such as the 
Complex and Mubuga Church. The harm suffered by victims and their families 
represents an aggravating circumstance, and this Chamber recalls the irreparable harm 
that Kayishema inflicted on his victims and their families. Kayishema asserted an alibi 
defence and at all times denied his guilt. This Chamber also finds that this fact, in light 
of the convictions, represents an additional aggravating circumstance.605 

Thus, in addition to the fact that Kayishema held a position of authority, the Appeals 

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber isolated these three additional aggravating factors: (1) his 

zeal in committing the crimes, exemplified by his attack on safe havens; (2) the harm suffered by 

the victims and their families; and (3) his assertion of an alibi and his denial of his guilt at all 

times. The Appeals Chamber considers that Kayishema, in attributing to the Trial Chamber the 

view that his failure to prevent subordinates’ crimes and his committing of crimes in a systematic 

and methodical way were aggravating factors, misunderstood the Trial Chamber’s position. These 

two factors were cited by the Trial Chamber in its list of the Prosecution’s submissions as to the 

aggravating factors. 

361. The Appeals Chamber finds that the two factors, namely the zeal shown in committing the 

crimes and the harm caused to the victims and families, were properly characterized as 

aggravating circumstances by the Trial Chamber. As noted above, an individual’s great zeal or 

enthusiasm in committing a crime may be considered as an aggravating factor. Similarly, 

perpetrating a crime in a manner which brings about irreparable harm to the victims and their 

                                                 
604 Kayishema’s Brief, paras. 296-297, Kayishema’s Definitive Reply, paras. 244-245. 
605 Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 4. 
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families may also be considered an aggravation. When an individual commits a crime, there are 

differing degrees of physical and psychological harm to the victim which may result. Some types 

of harm are more severe than others. Certain forms of physical harm, for instance, are irreparable, 

particularly in the case of mutilation. The Trial Chamber found that Kayishema’s acts inflicted 

irreparable harm not only to the victims, but also to their families. This constituted an aggravating 

circumstance to be taken into account in sentencing. Hence, Kayishema’s argument concerning 

these two factors is dismissed. 

362. The Trial Chamber also found Kayishema’s assertion of an “alibi defence” and his 

repeated protestations of innocence as an aggravating factor in light of the gravity of the crimes 

for which he is convicted. The Chamber, in a footnote, referred to the Tadić Sentencing 

Judgement of 14 July 1997 for support. In that Judgement, the Chamber stated that “Tadić has in 

no relevant way cooperated with the Prosecutor of the International Tribunal. Indeed, he has at all 

times denied his guilt for the crimes of which he has been convicted. Consequently, he is not 

entitled to any mitigation pursuant to … Rule 101(B)(ii).”606 That Chamber found denials of guilt 

as a factor preventing any mitigation. It did not find this factor as an aggravating circumstance. 

363. The Appeals Chamber finds that it is not necessary for it to pronounce on whether the 

assertion of an alibi and persistent denials of guilt constitute aggravating circumstances. The 

Appeals Chamber concludes that even if the Trial Chamber were found to have erred on this 

point, such error would not invalidate the sentence imposed on Kayishema. In sentencing, the 

Trial Chamber is conferred a large degree of discretion, and the Appeals Chamber will not review 

a sentence unless there has been an abuse of discretion. The Appeals Chamber recalls again that 

the gravity of the offence is the primary consideration in imposing sentence. The Appeals 

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber considered the extreme seriousness of Kayishema’s crimes, 

his individual circumstances, mitigating factors, and other aggravating factors, and properly 

concluded that a sentence of imprisonment for the remainder of his life, for each count, was 

appropriate. 

(ii) Treatment of mitigating factors 

364. As to mitigating factors, Kayishema submits that the Trial Chamber erred in giving no 

weight to the factors he presented, because it held that “the nature of the events in Rwanda [were 

                                                 
606 See Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadić, Case No. IT-94-I-T, Sentencing Judgement, 14 July 1997, para. 58. 
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such that they could not] allow for anyone’s responsibility to be diminished, and that, on the other 

hand, it was not ‘convinced of Kayishema’s qualities of loyalty and honesty in light of his 

convictions in this case’.”607 He submits that mitigating circumstances should not be rejected on 

the grounds that the crimes he committed are grave. He sets out general mitigating factors as an 

introduction;608 these include the arguments that no one could have done anything useful to 

prevent or limit the chaos, that no one could have done more than Kayishema, and that he has 

always been an honest man. He also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in ignoring the 

testimony of two witnesses as being without probative value, without providing an explanation.609 

365. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered the mitigating 

circumstances put forward by Kayishema — namely, the “explosion of the rule of law in Rwanda 

in 1994,” his being “overwhelmed by the events and the mob or ‘crowd psychology’ that existed 

in Rwanda in 1994”, and his loyalty and honesty.610 However, the Trial Chamber gave very little 

weight to these factors, and stated that “the two proposed mitigating circumstances rely on 

testimony that [it] finds not particularly probative.”611 Further, it stated that it was not convinced 

of Kayishema’s qualities of loyalty and honesty in light of the circumstances of the case.612 It 

concluded that there were some mitigating circumstances, but none of any significant weight in a 

case of this gravity, and that these were outweighed by the aggravating circumstances.613 

366. The Appeals Chamber, in evaluating the Trial Chamber’s treatment of the mitigating 

factors, recalls once again that weighing and assessing aggravating and mitigating factors in 

sentencing lies primarily within the discretion of the Trial Chamber, and that the Appellant bears 

the burden of demonstrating that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion and acted outside the 

boundaries of its discretion. The Appeals Chamber cannot find that this was the case here. The 

Trial Chamber considered the mitigating factors advanced by the Appellant, and ultimately found 

them unconvincing, in light of the testimony that it had heard during the trial and the 

circumstances of the case. It must be stressed at this juncture that a Trial Chamber is in the best 

position to assess and evaluate the evidence presented before it. The Trial Chamber did so in this 

                                                 
607 Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, p. 9. 
608 Kayishema’s Brief, para. 292.  
609 Ibid., para. 298. 
610 Trial Judgement (Sentence), p. 5. 
611 Ibid. 
612 Ibid. 
613 Ibid. 
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case, and concluded, in light of all of the evidence in the case, that the mitigating factors proffered 

by the Appellant were weak, and were outweighed by the aggravating circumstances. The 

Appeals Chamber does not find that the Trial Chamber abused its discretion in so concluding, and 

the Appellant has not demonstrated that it did so. Hence, this argument is dismissed. 

(e) Gravity of the Offences 

367. With regard to Kayishema’s allegation that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that 

genocide is the “crime of crimes” because there is no such hierarchical gradation of crimes,614 the 

Appeals Chamber finds it necessary to examine closely the Trial Chamber’s holding on this point. 

Under the heading “gravity of offences”, the Trial Chamber found that the Appellants: 

have committed genocide, an offence of the most extreme gravity, an offence that shocks 
the conscience of humanity. Trial Chamber I of this Tribunal has held that genocide 
constitutes the “crime of crimes.” Article 2 of the Statute defines the crime of genocide 
and its unique element of special intent to “destroy in whole or in part, a national, ethnic, 
racial or religious group as such.” For purposes of determining sentences, this Chamber 
finds that Kayishema’s four convictions of genocide and Ruzindana’s one conviction of 
genocide constitute offences beyond human comprehension and of the most extreme 
gravity.615 (citations omitted). 

The Appeals Chamber remarks that there is no hierarchy of crimes under the Statute, and 

that all of the crimes specified therein are “serious violations of international humanitarian 

law”,616 capable of attracting the same sentence. The actual sentence imposed depends, of course, 

upon the evaluation of the various factors referred to in the Statute and the Rules. The Appeals 

Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber’s description of genocide as the “crime of crimes” was at 

the level of general appreciation, and did not impact on the sentence it imposed. Furthermore, 

upon examining the statements of the Trial Chamber, it is evident that the primary thrust of its 

finding as to the gravity of the offences relates to the fact that genocide in itself is a crime that is 

extremely grave. Such an observation is correct, and for these reasons, there was no error in its 

finding on this point. 

                                                 
614 Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, p. 9, Kayishema’s Definitive Reply, para. 246.  It should be noted that this 
argument was raised in Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, under the heading “Aggravating Circumstances.”  The 
substance of the argument relates, however, to the Trial Chamber’s consideration of the gravity of the offences in 
sentencing, and the Appeals Chamber deems it appropriate to consider it under a separate heading.   
615 Trial Judgement (Sentence), pp. 2 and 3. 
616 Article 1 of the Statute. 
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(f) General Appeal Against Sentence Imposed on Kayishema 

368. Kayishema submits that a complete and objective analysis of the facts of the case will 

show that he is not guilty of the crimes alleged, and that in these circumstances, the Trial  

Chamber has committed both an error of law and of fact in handing down a sentence for guilt 

which does not exist.617 

369. A similar, though not identical issue, was raised in the appellate proceedings in the case of 

Anto Furundžija before ICTY. In that case, the Appellant submitted that there were “substantive 

issues that hang over the case”, suggesting that innocence is a possibility and that that should be 

considered in sentencing. ICTY Appeals Chamber rejected such a submission, finding that: 

[g]uilt or innocence is a question to be determined prior to sentencing. In the event that 
an accused is convicted, or an Appellant’s conviction is affirmed, his guilt has been 
proved beyond reasonable doubt. Thus a possibility of innocence can never be a factor in 
sentencing.618 

370. Similarly in this case, a Trial Chamber cannot commit an error by sentencing an accused 

for crimes for which it has found that he is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. The Appeals 

Chamber finds that there is simply no merit in Kayishema’s submission. It further notes that the 

sentence imposed on Kayishema by the Trial Chamber, imprisonment for the remainder of his life 

for each count, falls within the discretionary framework provided by the Statute and Rules. The 

crimes for which he was convicted were of the most serious nature, and a sentence imposed must 

reflect the inherent gravity of the criminal conduct.619 In light of these factors, the Appeals 

Chamber sees no reason to revise the sentence imposed by the Trial Chamber. 

3.  Conclusion 

371. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber upholds the sentences imposed by the 

Trial Chamber on Kayishema and Ruzindana. 

                                                 
617 Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal, p. 10. 
618Furundžija’s Appeal Judgement, para. 253. 
619 Kambanda’s Appeal Judgement, para. 125. 
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IV. DISPOSITION 
 
372. For the foregoing reasons, The Appeals Chamber, on 1 June 2001, ruled as follows: 

“The Appeals Chamber, 

Pursuant to Article 24 of the Statute of the Tribunal and Rule 118 of the Rules of 

Procedure and Evidence, 

Considering the written submissions of the parties and their oral arguments at the 

hearings of 30 and 31 October 2000, 

Sitting in open court, 

 

Finds inadmissible by 4 votes (Judges Jorda, Vohrah, Nieto-Navia and Pocar) to 1 (Judge 

Shahabuddeen) the Prosecution appeal and the Prosecutor’s Respondent’s Brief; 

Unanimously dismisses the grounds of appeal raised by Clément Kayishema and Obed 

Ruzindana against the Judgement and Sentence of the Trial Chamber delivered on 21 May 

1999; 

Affirms the verdict of guilty entered against Clément Kayishema for all the counts on 

which he was convicted and the sentence of life imprisonment imposed on him; 

Affirms the verdict of guilty entered against Obed Ruzindana for the count on which he 

was convicted and the sentence of twenty-five years’ imprisonment imposed on him; 

Rules that this Judgement shall be enforced immediately pursuant to Rule 119 of the 

Rules of Procedure and Evidence. 
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Done in English and French, the French text being authoritative. 
 
__________________  ________________  ____________________ 
Claude Jorda    Lal Chand Vohrah  Mohamed Shahabuddeen 
Presiding Judge   Judge    Judge 
 
_________________   ________________ 
Rafael Nieto-Navia   Fausto Pocar 
Judge     Judge 
 
 
Judge Shahabuddeen appends a Separate Opinion to this Judgement. 
 
Judge Nieto-Navia appends a Declaration to this Judgement. 
 
 
Dated this first day of June 2001 
At Arusha, Tanzania 
 
 
Done in English and French, the French text being authoritative. 
 
 
__________________  ________________  ____________________ 
Claude Jorda    Lal Chand Vohrah  Mohamed Shahabuddeen 
Presiding Judge 
 
________________   ________________ 
Rafael Nieto-Navia   Fausto Pocar 
 
 
Dated this nineteenth day of July 2001 
At The Hague 
The Netherlands 
 

[Seal of the Tribunal] 
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ANNEX A 
 

HEARING ON APPEAL 
 

1.  Motions relating to the filing of briefs 
 

1. The Appellants filed a series of motions for extension of the time-limits for filing their 

respective briefs. On 28 May 1999, after filing its notice of appeal, the Prosecution filed a 

motion1 for extension of time-limits on the grounds that it had not received a copy of the 

Judgement. 

2. By a decision of 19 July 1999,2 the Appeals Chamber ordered the Registrar to supply the 

Prosecutor with copies of the Judgement and dissenting opinion by 2 August 1999. Following 

certification of the Trial Record on 29 July 1999 and service of copies of the Judgement on the 

parties on 30 July 1999, the Appeals Chamber issued an order3 on 3 September 2000 directing 

the parties to file their Appellant’s briefs by 28 October 1999, with further briefs to be filed 

subsequently pursuant to Rules 112 and 113 of the Rules. 

3. On 7 October 1999, Ruzindana filed a motion4 requesting the complete record on appeal, 

including all the exhibits. Ruzindana argued that the certified record was incomplete. He sought 

a one-month extension of the time-limit for filing briefs with effect from the date of receipt of 

the complete record. Also on 7 October 1999, Kayishema filed a motion5 on the same grounds. 

4. In its decision of 21 October 1999 on the 7 October 1999 motions filed by Kayishema 

and Ruzindana, the Appeals Chamber suspended until further notice the briefing schedule 

contained in the order of 3 September 1999. 

5. On 25 November 1999, the Prosecutor filed a Motion for Correction and Clarification of 

the Record on Appeal.6 

                                                 
1 “Motion for the Extension of Time-Limits Pursuant to Article 24 and Rules 108 and 116”. 
2 “Decision on the Prosecutor’s Motion for Extension of Time-Limits Pursuant to Article 24 of the Statute and Rules 
108 and 116 of the Rules”. 
3 “Scheduling Order”. 
4 “Extremely Urgent Motion for an Extension of the Time-Limit for Filing of the Appellant’s Brief – Rules 111 and 
116 of the Rules”. 
5 Motion of Clément Kayishema Before the Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda for 
an Extension of the time-limit for Filing the Appellant’s Brief (Rules 111 and 116 of the Rules). 
6 Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal. 



Case No. ICTR-95-1-A 
Page 2 
 
 
6. In its decision of 14 December 1999,7 the Appeals Chamber granted the Appellants’ 

motions for extension of time and ordered Kayishema and Ruzindana (Appellants), as well as the 

Prosecution (Cross-Appellant), to file their respective briefs by the end of ninety days following 

the day on which the Addendum to the Registry Certificate on the Record was communicated to 

each them. 

7. In its ruling on the motion of 25 November 1999, the Appeals Chamber ordered the 

Prosecutor to submit, within seven days of her receipt of the Order, a draft Order of the precise 

relief requested.8 On 6 January 2000, the Prosecutor filed a reply9 to which was attached a draft 

order on the clarification of the Trial Record and Record on Appeal. On 2 March 2000, the 

Registrar filed a corrigendum10 to the certified record pursuant to the Appeals Chamber’s order 

of 29 December 1999 and the Prosecutor’s draft order.11 

8. The Prosecution had previously, on 24 February 2000, filed a motion12 seeking from the 

Appeals Chamber clarification on the time-limits for filing its Appellant’s Brief. On 11 April 

2000, the pre-hearing judge, designated by an Order issued by the Presiding Judge of the 

Appeals Chamber on 7 March 2000, denied the Prosecutor’s Motion for Clarification on the 

time-limits and ordered the Prosecution to file its Appellant’s Brief by 28 April 2000. Moreover, 

the pre-hearing judge directed the Registrar to make certain corrections to the certified Trial 

Record. 

9. Following the filing of the Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief, Ruzindana sought an 

extension13 of the time-limit for filing his Respondent’s brief in light of the extension granted to 

the Prosecutor by the 11 March 2000 order as well as the filing by the Prosecution of its brief on 

                                                 
7 Decision (Appellant’s Motions for Extension of Time-Limits and for a Visit with Another Prisoner) of 
14 December 1999. 
8 Order (Prosecutor’s Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record and Record on Appeal), 
29 December 1999. 
9 Response by the Prosecution to the 29 December 1999 Order of the Appeals Chamber, Prosecutor’s motion for 
correction and clarification of the Trial Record and Record on Appeal, 6 January 2000. 
10 “Memorandum to the Appeals Chamber from the Registrar, pursuant to Rule 33(B), with regard to the Prosecutor’s 
Motion for Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record on Appeal of 25 November 1999”, 2 March 2000. 
11 Response by the Prosecution to the 29 December 1999 Order of the Appeals Chamber (Prosecutor’s Motion for 
Correction and Clarification of the Trial Record and Record on Appeal), 6 January 2000. 
12 Prosecutor’s Motion to Seek Clarification on the Time-Limits to File the Legal Brief. 
13 Appellant Obed Ruzindana’s Motion for Extension of Time-Limit to File Respondent’s Brief - Rules 112 and 113 
of the Rules, 17 May 2000. 
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2 May 2000. On 22 May 2000, Kayishema filed a similar motion.14 By an order of 26 May 2000 

on the motions for extension of time-limits filed by Kayishema and Ruzindana, the pre-hearing 

judge modified his order of 11 April 2000 and directed the Appellants to file their Respondent’s 

briefs by 23 June 2000 and their briefs in reply by 7 July 2000. 

10. On 8 June 2000, Kayishema sought extension of the time-limit for filing his 

Respondent’s briefs arguing that he had not yet been served with the Prosecution’s Appellant’s 

brief in French.15 On 19 June 2000, Ruzindana sought extension of the time-limits to file his 

Reply to the Prosecutor’s Respondent’s Brief, on the grounds that he had not yet received the 

French version of said brief.16 By an order of 4 July 2000, the pre-hearing judge denied the said 

motion. 

11. On 6 July 2000, Kayishema filed a motion17 for leave to supplement his submissions of 

23 June 2000 in response to the Prosecution’s Appellant’s brief. By a decision of 17 July 200018, 

the pre-hearing judge, ruling on Kayishema’s motions of 8 June 2000 and 6 July 2000, granted 

him leave to supplement his provisional Respondent’s brief to the Prosecution’s Appellant brief19 

within 30 days of the filing of the French translation of the Prosecution’s submissions. 

12. On 27 July 2000, Kayishema filed a motion20 seeking extension of time-limits, on the one 

hand, until 20 September 2000 on grounds of illness, to enable him to participate in his defence 

and, on the other hand, until 20 October 2000, to enable him to file his supplementary brief in 

response to the Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief. In his decision of 4 August 200021 on 

Kayishema’s Motion of 27 July 2000, the pre-hearing judge ordered the Appellant to, on the one 

hand, submit within seven days, a medical certificate attesting to his inability to instruct counsel 

                                                 
14 Appellant Clément Kayishema’s Motion for Extension of the Time-Limit to file Respondent’s Brief - Rules 112 
and 113 of the Rules. 
15 Appellant Clément Kayishema’s Motion for Extension of Time-Limits (Rule 116 of the RPE) to file Appellant’s 
Brief (Rule 112 of the RPE). 
16 Appellant Obed Ruzindana’s Motion for Extension of time-limit to File his Brief in Reply – Rule 113 and 116 of 
the Rules. 
17 Clément Kayishema’s Motion for Leave to File a Supplementary Respondent’s Brief to the Prosecutor’s Principal 
Brief.  
18 “Order (Clément Kayishema’s Motion to Extend Time-limit)”. 
19 Kayishema’s Brief in Response to the Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief in relation to the Judgement rendered on 
21 May 1999 by the Tribunal. 
20 Consolidated Motion by Clément Kayishema Seeking an Extension of Time to Prepare His Defence. 
21 Decision (Kayishema’s Motions for Extension of Time to File Briefs). 
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until 20 September 2000, and, on the other hand, directed the Registrar to ensure that the French 

translation of the Prosecutor’s Motion in Response was filed by 20 September 2000. 

13. On 31 July 2000, the Prosecutor filed a motion22 requesting that the Appeals Chamber 

direct the Registrar to consider that the Prosecution had filed its brief in response to Kayishema’s 

Appeal brief in time, that is on 15 June 2000, pursuant to the Order of 26 May 2000 or, 

alternatively, to issue, under Rule 116 of the Rules, an order validating the Brief in Response that 

had been filed on 24 July 2000. On 27 September 2000, the pre-hearing judge, ruling on the 

Prosecution Motion of 31 July 2000, granted an extension of time-limits for filing the Brief in 

Response of 24 July 2000 and ordered confirmation of the filing of said brief on the date it was 

filed with the Registry.23 

14. On 3 August 2000, Ruzindana, in his Response24 to Kayishema’s motion of 26 July 2000 

(filed on 27 July 2000), also sought an extension of time-limits until 5 October 2000 in order to 

file an additional brief in reply to the Prosecutor’s Brief. On 12 September 2000, the pre-hearing 

judge denied Ruzindana’s motion.25 

15. On 11 August 2000, Kayishema filed a medical certificate pursuant to the pre-hearing 

judge’s order of 4 August 2000. On 11 September 2000, with Kayishema having filed his 

medical certificate, the pre-hearing judge modified his order of 31 July 2000, so that Kayishema 

might file his Reply to the Prosecutor’s response by 22 September 2000.26 

16. On 14 September 2000, Kayishema filed a motion27 seeking service of the French 

translation of the pre-hearing judge’s order of 11 September 2000 and a one-month extension of 

time-limits, from the date of service of the order, for filing a supplement to his Response to the 

Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief and his Rejoinder. 

                                                 
22 Prosecution Motion on the Filing of the Prosecution’s Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief of Clément 
Kayishema). 
23 Order (Prosecution Motion on the Filing of the Prosecution’s Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief of Clément 
Kayishema). 
24 Response of Appellant Obed Ruzindana to the Consolidated Motion by Clément Kayishema filed on 26 July 2000, 
and Motion to the same effect. 
25 Decision (Ruzindana’s Motion to Supplement his Brief in Reply). 
26 Order (Kayishema’s Motion to Present Additional Evidence). 
27 Kayishema’s Motion Seeking a Response to his Motion of 29 May 2000 and Extension of Time-Limits to Prepare 
his Defence - following the Order of the pre-hearing judge of 11 September 2000. 
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17. In its decision of 26 September 2000,28 the Appeals Chamber dismissed Ruzindana’s 

motion of 8 May 2000 and Kayishema’s motion of 29 May 2000. However, the Appeals 

Chamber granted Kayishema’s motion of 14 September 2000 subject to the amendments 

mandated by the Order of 4 August 2000. Thus, Kayishema was granted an extension of time 

until 2 October and 5 October to supplement and file his briefs. 

2.  Motions for leave to present new evidence 

18. On 4 and 12 October 1999, Kayishema filed two identical motions29 seeking leave for his 

counsel to meet with Jean Kambanda. A similar motion30 was filed by Ruzindana on 

7 October 1999. By a decision of 14 December 1999,31 the Chamber ruled on the motions filed 

by Kayishema and Ruzindana for leave to meet with Kambanda and for extension of time. It 

denied the request to meet Kambanda and ordered the parties to file their briefs within 90 days of 

receipt of the Addendum to the certified trial record. 

19. On 8 May 2000, Ruzindana sought leave to present additional evidence, including a 

testimony and a copy of the transcripts of the hearings of 24 and 25 February 1999 and 

4 May 1999 in The Prosecutor v. Alfred Musema, ICTR-96-13-T.32 On 29 May 2000, Kayishema 

filed a motion for leave to present additional evidence including documents and testimonies.33 

By an order dated 2 June 2000,34 the pre-hearing judge ordered the Prosecutor to respond to the 

Motions filed by Kayishema and Ruzindana to present additional evidence by 2 June 2000. In its 

decision of 26 September 2000,35 the Appeals Chamber dismissed both motions on the grounds 

that the applicants had failed to exercise due diligence to produce the proposed witnesses or that 

it was in the interest of justice to admit the documents submitted. 

                                                 
28 Decision (Appellant’s Motions for Leave to present Additional Evidence on Appeal). 
29 Motion before the Appeals Chamber for the organisation of Clément Kayishema’s defence following the 
Prosecutor’s refusal to authorise the Defence to interview Kambanda, 4 October 2000; Motion to the Appeals 
Chamber for the organisation of the Clément Kayishema’s Defence, in appeal against two decisions of the 
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, 12 October 1999.  
30 Motion for the Organisation of Ruzindana’s Defence. 
31 Decision (Appellants’ Motions for Extension of Time-Limits and for a Visit with Another Prisoner). 
32 Appellant Obed Ruzindana’s Motion for Leave to Present Additional Evidence on Appeal - Rule 115 of the Rules. 
33 Brief to Present Additional Evidence Before the Appeals Chamber (Rule 115 of the RPE). 
34 Order (Re: Motions to Present Additional Evidence). 
35 Decision (Appellants’ Motions for Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal). 
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20. On 29 May 2000, Kayishema sought disclosure of the Memorandum36 prepared by a 

former investigator with the Office of the Prosecutor, Mr. Hourigan, on the 1994 genocide in 

Rwanda, which Memorandum had been disclosed to the Prosecutor by the Tribunal. By a 

decision rendered on 27 July 200037, the Appeals Chamber ordered disclosure of the said 

Memorandum to Kayishema. On 3 August 2000, Kayishema filed a second motion38 seeking 

from the Appeals Chamber leave to include Mr. Hourigan’s Memorandum into the record on 

appeal and that Mr. Hourigan and former Prosecutor Louise Arbour be called to testify before the 

Chamber with regard to the Memorandum. On 29 September 2000, the Appeals Chamber denied 

Kayishema’s motion on the grounds that the content of the Memorandum had no bearing on the 

issues relating to genocide which were before the Trial Chamber for determination and that, 

moreover, the interests of justice did not require that the two proposed witnesses39 be heard. 

3.  Filings by the parties 

21. On 20 October 1999, Ruzindana filed his Appellant’s Brief.40 On 19 January 2000, 

Kayishema filed his Appellant’s Brief with the Registry. 

22. Ruzindana and Kayishema filed, on 28 and 29 March 2000 respectively, motions for an 

order that the Prosecution’s appeal is inadmissible and time-barred. (See Prosecution time-bar). 

23. The Prosecution’s Appeal Brief41 was filed with the Registry on 2 May 2000. In its brief, 

the Prosecution decided against proceeding with the fourth ground of appeal included in its 

Notice of Appeal.42 The “Prosecution’s Appeal Brief against sentence43 imposed on Obed 

Ruzindana” was filed on the same date. 

                                                 
36 Motions for Disclosure of the United Nations Memorandum Prepared by Mr. Hourigan on the 1994 Genocide in 
Rwanda filed with the Tribunal (Rule 73 of the RPE). 
37 Decision (Motion for Disclosure of the United Nations Memorandum Prepared by Mr. Hourigan on the 1994 
Genocide in Rwanda). 
38 Second Motion to Present Additional Evidence (Rule 115 of the RPE) from the Memorandum prepared by 
Mr. Hourigan. 
39 Decision (Second Motion of C. Kayishema for Presentation of Additional Evidence from the Memorandum 
Prepared by Mr. Hourigan). 
40 Defence Brief – under Rule 111 of the Rules. 
41 Prosecution’s Appeal Brief. 
42 Prosecution’s Appeal: 
Appeal on the Merits: The Prosecutor submits the following: 

(i) The Trial Chamber erred in law in finding Clement Kayishema not guilty of Counts 2,3,8,9,14,15,20 
and 21 and Obed Ruzindana not guilty of Counts 20 and 21 on the basis that genocide and crimes 
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24. On 26 May 2000, Ruzindana filed his Brief44 in response to the Prosecution’s Brief 

against the sentence imposed on the Accused. On 10 July 2000, the Prosecutor filed a reply45 to 

Ruzindana’s Respondent’s Brief on the sentence imposed on him. 

25. On 14 June 2000, the Prosecution filed with the Registry its Respondent’s Brief46 to 

Ruzindana’s Appeal Brief. 

26. On 23 June 2000, Kayishema filed his Brief in response47 to the Prosecutor’s Appeal 

Brief. On the same date, the Registry received Ruzindana’s Brief48 in response to the 

Prosecutor’s Appeal Brief. On 7 July 2000, Ruzindana filed a provisional Brief in reply to the 

Prosecutor’s Respondent’s Brief. 

27. On 10 July 2000, the Registry received Kayishema’s reply49 to the Prosecutor’s 

Response50 to his Appellant’s Brief. As of that date, the Prosecutor’s Respondent’s brief was not 

yet filed. 

                                                                                                                                                                           
against humanity were cumulative charges for which they could not be held responsible on the same 
facts. 

(ii) The Trial Chamber erred in law in applying the test delineated in paragraph 110 of the Summary of 
Judgement, which appears to require the Prosecutor to show a nexus between the alleged crimes and the 
armed conflict and a direct link between the accused and the armed forces. 

(iii) The Trial Chamber erred in law in paragraph 111 of the Summary of Judgement in finding that it had 
not been proved that the actions of the accused were directly connected with the military operations or 
with victims of the armed conflict, and that it had not been proved that there was a direct link between 
the accused the armed forces. 

Appeal against the sentence imposed on Ruzindana 
(iv) The Trial Chamber committed an error of law in failing to impose the maximum sentence possible for 

genocide, that is imprisonment for the remainder of life. 
(v) The Trial Chamber committed an error of law in comparing the criminal responsibility of Kayishema 

and Ruzindana and in finding that Kayishema should receive a more severe punishment. 
(vi) The Trial Chamber committed an error of fact in finding that Kayishema was more culpable than 

Ruzindana. 
43 Prosecution’s Appeal Brief Against Sentence Imposed on Obed Ruzindana. 
44 Brief of the Appellant Obed Ruzindana in Response to the Prosecution’s Appeal Brief on the Sentence imposed on 
the Accused. 
45 Prosecution’s Brief in Reply to Obed Ruzindana’s Brief in Response to the Prosecutor ‘s Appeal Brief (Rule 112 
of the Rules). 
46 Prosecution’s Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief of Obed Ruzindana. 
47 Brief in Response by Clément Kayishema to the Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief in relation to the Judgement 
rendered on 21 May 1999 by the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda (Rule 112 of the Rules of Procedure and 
Evidence). 
48 Defence Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief of the Prosecutor (Rule 112 of the Rules). 
49 Exceptional and Provisional Brief in Reply by the Appellant, Clément Kayishema, (Rule 113 of the Rules) in the 
Absence of the Prosecutor’s Brief in Response (Rule 113 of the RPE). 
50 Prosecution’s Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief of Clément Kayishema. 
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28. On 24 July 2000, the Prosecution filed with the Registry its Brief in response to 

Kayishema’s Appellant’s Brief. 

29. On 27 September 2000, Kayishema filed a definitive Respondent’s Brief51 to the 

Prosecution’s Appeal brief. On 6 October 2000, Kayishema filed his Definitive Reply52 to the 

Prosecution’s Brief in Response. 

30. On 12 October 2000, the Prosecution filed its Brief in reply53 to Kayishema’s Final 

Respondent’s Brief. 

4.  Hearing on Appeal 

31. On 28 September 2000, the pre-hearing judge issued an order54 scheduling the hearing on 

appeal for 30 and 31 October 2000. 

                                                 
51 Clément Kayishema’s Definitive Respondent’s Brief to the Prosecution Appeal Brief on the Judgement rendered 
on 21 May 1999 by the International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda. 
52 DEFINITIVE REPLY of Clément Kayishema to the Prosecution’s Response of 15 July 2000 to the Defence’s 
Appellant’s Brief filed on 19 January 2000. 
53 Prosecution’s Brief in Reply to the Definitive Respondent’s Brief of Clément Kayishema filed on 
27 September 2000. 
54 Order (Hearing on Appeal). 
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ANNEXE B 
 

GLOSSARY 
 

A.  Filings 
 

1.  Clément Kayishema’s Appeal 
 
 
Kayishema’s Notice of Appeal Notice of Appeal by Clément Kayishema against 

the two Judgements – the Verdict and the 
Sentence Rendered Against Him on 21 May 1999 
by the International Criminal Tribunal for 
Rwanda, filed on 18 June 1999 

  
Kayishema’s Brief Appellant’s Brief in Relation to the Judgement 

against Clément Kayishema rendered on 21 May 
1999 by the International Criminal Tribunal for 
Rwanda (Rule 111 of the Rules of Procedure and 
Evidence), filed on 24 January 2000 

  
Prosecution’s Response to Kayishema Prosecution’s Brief in Response to the Appeal 

Brief of Clément Kayishema, filed on 
24 July 2000 

  
Kayishema’s Provisional Response Exceptional and Provisional Brief in Reply by the 

Appellant Clément Kayishema, in the Absence of 
the Prosecutor’s Brief in Response (Rule 113 of 
the Rules of Procedure and Evidence), filed on 10 
July 2000  

  
Kayishema’s Definitive Reply Final Brief in Reply (Rule 113 of the Rules of 

Procedure and Evidence) by Clément Kayishema 
to the Prosecutor’s Response of 15 July 2000 to 
the Defence’s Appellant’s Brief dated 19 January 
2000, filed on 6 October 2000 

  
Kayishema’s Motion seeking time-bar Motion Seeking a Ruling that the Prosecutor’s 

Appeal dated 18 June 1999 from the Judgement 
rendered against Clément Kayishema on 21 May 
1999 is Time-Barred, filed on 29 March 2000 

  
2.  Obed Ruzindana’s Appeal 

  
Ruzindana’s Notice of Appeal Notice of Appeal, filed on 24 June 1999 
  
Ruzindana’s Brief Defence Brief under Rule 111 of the Rules of 

Procedure and Evidence, filed on 20 October 1999 
  
Prosecution’s Brief in response to Prosecutor’s Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief 
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Ruzindana of Obed Ruzindana, filed on 14 June 2000 
  
Ruzindana’s Brief in Reply Provisional Brief in Reply, filed on 7 July 2000 
  
 
Ruzindana’s Motion seeking time-bar Motion Filed by the Appellant Obed Ruzindana 

for Inadmissibility of the Prosecutor’s Appeal, 
filed on 28 March 2000  

 
 

3.  Prosecution’s Appeal 
 

(a)  Prosecution’s First Appeal 
 
Prosecution’s Notice of Appeal Notice of Appeal (Article 24 of the Statute and 

Rule 108 of the Rules), filed on 18 June 1999 
  
Prosecution’s Brief Prosecution’s Appeal Brief, filed on 2 May 2000 
  
Kayishema’s Provisional Response Brief in Response by Clément Kayishema to the 

Prosecutor’s Appellant’s Brief in relation to the 
Judgement rendered on 21 May 1999 by the 
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda 
(Rule 112 of the Rules of Procedure and 
Evidence), filed on 23 June 2000 

  
Kayishema’s Definitive Respondent’s Brief Clément Kayishema’s Definitive Respondent’s 

Brief to the Prosecution Appeal Brief on the 
Judgement rendered on 21 May 1999 by the 
International Criminal Tribunal for Rwanda, 
filed on 27 September 2000 

  
Ruzindana’s Response Defence Brief in Response to the Appeal Brief 

of the Prosecutor (Rule 112 of the Rules), filed 
on 23 June 2001 

  
Prosecution’s Brief in Reply to Obed 
Ruzindana 

Prosecution’s Brief in Reply to Obed 
Ruzindana’s Brief in response to the 
Prosecutor’s Appeal Brief (Rule 112 of the 
Rules), filed on 10 July 2000 

  
 
 

 

(b)  Prosecution’s Second Appeal 
  
Notice of Appeal Against Ruzindana’s 
Sentence 

Notice of Appeal of Sentence of Obed 
Ruzindana (Article 24 of the Statute and 
Rule 108 of the Rules), filed on 18 June 1999 
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Prosecution’s Brief Against Sentence Prosecutor’s Appeal Brief against Sentence 

Imposed on Obed Ruzindana, filed on 
2 May 2000 

  
Ruzindana’s Response (Sentence) Brief of the Appellant Obed Ruzindana in 

Response to Prosecutor’s Brief on the Sentence 
Imposed on the Accused, filed on 26 May 2000 

  
Prosecution’s Reply (Ruzindana’s  
Sentence) 

Prosecution’s Brief in Reply to the Respondent’s 
Brief Against Sentence Imposed on Obed 
Ruzindana, filed on 7 July 2000 

  
B.  References Related to this Case 

  
Hearing on appeal Hearing of the oral arguments, 30 and 31 

October 2000 
  
Trial Chamber Trial Chamber II of the International Tribunal  
  
Appeals Chamber The Appeals Chamber of the International 

Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons 
Responsible for Genocide and other Serious 
Violations of International Humanitarian Law 
Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and 
Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and 
Other Such Violations Committed in the 
Territory of Neighbouring States, between 1 
January 1994 and 31 December 1994 

  
T Transcript of hearing in The Prosecutor v. 

Clément Kayishema and Obed Ruzindana, Case 
No. ICTR-95-1-T. The page numbers of the 
transcripts of the hearing referred to in this 
Judgement are those of the unofficial, unrevised 
English version. There may therefore be 
differences in page numbering between this 
document and the final English version. 

  
T(A) Transcript of hearing on appeal held in Arusha 

(30 and 31 October 2000). The page numbers of 
transcripts of the hearing referred to in this 
document are those of the unofficial, unrevised 
English version. Therefore, there may be 
differences in page numbering between this 
document and the final English version. 

  
Kayishema Clément Kayishema 
  
Trial Judgement The Prosecutor v. Clément Kayishema and Obed 
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Ruzindana, Case No. ICTR-95-1-T, Judgement, 
21 May 1999 (Trial Chamber) 

  
Trial Judgement (Sentence) Sentencing Judgement of 21 May 1999 
  
Prosecution Office of the Prosecutor 
  
Ruzindana Obed Ruzindana 
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